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Group management report
Situation of the Group

Governance Structure

Business model of the Group
Situation
Flughafen München GmbH (FMG) is headquartered in Munich. As
the parent company of the Munich Airport Group [Munich Airport]
it is the operator of Munich’s commercial airport.
Munich Airport is active via the business units Aviation, Commercial Activities, Real Estate and Participations, and Services &
External Business. The service profile of the Group covers
virtually all the services available on the airport campus – from
air travel including passenger and cargo handling through to
retailing, hotels and catering services. This integrated business
model and depth of added value sets Munich Airport apart from
its European competitors.
Munich Airport is committed to a corporate policy of sustainability.
The orientation towards economic, environmental, and social
goals ensures public acceptance of the airport and consequently
the viability of its business model.

Shareholders
Bavaria
51%

Bavaria
4 seats and
chairmanship

Munich
23%

Employees of Munich Airport Group

FRG
2 seats

Delegates

Munich
2 seats

Employees
5 seats

Trade unions
2 seats

Management-level
employees
1 seat

Supervisory Board
Proposals committee

Working committee

HR committee

Executive Board

The owners of FMG are the Free State of Bavaria with 51.0 percent, the Federal Republic of Germany with 26.0 percent, and the
City of Munich with 23.0 percent.
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FRG
26%

Employees

Shareholders General Meeting

Main features of management and control Fig. 1

The shareholders’ general meeting is the highest monitoring and
decision-making body. It decides unanimously on the Group’s
business fundamentals, including such matters as airport
expansion and borrowing. On all other issues, resolutions are
adopted by a simple majority.

Fig. 1

Supervisory Board
FMG has a Supervisory Board, as specified in Article 1 (1), (6)
of the German Co-Determination Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz
– MitbestG). The Supervisory Board exercises monitoring and
co-determination rights. It appoints members of the Executive
Board and determines their remuneration. Transactions exceeding certain thresholds and terms require Supervisory Board

approval. The employees’ representatives in the Supervisory
Board are elected for a five-year term by the Group employees.
The shareholders’ representatives are elected by the shareholders’
general meeting. Their term in office ends with the shareholders’
general meeting that resolves on the formal discharge of the
members for the fourth fiscal year after the start of their term
in office.
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The Supervisory Board has appointed a proposals committee,
a working committee, and an HR committee. The proposals
committee, working committee, and the HR committee were
entrusted with the following tasks, inter alia: Fig. 2

Committees in the Supervisory Board
Proposals committee

∫∫ Right of proposal for the appointment of a member of the Executive Board in the event that
voting in the Supervisory Board does not achieve the requisite two thirds majority for the
member of the Executive Board to be appointed in the first ballot

Working committee

∫∫ Statement on the resolutions proposed by the Executive Board
∫∫ Approval of certain legal transactions that exceed set maximum monetary values and terms

HR committee

∫∫ Designing the contracts of the chief executive officer (with the exception of remuneration),
general representatives, and authorized representatives
∫∫ Consent to the setting and amendment of the rules governing remuneration in the area of
the Group not governed by collective wage agreements, to the setting or amendment of the
salary level of certain employees above a set salary level or level of remuneration as well as
to commitments to an occupational pension, including the company pension scheme

Executive Board
The Executive Board of FMG’s term of office is normally five years;
reappointment or extension of the term in office is permissible.
It comprises three members and is responsible for the Group’s
corporate policy and strategic focus. It determines the budget
and monitors business developments.
The executive officers of FMG receive a fixed (salary) and a performance-related remuneration including short and medium-
term incentives (bonus). The bonus is primarily linked to the
consolidated profit before taxes.

Female quota
In the context of ensuring equal participation of women and men,
the Supervisory Board and Executive Board of the parent company FMG stipulates targets and deadlines for the proportion of
women in the Supervisory Board, Executive Board, and on the
first two management levels.
A target of 31 percent was stipulated for the proportion of
women on the Supervisory Board by June 30, 2020.
The proportion of women in the Executive Board is currently
33 percent, and is to be retained at this value until June 30, 2020.
The Executive Board of FMG has defined a target of 19 percent by
June 30, 2020 for the proportion of women at the first management level. For the second management level, the target value
of 29 percent is to be retained.
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Business activities
Organizational structure
The Group’s organizational structure is divided into the business
divisions, service divisions, and corporate divisions of FMG.
Commercial management and the internal reporting system
are based on the business units. The business units shown in
the figure comprise the business and service divisions of FMG
and the Group companies integrated in the business units. The
business units are explained in the following sections. Fig. 3
There have been no fundamental changes to the legal and
organizational structure in the 2018 fiscal year, compared to the
previous year. There have been no material increases or reductions in shares. A detailed overview of the ownership structure is
included in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

On February 20, 2018, LabCampus GmbH (hereinafter
LabCampus) was established as a wholly owned subsidiary of
FMG. The purpose of the company is to build, market, and operate buildings and infrastructure on the area of the LabCampus.
Flughafen München Realisierungsgesellschaft mbH (hereinafter
MUCreal) was established on July 17, 2018 as a wholly owned
subsidiary of FMG. The purpose of the company is business activity conducted on instructions for the planning and realization of
infrastructure and expansion projects as well as the construction
of buildings in conjunction with the operation of Munich Airport.
In total, the Group comprises 14 fully consolidated companies,
one associate, and four companies that are not consolidated.
These are directed by Corporate Controlling and Investment
Management in line with the business division strategy assigned
in each case.
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Organizational structure of Munich Airport

Fig. 3

Executive Board
Aviation

Commercial Activities

Real Estate

Participations, Services & External
Business

Aviation

Commercial Activities

Real Estate

Service Divisions

Commercial Activities

Real Estate

Service Divisions

Allresto GmbH (100%)
Catering and hotel

MAC KG i.L. (94.9%)
Real estate financing

eurotrade GmbH (100%)
Retail Trade

LabCampus GmbH (100%)
Construction and marketing of real estate

Corporate & Elimination

Corporate Controlling
and Investment
Management

Miscellaneous

Terminal 2 oHG (60%)
Terminal Operations
Aviation

MUCreal GmbH (100%)
Client representation

AeroGround GmbH
(100%)²)
Ground handling

FM Bau GmbH
(60%)
Client representation

aerogate GmbH
(100%)
Passenger
handling

InfoGate GmbH
(100%)
Information

Cargogate GmbH
(100%)
Cargo handling

MAI GmbH
(100%)
International
consultancy business

EFM GmbH
(49%)
De-icing and aircraft
towing
CAP GmbH
(100%)
Security

MediCare GmbH
(51%)¹)
Medical services

FMV GmbH
(100%)
Insurance
brokering

Parken GmbH
(16.7%)
Parking space
rental

Business unit

Company

Division

¹) MediCare Flughafen München Medizinisches Zentrum GmbH has a 100% equity interest in Munich AirportClinic GmbH.
²) AeroGround Flughafen München GmbH has a 100% equity interest in AeroGround Berlin GmbH.
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Business units
Business units

∫∫ Infrastructure at the limit of capacity
∫∫ Wide variety of first-class services and offerings along
passenger routes
∫∫ Highly attractive real estate location
∫∫ Participations: Full service provider for the airlines
∫∫ Services: Energy and telecommunications for all airport tenants

Aviation business unit
The Aviation business unit covers the operation of Munich
Airport’s air traffic infrastructure.
The following airport charges are levied for the provision and
operation of the air traffic facilities: Fig. 4

Air traffic charges

Fig. 4

Assessment basis
Take-off and landing
charge

Maximum take-off mass of the aircraft
(MTOM) on take-off and landing

Noise-bowed charge

Fixed amount per landing depending on the
noise category

Emission-bowed charge Nitrogen oxide equivalent emitted per landing
Passenger charge

Number of passengers on take-off

Cargo charge

Number of workload units on take-off/landing

Parking charge

Maximum take-off mass (for every started
period of 24 hours, from the fourth hour)

Security charge

Number of passengers and/or workload units
on take-off

Fee for passengers
with reduced mobility
(PRM fee)

Number of passengers on take-off

De-icing charge

Number of passengers and/or workload units
on take-off

Waste disposal charge

Number of passengers on take-off
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In fiscal year 2014, Munich Airport agreed a master agreement
on charges with uniform terms and conditions for all airlines,
which sets the future trend of air traffic charges until 2020 and
consequently ensures funding for infrastructure. On average
charges rise by around 2 percent per year.
Currently, Munich Airport has two runways with a maximum
capacity of 90 aircraft movements per hour during daytime
operations. In principle, this capacity is fully utilized over large
parts of the day. Market-appropriate traffic development is
hardly possible anymore, as many requests from airlines cannot
be satisfied. This fact has been confirmed again by the airport
coordinator of the Federal Republic of Germany charged with
assigning the landing and take-off times (slots). Between
10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m., flights are very limited and confined
solely to exceptionally quiet aircraft. Scheduled and charter
traffic is restricted to 28 planned aircraft movements per night.
The restrictions may also be relaxed for homebase airlines
and delayed flights. In the period between 12:00 midnight and
5:00 a.m., only night mail and survey flights by German air traffic
control are permitted. Other exceptions to the curfew include,
for example, emergency and medical aid flights, landings
required for reasons of air safety as well as flights approved by
the Bavarian Ministry of Housing, Building and Transport as the
responsible authority in justified exception cases.
The improvements made and extensions built at the terminal
over the past number of years, particularly the construction of
the satellite building at Terminal 2 and the extensions to the
identity check areas have further enhanced the efficiency of
handling.

Through its central location in Europe, at the heart of one of the
most economically successful regions, Munich Airport is ideally
positioned in strategic terms. The region around the airport is
distinguished not only by above average economic development
but also by constant growth in the population and people in
employment. This is also why Munich Airport is the German
airport with the highest proportion of business travelers and
is consequently predestined for especially valuable scheduled
connections. At the same time, population growth and rising
prosperity are also leading to increased demand for private
flights from Munich Airport.
Collaborative work with Deutsche Lufthansa AG (hereinafter
Deutsche Lufthansa) has helped Munich Airport become a major
international air traffic hub. Joint extension projects, such as
Terminal 2 and the satellite building, form the basis for a sustainable partnership that ensures long-term growth, secures global
connections for Munich and Bavaria as business locations, and
satisfies the continuous growth in demand for air travel with a
high quality offering.
Thanks to its excellent market position and successful cooperation with Deutsche Lufthansa, Munich Airport has the densest
network of continental connections in Europe, measured on the
basis of the number of flight destinations. Highly frequented
transfer connections ensure an optimal connection of the
Bavarian business hub to Europe and the world. The combination of a dense network of German domestic and European
links and a strong local demand makes it possible to offer an
attractive portfolio of long-haul flights from Munich. Due to the
attractiveness of the location as a tourism destination as well as
the growing catchment area with an affluent population, Munich
Airport is becoming increasingly interesting for point-to-point
connections. This is evidenced, inter alia, by the increasing
number of low-cost airlines trying to establish a base in Munich.
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The positive growth scenarios for Munich Airport are being
impeded by the bottleneck in the runway system. In addition, the
lack of traffic rights and still ongoing traffic right negotiations are
slowing the development of traffic, to Africa (Ethiopia) and China,
for example. The departure of Great Britain from the European
Union (Brexit) could also have an impact on the aviation market
and the entry requirements. The German aviation tax continues
to be an additional obstacle to market-appropriate growth.
Cargo handling too is heavily dependent on the development
of passenger traffic and the capacities of the runway system.
Because the largest share of airfreight at the location – over
80 percent – is transported as bellyhold cargo on normal longhaul flights. Pure freight flights are a little more flexible in terms
of their flight times than passenger airlines. Freight airlines are
however increasingly dependent on night flights, which are only
possible in Munich in exceptional situations due to the strict
night-flight curfew.

Commercial Activities business unit
The Commercial Activities business unit is responsible for
developing, marketing, and managing space throughout Munich
Airport that may be used for commercial purposes. This includes
both strategic planning of the sector mix with regard to the
retailing, service, and catering space as well as the issue of
leases and concessions to third parties and Group companies.
Munich Airport has around 21,000 square meters of catering
space and approximately 25,600 square meters of space dedicated to retailers and service providers. There were changes with
respect to the previous year due to the closure and re-opening
of individual units as well as renovations to existing units. FMG’s
subsidiaries operate their own retail or catering businesses on
around 63 percent of the total area.

This business unit also develops and markets demand-oriented
parking capacity. At present, there are around 36,000 parking
spaces, of which 27,000 are in multi-story or underground car
parks, and around 9,000 spaces are on paved and unpaved car
parks.

The demand for living space in the airport region is growing constantly. For this reason, Munich Airport has developed strategies
to support new employees in finding accommodation. The aim
is to provide fixed-term, furnished accommodation within easy
reach of Munich Airport.

Commercial Activities markets the advertising media and spaces
at the airport as well. The offer of what is known as out-of-home
advertising at Munich Airport features high-profile advertising
spaces with little wastage, tailored to clients’ individual
requirements.

Participations, Services & External Business
business unit
The Group’s other companies complete the airport’s business.
The most significant subsidiaries are: Fig. 5

Significant subsidiaries

Fig. 5

The business unit’s service portfolio also includes the events
business.
AeroGround

The companies provide landside and airside handling
services for airline passengers, including ground
handling services and passenger care, at the Munich
and Berlin locations.

aerogate

The company offers passenger handling services, operation services with ramp supervision, ticketing services
as well as Lost & Found services with a baggage
delivery service and arrivals service at Munich Airport.
The range is completed by general aviation services
and consultancy and training services.

Cargogate

As a regulated agent, the company carries out services
in relation to the throughput of airfreight and dealing
with the associated customs formalities. The company
packs and stores the airfreight in a hall area of
circa 20,000 square meters as well as handling the
documents involved. Cargogate also offers handling
services for all common special goods, such as hazardous substances, refrigerated goods, and valuable
goods. Since September 2018, Cargogate is the only
airfreight handler on the campus certified according to
the Pharma Good Distribution Practice (GDP).

MAI

In addition to the traditional relocation and commissioning services, the company’s portfolio also includes
the provision of management and terminal operation
services at airports in other parts of the world.

Real Estate business unit
The Real Estate business unit develops, operates, and markets
all real estate and property owned by Munich Airport, both on
and off-campus. The real estate location is divided into location-
specific areas, which are marketed under the AirSite concept.
Munich Airport has a lot to offer as a real estate location: an
attractive environment, good road connections, very good
parking, and a comprehensive range of goods and services for
daily needs. The existing rail traffic access has significantly
improved as a result of the addition of the Neufahrner Kurve.
The cross-regional airport express has established a direct rail
link between Munich Airport and eastern Bavaria (Regensburg
and Landshut). The rail access in the direction of Erding is to be
expanded in the future via the Erdinger Ringschluss.
In keeping with the high expectations of the entire site, a vibrant,
distinctive urban development concept, which will provide the
basis for excellent leisure amenities and a successful business
environment, is currently being developed.

Commercial Activities is also responsible for the five-star hotel
in Munich airport’s central area. It has 551 rooms and 30 conference rooms.

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018
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Besides the business units and subsidiaries, Munich Airport’s
service divisions are also involved in external sales. The largest
contribution comes from the following service divisions: Fig. 6

Significant service divisions

Fig. 6

Technology

The service division is responsible for the secure,
cost-effective, and technical operation of airport infrastructure. Among other things, this includes the supply
of energy and heating/refrigeration, maintenance of
buildings and airport specific equipment as well as
vehicle management for series vehicles and handling
equipment. This division also plays a significant role in
implementing Munich Airport’s CO₂ strategy as part of
its energy management.

IT

The IT service division offers its customers at Munich
Airport various services from the fields of media and
communications technology, workplace IT equipment
as well as server, database, and storage system
technology. The core competencies of the division lie
predominantly in the integration of various technical
IT platforms and in the creation of tailor-made support
services for logistical processes at Munich Airport.

In total less than 5 percent of the Group’s external sales are
accounted for by activities in the Participations, Services &
External Business business unit (excluding ground handling
services). Therefore, the economic development of this business
unit is not explained in detail. In contrast to this, the developments in handling services within the Group have been included
in the passages covering aviation.
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Control system and values management

Passenger Experience Index (PEI)

Munich Airport measures the performance of its managers using
financial and non-financial indicators. The most important of
these are the indicators that measure corporate sustainability
and quality. Accordingly, the perception of traditional sustainability management is governed economically by earnings
before taxes (EBT) and ecologically by CO₂ reductions. With the
Passenger Experience Index (PEI), Munich Airport determines
whether quality goals, which envisage the enhancement of customer satisfaction as a strategic approach, have been achieved.
Every year, FMG surveys internal and external interest groups to
determine and regularly affirm the relevance of the performance
indicators for stakeholders.

The PEI is a customer satisfaction measurement model that
allows Munich Airport to derive location-specific targets adjusted
to the needs of target groups and assign the fields of action
to improve service to existing customer contact points. In the
interests of objectivity, an independent, external service provider
determines these values. Using questionnaires, it regularly
surveys satisfaction levels among departing and arriving passengers through the entire year. On a monthly basis and at the
year’s end, Munich Airport thus receives a great deal of detailed
information on the satisfaction levels of its air passengers in
eleven categories along the passenger experience chain. As a
target value for 2019, the total satisfaction level of departing
and arriving passengers is taken from the PEI.

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
The earnings targets of management are formulated on the
basis of earnings before taxes (EBT). EBT is the input factor for
determining profitability. It relates to the consolidated profit
before taxes, calculated by applying the International Accounting
Standards in the version adopted into European law by the European Commission.

Innovation and ideas management

CO₂ reductions

Through the analysis of trends and market requirements, innovation management develops targeted innovations for passengers
and customers. The feasibility and cost-effectiveness of innovations is reviewed in pilot projects and subsequently a decision
is made on whether they should be continued, implemented,
and possibly expanded to further areas. In this process, Munich
Airport innovation management cooperates with start-ups and
established companies in the region, but also increasingly with
globally active companies, so that it can always access the latest
scientific and entrepreneurial expertise.

Using the indicator carbon reductions (in tonnes), not only can
the direct reduction of greenhouse gas emissions be measured,
but factors such as the conservation of resources and the efficient use of energy can also be taken into consideration. At the
end of 2016, Munich Airport set itself the new climate protection
goal of ensuring that as of 2030 its airport operations would be
carbon-neutral. At least 60 percent of the emissions are to be
effectively saved, while the remaining 40 percent will be offset
using high-quality compensation measures. Both emissions
caused directly by Munich Airport itself through energy supply
and fuel consumption (Scope 1) and emissions arising from
energy procurement (Scope 2) are factored into the calculation.

The aim of Munich Airport’s innovation management is to
enhance customer satisfaction and customer experience
through new services and products. Since 2017, there has been
an increasing demand for the development of products for the
airport industry.

Further important input for innovation management comes
from the ideas of the company’s own employees. In the year
under review 2018, a total of 604 ideas were submitted via
the in-house open innovation and ideas management system
«InnovationPilot» on topics such as employees, spaces and
buildings, technical plants and vehicles.
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Economic report
Economic environment
∫∫ Economic upturn continues
∫∫ German air traffic registers growth – but falls short
compared with other countries
∫∫ Retail trade – profits from strong economy
∫∫ Catering and hotel business – upswing continues
∫∫ Advertising business – decline in the area of out-of-home
advertising
∫∫ Parking – dependency on the customer structure
∫∫ Office rental market in Munich continues at full steam

Macroeconomic environment
Both national and international economic growth are crucial for
an international air traffic hub such as Munich Airport.
Growth in the global economy in 2018 corresponded largely to
that forecast at the start of the year. Current projections from
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) suggest an increase in
global gross domestic product (GDP) of 3.7 percent¹). The growth
rate in the global economy is thus slightly below the level for the
previous year.
In the emerging markets, the picture was more heterogeneous
compared to the previous year. In the commodity-exporting
countries of Russia and Brazil, the economy continued to
recover from the crises of 2015 and 2016. The increased oil
and commodity prices have lead to the Russian and Brazilian
economies growing by 1.7 percent and 1.3 percent respectively
in 2018. Moreover, the economy of the People’s Republic of China
also continued to perform well. The growth rate for 2018 was
6.6 percent. In contrast, Argentina and Turkey, in particular,
contributed to the fears surrounding global economic growth.
¹) International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook,
January 2019
²) German Council of Economic Experts, Autumn Report 2018,
November 2018
³) IMF, World Economic Outlook, January 2019
Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

In both countries, the economic situation worsened appreciably
in the past year. While economic output grew at a positive rate in
both cases in 2018, their currencies depreciated strongly against
the US dollar and inflation rates were high. Furthermore, the
trade balances of both countries displayed a significant deficit.²)

prices rising comparatively strongly due to the decline in the value
of the British pound sterling, which has lead to a subdued growth
in private consumption. The inflation rate in Great Britain in 2018
was significantly above the inflation target of 2 percent.²) Fig. 7

In industrialized countries, the upturn of recent years continued
for the most part. In the United States, the economy gathered
momentum again, while in Japan and Great Britain the growth
dynamic slowed. The reason for the positive development in the
United States continues to be the strong domestic economic
forces. For example, private consumption and investments in
equipment performed very positively as in the previous year; this
was partly stimulated by fiscal measures (corporate tax reform).
The Japanese economy grew less strongly in 2018 than in the
previous year. The reason for this is primarily the poor performance of exports. Great Britain posted rather restrained growth
of 1.4 percent. The Brexit vote in 2016 has lead to consumer

The upturn in the eurozone continued in 2018, but lost momentum compared to the previous year however. According to
current forecasts from the IMF, the growth rate for 2018 was
1.8 percent.¹) The growth is thus distributed heterogeneously
across the countries of the eurozone. France and Italy posted
comparatively low growth rates, while Spain displayed a significant positive development again. Fig. 8 The unemployment
rate has fallen again in the eurozone and is thus almost back
to the pre-crisis level. The monetary policy of the European
Central Bank remained extraordinarily expansive in 2018 and
thus supported the upturn in the eurozone. The reason for the
waning growth dynamic in the eurozone was the less positive
performance of the most important growth drivers compared to

Economic growth in selected destinations
worldwide

Economic growth in selected destinations
throughout Europe

Fig. 7

Fig. 8

In %

In %
2017

2017

2018

2018
3.0

6.9 6.6

2.5

1.5

1.5 1.7

China

Russia

2.2

GDP growth in 2017 and 2018³)

1.6

1.5

2.9

1.1 1.3

Brazil

2.5

2.3

USA

1.0
1.8

1.4

UK

1.9
0.9
Japan

Germany

France

Spain

Italy

GDP growth in 2017 and 2018³)

Group management report
Economic report

 Economic
environment

9

the previous year. For example, rising inflation (driven primarily
by the increased price of crude oil) curbed the positive development in private consumption, looming trade conflicts deterred
companies from investing and the strong development of the
euro and the weaker growth in foreign demand hampered export
growth.4)

pp Glossary

The Federal Republic of Germany is currently in a phase of strong
economic growth. The upturn which has lasted for nine years
already lost significant momentum in 2018. At 1.5 percent,
growth in GDP in the Federal Republic of Germany in 2018 was
weaker than in the previous year. The reasons for this included
the significant production-side problems in the automotive
industry, less favorable external economic framework conditions
and worsening capacity bottlenecks.4) The ongoing upturn was
supported by private consumption that remained strong as
well as above-average investment in construction and equipment. In contrast, German exports put in a significantly more
restrained performance than in the previous year due to lower
demand from other EU countries and export weaknesses in the
automotive industry associated with the introduction of the new
emissions testing procedure known as the «Worldwide Harmonized Light-Duty Vehicles Test Procedure» (WLTP). The positive
development of consumer spending is sustained by the favorable
situation on the labor market (unemployment rate of 5.2 percent) and rising wage levels. Private consumption, for example,
recorded a growth rate of around 1.1 percent in 2018. In terms
of construction investment, which continues to be driven by low
interest rates, there was a growth rate of 3.2 percent in 2018.
Investments in equipment and in other plant rose by 4.1 percent
)

⁴ G
 erman Council of Economic Experts, Autumn Report 2018,
November 2018
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and 0.4 percent respectively. German exports, however, grew at a
rate of only 2.0 percent. In the previous year, export growth was
still at 4.6 percent. The annual average inflation rate in 2018 was,
at 1.9 percent, still significantly higher than in previous years.⁵)
In the previous year, the oil price (Brent) fluctuated between
USD 45 and 67 per barrel. At the start of October 2018, it
achieved a three-year high at just under USD 86, but finally fell
in December 2018 to around USD 52.⁶)

Economic environment Aviation
According to analyses conducted by the International Air Transport Association (IATA), global air traffic was once again setting
records in 2018. In total, 4.3 billion take-offs in passenger traffic
(+6.1 percent) and a significant increase in sold passenger
kilometers (+6.5 percent) were recorded. With that, the performance was below that of the previous year (+7.3 percent and
+8.0 percent respectively), but still displayed a stable growth
trend. Airfreight also increased by 4.1 percent (freight tonne-
kilometers) and was thus weaker year on year (+9.7 percent).⁷)
The airports that are members of the German Airports Association (ADV) also achieved significantly positive growth rates on
average in 2018. The commercial passenger volume rose overall
by 4.0 percent. Aircraft movements increased by 3.9 percent, and
cargo throughput (total of airmail and freight excluding transit)
was up 1.4 percent. With that, Munich Airport recorded slightly
below-average growth rates in 2018.⁸) Further explanations on
this are included in the section «Aviation business».
⁵) ifo Institute for Economic Research, economic forecast,
December 2018
⁶) onvista website, December 2018
⁷) IATA, 2018 End-Year Report, December 2018

The changes in offering brought about by the insolvency of the
Air Berlin/Niki Group have balanced out, in terms of Munich
Airport, over the course of 2018. With the exception of the connection to Düsseldorf, all of Air Berlin’s former German domestic
routes posted an increase in traffic. Intra-continental traffic was
also up at Munich Airport, quickly compensating for the loss of
Air Berlin’s services in this segment as well.
In the global comparison, measured according to sold passenger
kilometers, the Asia/Pacific region was in first place with growth
of 8.5 percent in 2018, followed by Europe (+6.4 percent) and
Latin America (+6.0 percent). In general, according to initial
estimates from the IATA, the still significant growth rates were
in some cases considerably below the performances for the previous year; only North America, with +5.0 percent, grew stronger
than in the previous year (+3.9 percent). The forecasts for 2019
continue to assume global growth, however the trend will only
strengthen in the Gulf states and in Africa, which will recover
after a poor year in 2018. Latin America will probably remain
stable, Asia, North America, and Europe will register weaker
growth rates.⁷)
According to information from the German Aviation Association
(BDL), the German airlines performed below average compared
with the rest of Europe. While the traffic performance of European airlines (measured in sold passenger kilometers) was
able to keep pace with the global average (+6.5 percent) with
an increase of 6.6 percent, German airlines posted a negative
result of –1.0 percent. The losses due to the insolvency of the
Air Berlin/Niki Group (market share 2017: 10 percent) could not
⁸) ADV, ADV news: Traffic forecast of the ADV for 2019
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be completely compensated for by German airlines in 2018.
These took over only five percent of the Air Berlin/Niki market
share. Four percentage points was distributed between foreign
companies such as easyJet and Ryanair/Laudamotion. Various
other foreign airlines accounted for the remainder. Overall, the
BDL considers the gap in the offering to be closed.⁹)
Compared to the airlines, the passenger airports in Germany
recorded a positive result according to the BDL. Their passenger
figures rose by 4.1 percent, whereby the European and overseas
traffic contributed particularly to growth. Domestic German
traffic posted a slight decline. Across Europe, passenger figures
at the airports grew by 6.2 percent, and were thus slightly above
the global average of 6.0 percent.⁹)
The IATA also pointed to the deficits in the European airspace
infrastructure and determined a rise in the corresponding delay
minutes by 61 percent. Monetary losses resulting from this
were quantified by the IATA at over USD 2.2 billion for airlines
and around USD 2.5 billion for passengers.¹⁰) This assessment is
shared by the BDL: The rising number of take-offs and landings
(+4.0 percent) at German airports, which are controlled by
Deutsche Flugsicherung GmbH (German air traffic control), and
the number of overflights, which have increased by 13 percent
in the past five years, represent a huge challenge for the existing
infrastructure.⁹)
⁹) BDL, Annual balance sheet 2018, February 2019
¹⁰) IATA, 2018 End-Year Report, December 2018

Accordingly, in its current aviation concept, the Federal Ministry
of Transport and Digital Infrastructure has examined 20 measures to deal with these requirements. It came to the conclusion
that the objective (participation in global growth) could not be
achieved in full, despite implementing all the proposals in the
portfolio. Consequently a further delay in realizing these measures would fundamentally endanger the competitiveness of the
German aviation industry. The main problem for German aviation
is therefore not a lack of demand, but instead lies in being able
to satisfy demand with an appropriate offering.¹1)

In the fiscal year 2018, the gross advertising expenditure of
the advertising companies was on a par with the previous year
at € 31,862 million. The advertising category used primarily at
Munich Airport is out-of-home advertising. The gross advertising
expenditures in this area are down 2.8 percent compared to the
previous year.¹4)

Economic environment Commercial Activities
Thanks to higher incomes and record employment, German
retailers also recorded growth in 2018 according to the Federal Statistical Office, with an increase in sales of 2.3 percent
to € 525 billion. More and more bricks-and-mortar retailers
profited from online growth (2018: +9.7 percent), by utilizing
the opportunities of digitalization.¹2)
According to the German Retail Association (HDE), the retail
trade is still doing well. The favorable labor market situation and
current wage development are however being dampened by the
expectations of citizens with respect to the economy. Nonetheless, consumer confidence is still good. This is also confirmed by
the ifo Business Climate Index: the majority of retail companies
surveyed assessed the business climate for the next six months
positively.¹2)
According to the German Hotel and Catering Association
(DEHOGA), the catering sector recorded a positive performance
in 2018, for the ninth time in a row, and thus continued its
upward trend. In the area of guest accommodation too, a sales
increase of 3.7 percent was achieved, which when adjusted for
¹¹) Aviation Report of the Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital
Infrastructure
¹²) Federal Statistical Office & HDE, press release, January 2019
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price, represents a growth rate of 1.5 percent. With a nominal
sales increase of 2.8 percent (real 0.6 percent), the restaurant
trade also performed well. The catering sector was likewise able
to increase sales by 3.0 percent (real 1.2 percent).¹3)

Shifts in the modal split, which reflects the manner in which
passengers who live in the catchment area of Munich Airport
travel to the airport, as well as changes in the number of visitors
relating to passengers from Germany and abroad had different
impacts on the Parking business unit. In particular, the «Shared
Mobility» business (rental cars and car sharing) profited from
increased passenger volumes. Displacement effects to other
methods of traveling to the airport, particularly to the S-Bahn
railway network, were achieved in terms of sales by a price
increase as well as through parking transactions in higher value
product categories.

Economic environment Real Estate
The City of Munich remains an attractive market for office
property. With a floor-space turnover of 979,300 square
meters, the million mark may have been narrowly missed, but
an extraordinarily high result was still achieved. The floor-space
turnover is thus almost on a par with the previous year’s figure
of 984,200 square meters.¹5)
¹³) Federal Statistical Office & DEHOGA, press release, February 2019
¹⁴) Nielsen, Advertising trend: Top trends in December 2018,
January 2019
¹⁵) Colliers International, press release, January 2019
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Market developments are still shaped by the limited space availability. The vacancy level fell year-on-year by 125,300 square
meters to 410,600 square meters. The vacancy rate dropped
0.6 percentage points to 1.8 percent.¹6)
The average rent for office property in Munich rose 10 percent
to € 19.0/m². In comparison to this, the average rent in the
region around Munich was € 12.8/m². The prime rent developed
somewhat more moderately, rising 1 percent to € 36.0/m².¹6)
In the real estate market, there was a tendency for large companies to rent more space than they need in order to cover their
future growth. For the time being, space that is not required is
being sub-let. In addition, there are indications that there will be
more happening again on the project development side. For this,
locations that were less in focus in the past will also become
interesting. Given Munich’s role as an important office location, in
a national and international context, growth in available space is
also required in order to remain attractive for companies already
located there and for new companies coming in.¹6)

Course of business
 Course of
business

∫∫ Start of the «LabCampus» project
∫∫ Start of construction of the Erdinger Ringschluss
∫∫ Moratorium on the «third runway»
∫∫ Approval for the expansion of Terminal 1
∫∫ New passenger record and increase in aircraft movements
∫∫ Ground handling services in a difficult economic
environment
∫∫ Retail trade – growth in revenue not in line with passenger
numbers
∫∫ Catering and hotel trade on the path to success
∫∫ Parking – demand increases with passenger volume
∫∫ Advertising – a challenging market environment
∫∫ Impetus for further location and real estate development
¹⁶) Colliers International, press release, January 2019
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Key events in the past fiscal year
On March 8, 2018 the «LabCampus» project was launched.
With this, Munich Airport plans to create a unique location for
innovation and cross-sector cooperation. On the AirSite West
area, a forward-oriented infrastructure will be created, which
will bring together companies and research institutes, startups and global players, creatives and investors, in order to drive
forward the development of new ideas and products. To realize
the project, customer acquisition and the provision of all required
innovation services on site, FMG established the LabCampus
subsidiary in the fiscal year 2018, which was included in the
group of consolidated companies.

The government of Upper Bavaria issued the planning approval
in November 2018 to expand Terminal 1 and add a new gate. The
objective of this expansion project is to make the non-Schengen
area fit for purpose and to enhance the quality of services and
quality of stay in Terminal 1. Commissioning of the gate is planned
for 2023. The total costs estimated for the expansion project are
expected to be paid by Munich Airport from its own funds.
There were no other events that had a material impact or will
have a material impact on the business development of Munich
Airport in the fiscal year.

Aviation business
In terms of improving the airport’s railway connection, the official
start of the expansion of the railway tunnel on September 5, 2018
was an important event. With this building project, the realization
of the Erdinger Ringschluss, i. e. the extension of the railway
line from Freising via Munich Airport to Erding, is being driven
forward.

Traffic figures for Munich Airport ¹)
2018
Aircraft movements
Passengers in millions

The costs for the shell of the tunnel extension are being borne
by Munich Airport, and pre-financed in the form of an interest-
bearing repayable subsidy from the Free State of Bavaria. On
commissioning of the tunnel extension, the payment of the
investment costs will fall due for Munich Airport. In fiscal year
2018, T€ 13,674 was capitalized in relation to this construction
measure as plants under construction.
After the state elections in October 2018, the coalition contract
for the legislative period 2018 to 2023 between CSU and Freien
Wählern (Free Voters) stipulated as follows: «The coalition
partners have differing opinions regarding the need for a third
runway at Munich Airport. The plans for its construction will
therefore not be pursued during the current legislative period…»
The stipulations, in particular the moratorium in relation to the
third runway, is having profound repercussions for the Munich
Airport Group. The effects of the moratorium were reflected in
balance sheet in fiscal year 2018.

Fig. 9

In-/decrease

)

Cargo in tonnes²

2017 Absolute

413,469 404,505

Relative

8,964

2.2%

1.7

3.8%

375,247 388,517 -13,270

-3.4%

46.3

44.6

1 Rounding differences are possible.
2) For better comparability with other passenger airports, the cargo
throughput here is quoted inclusive of freight quantities that remain
on board the airplane in transit at Munich Airport. The values may
therefore differ from those in other publications, in which only freight
or cargo throughput (without transit) are considered.
)
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With an absolute increase of around 1.7 million passengers,
Munich Airport again achieved positive growth and reached a
new record result in the fiscal year 2018 with a total of 46.3 million passengers (+3.8 percent). A significant increase was also
posted in terms of aircraft movements (+2.2 percent). With a
total of 413,469 aircraft movements (take-offs and landings),
Munich Airport approached its historic peak and the limits of its
capacity. In contrast, the cargo throughput (result of airfreight
and airmail including transit) fell by approximately -3.4 percent
year on year to approximately 375,000 tonnes due to the decline
in bellyhold cargo.
The development of traffic at Munich Airport shows that it
has been possible to compensate for the decline in aircraft
movements caused by the withdrawal of Transavia Airlines and
the insolvency of Air Berlin, and indeed better than expected –
further evidence of the consistently high demand at the Munich
location. Despite this extremely difficult starting point, expectations regarding the development of traffic have been met and
exceeded.
After a period of stagnation in the previous year, the average
number of seats offered increased slightly to 154 seats per
flight. While, with the Airbus A380, significantly larger aircraft
were used, this was offset by the increased use of regional jets
with below-average seat capacity, meaning that overall, there
was only a slight increase in average aircraft size. In particularly
good news, five Airbus A380s – the largest passenger aircraft
in the world – were relocated to Munich and also at least

15 Airbus A350s – the most modern long-haul aircraft in the
Deutsche Lufthansa fleet – are stationed in Munich. An essential
target group in the long-haul business sector are the customers
in the premium travel classes. Here too, Munich Airport is a world
leader, particularly due the high number of business travelers.
Passenger growth was therefore made possible through the
better capacity utilization of 77.5 percent (+1.0 percentage
points) and an increased flight offering. Fig. 10
Both originating and transfer traffic were key growth factors
in traffic development. With 28.9 million air passengers,
Munich had more originating passengers (passengers who do
not t ransfer) than in the previous year. The share of transfer
passengers increased slightly to 37 percent.
Demand for German domestic flights was at 9.7 million passengers. This meant a reduction of around 140,000 passengers. In
the cumulated net profit, the segment was thus just under the
previous year’s figure (-1.4 percent), but displayed considerable
recovery trends from the start of the winter timetable at the
end of October for the period 2018/2019. The slight decline is
primarily attributable to the absence of the Transavia Airlines
flights to Berlin-Schönefeld with around 90,000 passengers,
which were not replaced. The Air Berlin routes, which recently
served almost exclusively domestic German destinations, have
largely caught up with Eurowings and Deutsche Lufthansa – only

Aircraft movements
at Munich Airport

Fig. 10

the route to Düsseldorf has not yet completely exhausted its
compensation potential. The route to Berlin-Tegel, on the other
hand, is largely at the previous year’s level; significant negative
impacts as a result of the new ICE link between Berlin and Munich
were not observed. The number of German domestic aircraft
movements even increased by 3.5 percent or around 3,000 to
some 91,000 takeoffs and landings. The different development
of aircraft movements and passengers in German domestic
air traffic is due to the expected start-up difficulties with the
marketing of new airline connections and routes.
Continental traffic posted significant growth: Aircraft movements
increased to around 266,000 flights, which equates to a rise of
some 5,000 flights or 1.8 percent. Approximately 1.3 million
additional passengers (28.8 million passengers in total) were
transported compared to the previous year. This equates to
an increase of 4.8 percent. In this traffic segment, the losses,
caused by the market exit of Air Berlin as well as the departure
of Transavia Airlines, were more than compensated for.
Measured by the number of passengers, the long-haul traffic
segment posted the highest growth rates. Just under 7.8 million
passengers took intercontinental flights, around 500,000 more
than in the previous year (+6.9 percent). The long-haul movements also increased by 1.6 percent (more than 400 additional
flights) to around 31,900 long-haul flights. Fig. 11

Passenger numbers
at Munich Airport
National

2018
2017
2016
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Fig. 11

In millions

In thousands

413
405
394

2018
2017
2016

Continental

9.7

28.8

9.8

27.4

9.6

25.8

Intercontinental

7.8
7.3
6.8
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In fiscal year 2018, airfreight handling could not continue the
success of the previous years and declined by approximately
3.1 percent to around 352,000 tonnes. Various special effects
such as the reduced freight capacity due to changed aircraft
types, for example the Deutsche Lufthansa Airbus A380, and
technical, temporary load restrictions in the Boeing B787 led
to a slight decline. Nonetheless, the second best result in the
history of the airport was still achieved.
With a share of over 80 percent, the quantity of freight loaded
on and unloaded from passenger aircraft, known as belly-hold
cargo, was the most important traffic segment. The bellyhold
cargo declined – in parallel with the reduced freight capacity –
in the previous year by approximately 5.5 percent to around
294,000 tonnes. The quantity transported on purely freight
flights increased considerably, due to the additional Air Bridge
Cargo connections (to Russia for example), by around 11.3 percent to some 58,000 tonnes.
The airmail throughput increased to approximately
16,800 tonnes. After airmail services were partially suspended
in the previous year, there was an increased demand for airmail
services again in 2018. Fig. 12

Airfreight and airmail (including transit items)
at Munich Airport
Fig. 12
In tonnes

2018
2017
2016

375,247
388,517
375,121

Compared with the traffic results of the airports represented
in the German Airports Association (ADV), Munich was unable
to continue the above-average growth observed in the previous
year. The cargo and movement figures remained below the
average; in terms of passenger volumes, Munich was within the
ADV average. It is worth noting that the high ADV growth rates are
attributable to the strong growth in Frankfurt – by far the largest
location. There, growth rates of around 8 percent in passenger
traffic were recorded. In contrast, the situation in terms of
airfreight is different: Airports with 24-hour operation such as
Cologne/Bonn and Leipzig recorded strong growth. There, the
package services – particularly the rapidly growing E-commerce
segment – increased the freight volume, a traffic segment that
Munich cannot serve appropriately due to the strict night flight
curfew. Fig. 13

A comparison of traffic results for 2018¹⁷)
In %

ADV

Munich

Movements (total traffic)

4.2

2.2

Passengers (commercial traffic)

4.0

3.8

Cargo (airfreight and airmail and transit)

1.8

-3.4

Despite pleasing growth, Munich remained in eight place in the
ranking of the busiest European airports by passenger numbers,
according to the Airports Council International (ACI). In terms of
aircraft movements, it was able to claim seventh place.¹8)
There are two ground handling licenses at Munich Airport. One
of these is permanently assigned to the subsidiary AeroGround
Flughafen München GmbH (AE Munich). AE’s market share was
54.5 percent in the fiscal year 2018, a decline of 3.2 percentage
points on the previous year’s figure. Despite the strong growth
of Deutsche Lufthansa, AE Munich reported a handling volume
¹⁷) ADV monthly statistics 12/2018, February 2019
¹⁸) Airports Council International, as at: January 2019
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Fig. 13

decline of 3.5 percent overall. These negative changes are essentially the result of the insolvency of its second largest customer
Air Berlin and the latter’s subsidiary Niki.
The sharply reduced market share in Terminal 1 was due, firstly,
to market growth in the low-cost segment (inter alia Eurowings),
in which AE Munich could not participate. Secondly, there were no
further handling operations for Air Berlin and Niki in Terminal 1
after the suspension of air traffic in 2017.
AeroGround Berlin GmbH (AE Berlin) holds ground handling
licenses at both Berlin airports. In fiscal year 2018, the market
share was 24 percent at the Berlin-Tegel location and 17 percent
at Berlin-Schönefeld. As a result of the insolvency of the largest
customer, Air Berlin in fiscal year 2017, the ground handling
volume declined by 40 percent in total compared to the previous
year. Fiscal year 2018 posed a huge challenge in terms of consolidating the business and adjusting to the changed customer
conditions.

Commercial Activities business
Compared to the previous year, revenue in the Commercial
Activities business unit put in a positive performance overall.
In this process, the relocation of passengers from Terminal 1 to
Terminal 2 and the resultant commercial effects led to at times
quite heterogeneous developments.
The retail trade at Munich Airport failed to continue the positive
trend of the previous year into fiscal year 2018. Despite rising
passenger figures, the retail trade reported declining revenue
overall, with the result that the revenue per passenger did not
reach the previous year’s figure. The relocation of passenger
flows from Terminal 1 to Terminal 2 had a huge impact here,
as they led to longer processing times at the security checks
and thus to a shorter amount of time being spent by potential
customers in the non-public area.
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In particular, the previous year’s strong growth impetus in terms
of passenger volumes for the destination, Russia, was not
present this year. In contrast, revenue from passenger volumes
for the more strongly demanded destinations of China and
Hong Kong continued to be positive, though disproportionately
lower with respect to the number of passengers.

The growth in passenger figures in originating traffic had only a
limited impact on the parking business. Despite a slight decline
in demand for parking spaces, it was possible to increase
revenue overall in face of the changed parking behavior through
a further development of product categories and the increasing
popularity of «shared mobility» (rental cars and car sharing).

Since Great Britain voted to leave the EU in 2016, the British
pound sterling has lost considerable value, which has impacted
directly on the consumer behavior of passengers from Great
Britain. Despite rising passenger figures, revenue from this
customer group remained in decline.

The decline in the «out-of-home» advertising category was also
reflected at Munich Airport in fiscal year 2018. While advertising
revenue were on a level with the previous year, this was however due to special and/or one-off effects. In the terminals,
advertising revenue continued to develop heterogeneously. In
Terminal 2 and the satellite building, significant growth was
recorded due to the relocation of traffic there and the greater
appeal of the advertising spaces. In Terminal 1, in particular,
the marketing situation remains challenging due to the largely
analog advertising options there.

The passenger volumes flying to Turkey increased significantly
compared to the previous year, however retail revenue for this
customer group developed more slowly than average.
In fiscal year 2018, the restaurants and bars were able to profit
from the rising passenger figures and revenue increased again,
both in absolute terms and per passenger. This is because the
trend among airlines to offer less food on board meant that
passengers were availing more of the offering at Munich Airport,
both as eat-in and take-away options. Newly opened or extended
units thus contributed to the growth of catering-related revenue
at Munich Airport.
In the Hotel sector, there was increased demand from guests
and conference participants for rooms and the new conference
center respectively. At the Skytrax Awards 2018, the five-star
hotel in the central area of Munich Airport was named best
airport hotel in Europe for the fourth time in a row.¹9)
¹9) Skytrax, World’s Best Airport Hotels 2018, November 2018
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The development measures for AirSite West are progressing well.
A traffic circle with bypass was already completed in the previous
year as a traffic easing measure at the Nordallee/Novotel crossroad. For the further accessibility of this area, another traffic
circle was built at the western end of the Nordallee in fiscal year
2018. In addition, Munich Airport started on the construction
of a traffic link via the Zentralallee (traffic node, West 0). Here,
a bridge structure will be constructed from the western end of
the Nordallee over the Zentralallee and railway line to the airport
maintenance area. In addition, Munich Airport conducted further
sewer works in the area of AirSite West and tore down some
buildings, in order to free sites for future construction.
The office building constructed on this area using a modular
system had already been procured by the Real Estate business
division in fiscal year 2018. In line with the real estate and parking strategy, the parking facility P51 with around 2,000 parking
places was built next to the Visitors Park.

Real Estate business
Munich Airport’s real estate business is developing only a little
at the existing high level. The difficult competitive situation
facing airlines, in particular, meant that the Group was unable
to increase rental income on existing properties over and above
indexing. Renovations and the fixed-term re-rental of a hanger
lead to slight increases in revenue.
One important future project is the AirSite West area, on which
the cross-sector innovation location, LabCampus and numerous
new buildings will be constructed in the coming years.

In the eastern area of the airport, Munich Airport started tunnel
works related to the Erdinger Ringschluss project. The existing
tunnel, which currently ends at the level of the satellite building
of Terminal 2, will be extended eastwards. The tunnel extension
is around 1.5 kilometers long and will be supplemented by a
300 meter long access ramp, via which the trains will return
to the surface. Munich Airport plans to have the tunnel shell
completed by 2021. Then this will be fitted out by DB Netz AG
with the technical equipment required for railway traffic.
Furthermore, the construction works for the multi-lane
expansion of the south ring and its extension eastwards in the
direction of the East airport bypass started in 2018 in order to
improve the eastern road link.
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To enhance the quality of Terminal 1, Munich Airport is planning
to optimize handling of non-Schengen passengers by building
a new gate. With the extension, the airport is responding to
the changing traffic structure and improving the handling of
wide-bodied aircraft. In addition, the requirements on the security checks have increased constantly since 1992. In contrast to
earlier, when numerous transfer passengers used this terminal
without having to go through security, now almost all passengers
in Terminal 1 including their luggage must be checked – just the
simple addition of a new gate would make it possible to re-attain
former handling capacities.

 Net assets,
financial position,
and results of
operations

Revenue

2017

Absolute

Relative in %

1,508,817

1,468,735

40,082

2.7

44,894

44,057

837

1.9

Total income

1,553,711

1,512,792

40,919

2.7

Cost of materials

-393,602

-398,988

5,386

-1.3

Personnel expenses

-507,713

-482,081

-25,632

5.3

Other expenses

-114,318

-111,736

-2,582

2.3

538,078

519,987

18,091

3.5

-215,862

-217,617

1,755

-0.8

322,216

302,370

19,846

6.6

-100,897

-73,130

-27,767

38.0

221,319

229,240

-7,921

-3.5

Depreciation and amortization

For the further development of air traffic, Munich Airport has
constructed and commissioned a new ramp equipment station
for de-icing and towing aircraft.

Net assets, financial position, and results of
operations
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Other income

The total concept for the extension includes a structure on three
levels, comprising a core building adjacent to Terminal 1 and a
gate. This will be connected with the existing Modules A and B
and extend more than 320 meters into the western apron of
Munich Airport. Up to twelve aircraft will then be able to dock at
the gate. The total area of the extension including renovations
in the existing arrivals area B is around 95,000 square meters. In
fiscal year 2018, Munich Airport started on the initial preparatory
works on the apron and on the planned construction site areas.

The first contracts were concluded in fiscal year 2018 to create
living space for employees. In München-Bogenhausen, Munich
Airport has rented a newly built residential facility. These furnished apartments will be sub-let on fixed term contracts to new
applicants and employees. In Attaching, apartment buildings
owned by the airport have been renovated. They are now also
available for fixed-term rental to employees. Further collaborative projects with external partners are being negotiated.

Fig. 14

In-/decrease
T€

EBITDA

pp Glossary
pp Glossary

Results of operations

EBIT
)

Financial result¹
EBT
Income taxes

-72,586

-70,440

-2,146

3.0

EAT

148,733

158,800

-10,067

-6.3

¹) This also includes income from companies valued using the equity method.

∫∫ Earnings after taxes decreased slightly
∫∫ Assets – Munich Airport is building up liquidity reserves

Results of operations Fig. 14
In fiscal year 2018, Munich Airport’s earnings after taxes (EAT)
fell by T€ 10,067 to T€ 148,733. The causes of this decrease are
explained in detail below.
In fiscal year 2018, the revenue of Munich Airport rose by
T€ 40,082 or 2.7 percent to T€ 1,508,817.

In terms of revenue from airport charges (T€ 626,726; previous
year: T€ 589,510), the largest contributor to growth was passenger and landing charges.
In comparison with growth in MTOM (Maximum Take-Off Mass)
and passenger figures, revenue from landing and passenger
charges increased disproportionately, driven by price. Fig. 15
The decline in revenue from handling services of T€ 13,822
(-7.3 percent), in total, resulted primarily in the area of ground
handling services from the insolvency of Air Berlin and Niki.
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Revenue and volume growth in
passenger and landing charges

Fig. 15

In %
Revenue growth

Volume growth

Landing charges

6.1
2.2

Passenger charges

6.3
3.8

The revenue in other divisions was broken down as follows in
fiscal year 2018: Fig. 16

Breakdown of revenue of other areas

186,766

Catering and hotel

Rental and leasing

Parking

138,673

106,806

99,835

Miscellaneous
174,322
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The financial result decreased by T€ 27,767 to T€ -100,897. This
was due to the non-cash revaluation losses arising from the
valuation of financial liabilities from interests in partnerships in
Other financial result. At T€ -84,257, the net interest was slightly
above the previous year’s level, due to the recognized interest
expense on financial liabilities from interests in partnerships. The
interest actually paid was, in contrast, reduced further through
debt repayments.

Munich Airport’s personnel expenses are largely determined
by the number of employees and the amount of remuneration
paid to employees employed under the collective pay scale
agreement for public sector employees (TVöD). The collective
payment under this agreement was increased by 3.19 percent
effective March 1, 2018. The Group again created new jobs in the
fiscal year. The average number of employees increased from
9,316 to 9,521 year on year. In total, personnel expenses rose
by 5.3 percent to T€ 507,713.

The tax expense was T€ 72,586, and thus on a par with the
previous year’s level. This includes current taxes in the amount
of T€ 83,645 (previous year: T€ 76,887) as well as deferred tax
income of T€ 11,059 (previous year: T€ 6,447).

Fig. 16

In T€
Retail trade

After 25 years of being in operation, there is an ever pressing
need to upgrade the buildings from the first stage of expansion
at Munich Airport. Consequently, the expenses for refurbishment and optimization and reconstruction measures are rising
constantly. In contrast, the cost of purchased services fell in
connection with the commissioning of sub-contractors in the
area of ground handling services at the Berlin-Tegel location.
Overall, the cost of materials reduced by T€ 5,386 or 1.3 percent.

At T€ 114,318 other expenses were slightly higher than in the
previous year. This is primarily attributable to higher project costs
and other taxes. Conversely, the rental and leasing expenses,
were reduced among other things.
In fiscal year 2018, depreciation and amortization (T€ 215,862)
include impairment losses of T€ 16,408, which mainly relate to
planning services performed and construction period interest
(T€ 12,849) and must presumable be performed again due to
the delay in building the third runway, most recently as a result
of the postponement of the decision as a part of the moratorium. Overall, the scheduled depreciation reduced by T€ 18,163
or 8.3 percent. This is attributable, inter alia, to the fact that
during the course of the previous year individual components
of buildings were omitted from depreciation and amortization.
Fiscal year 2018 was the first year in which this affected the
entire year.

Net assets and financial position
Financial position

Fig. 17

In-/decrease
Dec. 31,
2018

T€
Non-current
assets
)

Dec. 31,
2017

Absolute

Relative
in %

4,993,485 4,999,768

-6,283

-0.1

Current assets¹

357,327

306,516

50,811

16.6

thereof cash
and cash
equivalents

12,377

6,625

5,752

86.8

Assets

5,350,812 5,306,284

44,528

0.8

Equity

2,212,531 2,086,254

126,277

6.1

Other
non-current
liabilities²)

2,220,855 2,292,898

-72,043

-3.1

927,132

-9,706

-1.0

5,350,812 5,306,284

44,528

0.8

Other current
liabilities²)
Equity and
Liabilities

917,426

)

¹ Including assets classified as held for sale.
²) Including financial liabilities resulting from partnerships.
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In fiscal year 2018, Munich Airport invested cash with a total
value of T€ 210,000 (previous year: T€ 158,000) in short-term
money market transactions and term deposits. As a result of
this, non-current assets increased by T€ 50,811 to T€ 357,327.
Furthermore, a commercial paper program was launched for
the first time in the previous year (without trading on the stock
exchange) in the amount of T€ 100,000, which was available
for short-term financing. Munich Airport issued several tranches
within this program in fiscal year 2018, which were repaid in full
on the balance sheet date.

Capital structure

The previous year’s consolidated profit (T€ 158,800) was
reduced by the distribution of T€ 30,000 to shareholders. The
remaining amount was retained in fiscal year 2018.

Equity

The changes in other liabilities were mainly due to the financing
area. The decline is primarily attributable to repayments of loans
in the amount of T€ 125,713. Conversely, financial liabilities from
interests in partnerships increased by T€ 30,683.
The equity ratio increased primarily due to the income in the
fiscal year. Fig. 18

In-/decrease
T€

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Absolute

Relative in %

Subscribed capital

306,776

306,776

0

0.0

Reserves

151,353

150,767

586

0.4

1,754,388

1,628,698

125,690

7.7

148,733

158,800

-10,067

-6.3

14

13

1

7.7

Other equity
of which annual profit/loss
Non-controlling interests
of which annual profit/loss

1

0

1

100.0

2,212,531

2,086,254

126,277

6.1

Financial liabilities from interests in partnerships

346,058

315,375

30,683

9.7

Shareholder loans

491,913

491,913

0

0.0

Fixed-rate loans

682,314

687,535

-5,221

-0.8

Floating-rate loans

730,286

829,527

-99,241

-12.0

1,412,600

1,517,062

-104,462

-6.9

40,207

51,255

-11,048

-21.6

847,503

844,425

3,078

0.4

3,138,281

3,220,030

-81,749

-2.5

41%

39%

Loans

Derivatives

Other liabilities

Financial liabilities

Equity ratio
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The main terms of Munich Airport’s current and non-current
financial liabilities can be found in the table below: Fig. 19
The shareholder loans are available indefinitely and interest is
charged on the basis of the base rate plus a margin, if the results
and anticipated economic development allow this.
The loans bear usual non-financial covenants, including negative pledge and pari passu clauses. In addition, there are other
general conventional agreements concerning repayment in the
event of changes in shareholder structure. There are no financial
covenants.
Munich Airport uses payer interest rate swaps and forward
exchange transactions to hedge against risks arising from interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations. Interest rate hedges are
accounted for as a valuation unit. Fig. 20

Liquidity
Sufficient funds were available from the net cash flow from
operating activities in 2018 to ensure the liquidity of the
company in operations. Cash outflows from investing activities
mainly arose from the acquisition and production of property,
plant, and equipment and short-term time deposits. A negative
cash flow arose from financing activities due to distributions to
shareholders, loan repayments, and interest repayments. Fig. 21

Non-current loans conditions

Fig. 19

Interest rate in %
Method of funding

Currency Interest rate

Residual
debt in T€

from

to

€

Earnings-
based

346,058

–

-

€

Variable/
earnings-
based

491,913

Financial liabilities resulting from interests in partnerships

Shareholder loans
Loans

€ Floating-rate

Loans

€

685,241

Fixed-rate

0.48

3.49

(As at December 31, 2018)

Hedging transaction conditions

Fig. 20

Forward rate in
EUR/USD

Fixed rate in %
Hedging instruments

Nominal
amount

Currency

from

to

from

to

Hedged items

Interest payer swaps

644,000

T€

0.28

2.92

-

-

Syndicated
loans

1,391

T€

-

-

1.17

1.21

Expected
transactions

Forward exchange transactions¹)
¹) These hedges are not recognized.

Cash flow statement
In T€

Investments

Fig. 21

+468,296

-248,271

In fiscal year 2018, investments in property, plant, and equipment for own use at Munich Airport was T€ 191,146 in total.
This was offset by depreciation and amortization in the amount
of T€ 190,101.

-214,273

+12,377

+6,625

Cash and cash
equivalents as
of Jan. 1, 2018
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Base rate plus margin

3M and 6M EURIBOR plus
734,404
margin

Cash flow from
operating
activities

Cash flow from
investing
activities

Cash flow
from
financing
activities

Cash and cash
equivalents
as of
Dec. 31, 2018
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In fiscal year 2018, Munich Airport opened the P51 parking
facility. The five-story parking structure at the Visitors Park
offers a total capacity of 2,000 parking spaces and was built
in accordance with Munich Airport’s climate protection strategy
using a resource-conserving system design. Overall, Munich Airport invested T€ 14,095 in the new building. In fiscal year 2018,
T€ 12,547 has been added to property, plant, and equipment
for this purpose.
In addition, a large number of ongoing investment projects were
implemented and continued in fiscal year 2018. This included,
inter alia, investments in relation to the development of AirSite
West, the expansion and modernization of Terminal 1, the
expansion of the railway tunnel for the Erdinger Ringschluss
and numerous replacement purchases in the area of IT and
technology.

Target achievement and overall assessment
Year on year and in comparison with the forecast development,
these performance indicators have trended as follows: Fig. 22

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Munich Airport’s EBT for fiscal year 2018 fell by 3.5 percent to
T€ 221,319, a decrease of T€ 7,921 which was slightly less than
expected. The anticipated result was thus exceeded.

Forecast/actual comparison

EBT in T€
CO₂ reductions in tonnes
Passenger Experience Index

Fig. 22

2017

2018

2018

Actual

Forecast

Actual
to

%

%

229,240

Decrease

-4.0

-10.0

221,319

Exceeded

14,367

Increase

22.1

27.1

22,031

Exceeded

78.53

Increase

0.0

0.5

79.16

Exceeded

CO₂ reductions
To achieve the long-term climate protection goals, binding
targets are agreed annually for divisions and subsidiaries of the
Group. These include stipulations regarding the implementation
and recognition of efficiency measures, and special targets for
the establishment of CO2-reducing technologies. One example of
this is the first photo voltaic system operated by Munich Airport
on the P51 parking structure, which has an output of more than
749 kWPeak. With a total amount of 22,031 tonnes of saved
CO2 emissions from efficiency and special targets, it was possible
to exceed the target for 2018.

Passenger Experience Index (PEI)
In fiscal year 2018, Munich Airport was able to increase the
satisfaction levels of passengers disembarking in Munich by
0.8 percent, compared with 2017 measured by PEI. This rise
resulted, on the one hand, from the relocation of traffic portions
from Terminal 1 to Terminal 2, where the passenger satisfaction
level is empirically higher. On the other, the satisfaction levels
improved due to the implementation of optimization measures,
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from

such as the installation of an automatic boarding pass check
and a passenger-friendly queuing system in front of the central
security check in Terminal 2 and the expansion of the security
check lanes there. In Terminal 1, the C-West hall was updated
including a fully fledged special security control for departing
US flights. This took the burden off the security checks at the
access points to areas B and C. Furthermore, measures such
as the installation of a queuing system in front of the entry
passport check in Module C of Terminal 1 and the completion
of the structural restoration work on the toilets had a positive
impact on customer satisfaction in both terminals. In addition,
service training courses were performed across the campus in
2018, in order to improve the customer experience.

Events after the balance sheet date
Please refer to the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for details of events of particular importance that took
place after the reporting date.
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Outlook, risks, and opportunities
report
Outlook report
Economic and industry-specific conditions
In 2019, the pace of global economic growth is set to lose
momentum. The current IMF forecast assumes an increase in
global GDP of 3.5 percent²⁰), which is slightly under the level of
current calculations for 2018.
In the leading industrialized countries, the economy will grow at
a somewhat weaker pace than in 2018. The dynamic growth in
the USA looks set to continue; this was stimulated by, inter alia,
the reduction in the effective corporate tax burden which came
into effect in 2018.²¹) In Japan, on the other hand, the upturn
will continue but at a slower pace, which is due to, among other
things, the already heavily utilized, macro-economic production
capacities. ²2) The Chinese economy will continue to expand with
a strong, albeit slightly falling growth rate, which is supported by
an expansive fiscal policy on the part of the government. Economic development in Great Britain will continue to be hampered
by its planned exit from the European Union (known as Brexit),
which represents a considerable risk to the British economy.
Should a no-deal Brexit occur in 2019, the growth rate would
fall even further than the currently forecast 1.5 percent. Since
commodity prices stabilized in 2017 and 2018, the increase in
economic output in the developing and emerging-market countries should, at 4.5 percent, be just as positive as in 2018. For
Brazil and Russia, two countries included in this category which
have been dealing with crises in recent years, continued solid
economic growth is expected for 2019 following the recovery in
the two previous years.²¹)
²⁰) International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, January 2019
²¹) Ifo Institute for Economic Research, economic forecast,
December 2018
²²) German Council of Economic Experts, Autumn Report 2018,
November 2018
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In 2018, the price of oil fluctuated in a range between USD 52 and
86. For 2019, a stagnation compared to 2018 is forecast. The
price of oil should remain at an annual average of just under
USD 60 per barrel.²⁰) Fig. 23
The long-standing upswing in the eurozone will probably continue in 2019. At 1.6 percent, however, lower economic growth
is expected. On the labor market, a further positive performance
is expected. Strong private consumption will therefore be a
supporting pillar for the upturn. In contrast, the contribution of
investments and exports to growth should fall. The economic
performance of the eurozone is fraught with not inconsiderable
risks due to the danger of a disorderly Brexit. The re-introduction
of border controls and customs would have significant negative
consequences on economic development in Great Britain and the
eurozone, due to their impact on international production and
supply chains. The current growth forecasts, however, assume
an orderly Brexit.²¹) Fig. 24
The German economy also remains on a growth path for 2019.
The economic performance of the Federal Republic of Germany
is expected to cool further however. The increase in economic
output for 2019 is forecast to be 1.3 percent. Early indicators
for economic development in the Federal Republic of Germany
are noticeably lower than they were a year ago. For example, the
ifo Business Climate Index stands at 101.0 points and the ZEW
Economic Sentiment Index at minus 17.5 points.²³)

Forecast economic growth in selected
destinations worldwide

Fig. 23

In %
2018
6.6

2019

6.2

2.5
1.7 1.6

China

Russia

2.9

2.5
1.4 1.5

1.3

Brazil

USA

UK

0.9 1.1
Japan

GDP growth in 2018 and 2019²4)

Forecast economic growth in selected
destinations throughout Europe

Fig. 24

In %
2018

2019

2.5
2.2

1.5

1.3

1.5 1.5
1.0
0.6

²³) Center for European Economic Research (Zentrum für Europäische
Wirtschaftsforschung; ZEW) website, December 2018
Germany

France

Spain

Italy

GDP growth in 2018 and 2019²4)

²⁴) IMF, World Economic Outlook, January 2019
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The upturn in the Federal Republic of Germany had a broader
base than at the beginning of 2018. Private consumption
(2019: 1.2 percent) will contribute significantly to growth, as in
previous years. This is also indicated by the solid level achieved on
the Consumer Climate Index of the GfK market research institute.
It is currently at 10.4 points.²5) The growth in construction investment will likewise continue to be dynamic in 2019 (2019: 3.1 percent) Investments in equipment (2019: 2.2 percent) and exports
(2019: 3.0 percent) should develop more moderately however.²6)
The demographic and economic general conditions in Bavaria
and, in particular, the airport catchment area mean that further
strong growth in transportation demand can be expected at
Munich Airport. According to the results of the regionalized population projection by the Bavarian State Office for Statistics, the
number of people living in Bavaria, especially around Munich, will
grow in the period up to 2037 and this growth is characterized
as strong to very strong. The population of Upper Bavaria will
increase by 9 percent, in the district of Munich by 12.1 percent,
and in the city of Munich by 11.6 percent.²7) In the Prognos
Zukunftsatlas, the district of Munich and the City of Munich,
followed by the region of Ingolstadt, head the list of regions with
the best future prospects.²8) Driven by growing prosperity and
an increasing population, the trend in the volume from Munich
Airport’s core catchment area was positive in the last two years
in particular. This trend is expected to continue in future. These
statements are supported by a study conducted by the business
magazine «Focus Money», where all the regions in the top ten
were in Bavaria or Baden-Württemberg.²9)
²⁵) Growth from Knowledge (GfK), press release, November 2018
²⁶) Ifo Institute for Economic Research, economic forecast,
December 2018
²⁷) Bavarian State Office for Statistics and Data Management
(Bayerisches Landesamt für Statistik), regionalized population
projection for Bavaria up to 2037, December 2018
²⁸) prognos, Prognos Zukunftsatlas 2016, May 2016
²⁹) Focus, Large district ranking 2018, January 2019
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The global aviation market will continue to grow. The International
Air Transport Association (IATA) is assuming an average annual
growth rate in global passenger volumes for 2019 of 6.0 percent.
The annual average growth rate for airfreight is 3.7 percent
globally for the same period and is thus significantly below the
previous year’s level, which reflects the weakening state of world
trade.3⁰)
In the German aviation market, the German Airports Association (ADV) is likewise forecasting further growth. Passenger
numbers are forecast to rise for 2019 by 2.7 percent. German
domestic traffic will contribute growth of 1.0 percent. For intraand inter-continental traffic, growth rates of 5.1 percent and
2.8 percent respectively are forecast. The number of aircraft
movements should rise by 1.2 percent and freight volume should
rise by 2.3 percent in the same period.³¹)

Forecast course of business
The Executive Board of Munich Airport has positive expectations
of traffic volumes in 2019. The number of passengers should
increase again by a good 4 percent and therefore climb above
48 million. Aircraft movements will increase by around 1 percent.
The reasons underlying passenger growth include the
announcement of new connections, continued growth in
transfer passengers and a rising seating capacity utilization.
The major part of the growth was contributed by the Lufthansa
Group. In inter-continental traffic, frequency expansion to
Seoul, Singapore and Chicago as well as new connections to
Bangkok and Osaka are planned. In addition, growth in traffic
and an increase in capacity utilization are assumed for the main
customer, Lufthansa. In addition, passenger number increases
are also expected for other airlines.
³⁰) IATA, press release, December 2018
³¹) ADV, ADV news: Traffic forecast of the ADV for 2019

In addition to the forecast positive traffic development, the
2.0 percent increase in air traffic charges, introduced on
January 1, 2019 in accordance with the master agreement on
charges, will lead to an increase in airport charges.
In the retail trade, Munich Airport expects further results-
improving effects, quite apart from a traffic-determined growth
in revenue. The product range is being streamlined in order
to improve the margins continuously. Likewise, through the
implementation of new retail concepts and the redesign of sales
outlets, the growth in revenue should be stimulated further.
After a downturn in revenue from handling services as a result
of the insolvency of Air Berlin in the past fiscal year, growth in
revenue is expected again for 2019.
Revenue from the catering and hotel trade will grow more
strongly in 2019 than passenger volumes. This is to be achieved,
inter alia, through renovations and the establishment of new
catering units. In the hotel trade, unchanged demand from large
customers and improved capacity utilization overall is expected.
As a result of the planned renovation of the centrally located
parking structures and the associated capacity bottlenecks,
Munich Airport expects that parking transactions will not rise in
line with passenger development. Therefore, parking revenue on
a par with the previous year is expected.
The revenue from rental and leasing will rise, due among other
things to the re-rental of spaces that were partially vacant in fiscal year 2018 and which in the past had been rented to Air Berlin.
Other revenue also performed well, due among other things to
rising revenue in the international business.
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In total, Munich Airport expects an increase in total income of
approximately 4 percent.
The trend toward higher costs of materials due to increasing
maintenance and conversion measures will continue in fiscal
year 2019. Moreover, the Group expects an increase in thirdparty services in the context of the expansion of the international
business.
The Executive Board expects an increase in personnel expenses
as a consequence of increases in the collective pay rates. In
addition, further staff capacities will be built up due to additional
orders and the insourcing of previous external services.
Other expenses will fall in 2019 due, among other things, to fewer
audit, consulting, and project services. Likewise, the expenses
for rent and leasing will fall as part of the first-time application
of IFRS 16. Various individual measures will have an inverse
impact such that other expenses will remain unchanged overall
in comparison to the fiscal year 2018.
In contrast to this, depreciation and amortization is expected
to decrease as a whole in 2019, resulting in an improvement in
earnings. The reason for this is that the special effect from 2018
arising from impairment losses is no longer included. This will
be partially offset by higher depreciation and amortization due
to the first-time application of IFRS 16.
In the financial result, an improvement is expected on balance.
On the one hand, the interest expenses for loans will reduce due
to repayments. On the other, Munich Airport is assuming that the
other financial result (profit/loss from financial instruments) will
improve. The interest expenses from the valuation of financial
liabilities from interests in partnerships will reduce significantly.
In contrast to this, the planning assumes a deterioration, largely
due to higher interest for loans to shareholders. Munich Airport
is expecting an increase in the underlying base rate due to the
generally increasing market interest rates.
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Forecast financial and non-financial key performance indicators

EBT in T€
CO₂ reductions in tonnes
Passenger experience index total satisfaction¹)

Fig. 25

2018

2019

Actual

Forecast
from

to

%

%

221,319

Increase

11.0

17.0

22,031

Decrease

-17.8

-12.8

82.01

unchanged

0.0

0.0

)

¹ The 2018 value was adjusted, as the overall satisfaction level from the Passenger Experience Index will be used from 2019 as a target value.

Overall, Munich Airport expects EBT to increase by between
11 percent and 17 percent. Fig. 25
The PCA systems installed at Munich Airport will gradually be
phased into normal operation. Their usage rate remains at a
high level. A slight decline in target values for 2019 compared
to the savings achieved in 2018 resulted from the considerable
over-fulfillment of target values in 2018. For 2019, additional
savings from efficiency measures of more than 2,900 tonnes
CO₂ will be aspired to. The planned measures should primarily
reduce the energy requirement for lighting and for ventilation
and air-conditioning technology.
Munich Airport will strengthen and expand Passenger Experience
Management in 2019 and consequently further intensify the
continuous improvement measures in the area of passenger
satisfaction. Thus, for example, there are plans to commission
further easy pass systems to optimize passenger processes and
to expand and improve the catering offering. Furthermore, it is
on the agenda to elaborate with airport management a comprehensive passenger experience management concept, in order
to secure the high satisfaction levels in the long-term also. For
2019, a different indicator («total satisfaction») compared to
2018 is used for the target value assessment basis. As a result,
the measurement instrument for customer satisfaction, the

Passenger Experience Index, is to be further developed flexibly in
accordance with the needs of the organization and as a response
to changed customer requirements.
With respect to the net assets and financial position, Munich
Airport expects a positive free cash flow for 2019, albeit lower
in absolute terms compared to 2018, despite the planned high
cash outflow for investments in major projects to expand the
airport. Examples for these planned major projects are the
new construction of a suburban train tunnel for the Erdinger
Ringschluss, the expansion of Terminal 1 and the creation of
additional aircraft parking position on the eastern apron.
On the assets side of the consolidated balance sheet, the planned
investments will exceed ongoing depreciation and lead to an
increase in non-current assets. Short-term deposits will fall as
a result of the planned investment activity. The assumption that
annual profit/loss will largely be retained in 2019 will result in
an increase in equity: Debts should be reduced by further loan
repayments.
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Risks and opportunities report
Risk management system
The Executive Board of FMG and all subsidiaries and affiliated
companies is responsible for the early detection and prevention
of risks that jeopardize the continuity of Munich Airport and the
investments. Group Management has overall responsibility for
an effective risk management system and lays the essential
foundation for it by communicating and defining corporate
strategy and targets. It formulates specifications for the risk
management process and the organizational structure of the
risk management system.
The aim of the risk management system is to identify events
and developments that may have a negative impact on the
achievement of strategic and operational targets in good time
and develop suitable countermeasures. It takes account of all
aspects of entrepreneurial activity – economic as well as environmental and social.
The risk management guideline regulates the general principles
of risk management in the Group as well as the tasks and responsibilities of the function holders involved in risk management.
This is aligned in accordance with the internationally recognized
framework model «COSO ERM» (Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission – Enterprise Risk
Management).
The Risk Management Committee serves as an additional
supporting management, control, and supervisory body within
the risk management system. As the highest ranking risk
management body, it is directly subordinate to the Executive
Board and consists of the Chief Financial and Infrastructure
Officer, the heads of the Aviation, Commercial Activities and
Real Estate business divisions, the heads of corporate divisions
Legal, Compliance, Enviromental Affairs and Committee Support,
Corporate Development, Corporate Controlling and Investment
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Management, Corporate Security and Corporate Communications as well as, the head of the IT service area and the Risk
Manager. The head of Compliance is involved in the Risk Management Committee as a guest. The task of the Risk Management
Committee is to analyze the risks from a Group perspective and
to monitor the effectiveness of countermeasures. It provides
support with the development of the risk management system
as well as with risk identification, assessment, and control. The
Risk Management Committee meets quarterly and agrees the
risk report, which is subsequently presented to the Executive
Board and the shareholders.
The risk management process comprises the following steps.
A coordination and communication platform has been established in the system to support this process.

Identification and communication of risks
All divisional managers and Chief Executive Officers of subsidiaries and shareholdings are responsible for the identification and
assessment of risks. In the relevant divisions, all risk-relevant
information is coordinated, administrated, documented, and
passed on by the relevant risk managers. The risk manager
checks the divisions’ risk reports for plausibility and compliance with the Group-wide standards for risk assessment. He
combines the divisions’ individual reports in a risk report, taking
account of materiality for the Group, and reports quarterly to
the Executive Board and shareholders. Risks that jeopardize the
Group’s existence that have been identified for the first time
must also be reported to the Executive Board on an ad hoc basis.
As a basis for dealing with risks responsibly, each individual
employee is involved in managing risks throughout the company. Each employee is responsible for eliminating risks in his
area and reporting indications of existing risks to his manager
without delay.

Assessment of risks
The systematic risk assessment allows the company to
determine the extent to which individual risks jeopardize the
fulfillment of Munich Airport’s corporate goals and strategies
and which risks may possibly threaten its existence. The factors
«expected loss» and «likelihood/frequency of occurrence» are
presented in a two-dimensional risk matrix for this purpose.
The expected loss describes the impact on profits that can be
expected if the loss event occurs. The likelihood of occurrence
indicates how reliably the loss event is expected to occure. In
the case of events that recur over time, the company works with
the frequency with which they occur. The assessment first takes
place without measures to limit risk being c onsidered (gross
risks, see Section «Risks»). Subsequently, the risks are assessed
after risk-minimizing measures are initiated or implemented
(net risks, see Section «Risks»).

Dealing with risk
Starting from the risk analysis, appropriate countermeasures
for dealing with risk are specified in line with corporate strategy
and economic aspects. The strategies for managing risk include:
controlling, insuring, minimizing, eliminating, and passing on.
The risk officers have the task of specifying and implementing
countermeasures to manage risks in the respective division
affected.

Risk monitoring
The risk manager monitors the effectiveness of risk management continuously. Risks are also monitored separately by
Internal Audit.
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Compliance management system
Compliance covers compliance with all Munich Airport-related
laws, specifications, and regulations, national and international
rules and standards, as well as in-house rules and guidelines.
Munich Airport has established a Group-wide compliance
management system, which encompasses all organizational
provisions ensuring compliance with the aforementioned rules.
The Compliance department submits reports on the current
status of the compliance management system to the Executive
Board on a regular basis and to the Supervisory Board on an
annual basis.
Compliance risks are also communicated as part of the risk
reporting to the Executive Board and shareholders if internal
thresholds are exceeded. Regular dialog takes place between
Risk Management and Compliance.

Identifying and minimizing compliance risks
The Compliance department prepares the compliance risk
analysis with input from the divisions and combines it with the
subsidiaries’ compliance risk analyses every year.
Compliance risks are assessed in the same way as the risk
management process. Once the compliance risk analysis has
been carried out, the Executive Board is notified of the results
in a report. The compliance risk analysis was validated in 2018
by an external consultant.
The annual Compliance report to the Supervisory Board of FMG
also includes the results of the compliance risk report. If there
is an elevated loss potential and concomitant high likelihood of
occurrence despite all the countermeasures taken, a detailed
description is provided in the report.
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In respect of 2018, there were no elevated compliance risks after
the countermeasures taken were considered.

Preventing corruption
The compliance guidelines and the guidelines covering gifts
and invitations support managers and employees in ensuring
legally compliant and ethical behavior at the workplace. They
are published on the Intranet and are therefore available to
all employees. The guidelines also reference other guidelines
with which employees must comply, thus for example ensuring compliance with public procurement law with regard to
procurement and contracting processes, data protection,
and information security. These ensure that processes and
procedures are transparent and traceable, both internally and
externally. In contracting and tendering procedures, Munich
Airport requires bidders to submit a declaration of commitment
stating that they will undertake everything necessary to preclude
corruption. Compliance failures are liable to sanctions, such as
exclusion from the contracting process.

In 2018, some 45 managers of the Munich Airport Group took
part in the three-hour training module on compliance as part
of the Leadership Excellence Program. In addition to the legal
fundamentals and the responsibilities of managers, this also
covers Munich Airport Group’s specific guidelines on compliance
and the prevention of corruption. A total of 524 people have
received training since the module started at the end of 2013.
Participation in compliance training is documented.
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board deal with compliance
issues at regular intervals.

Electronic whistle-blower system

The position of anti-corruption officer is exercised by the head
of the Compliance department. There were no confirmed cases
of corruption in 2018.

Through an electronic whistle-blower system, the Business
Keeper Monitoring System (BKMS®), Group employees, business
partners, and customers can report behavior potentially damaging to our organization. People inside the Group and outside
can also contact the Compliance department by other means of
communication (telephone, e-mail, face-to-face discussions)
if they wish to draw attention to compliance infringements and
need advice. Tender documents inform potential bidders of the
possibility of using the BKMS® should compliance infringements
be suspected.

Communication and training

Data protection

A key task of the Compliance department is to train and advise
employees and managers in compliance matters as a preventative measure to stop compliance breaches from occurring.

Munich Airport has initiated comprehensive measures in order
to comply with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)
which came into effect on May 25, 2018 and with the new
Federal Data Protection Act. The project to implement GDPR
Group-wide was implemented according to plan, with individual
subsidiaries handling the topic independently. Compliance with
data protection is a line task from now on. Responsibility for
it lies decentrally with the individual technical departments or
subsidiaries for their processes.

Group compliance regularly provides training and publishes
information to ensure that all employees and managers are
familiar with the guidelines and any updates or amendments to
them. Every year they must provide their signature to confirm
that they have read the compliance documentation.
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Overview of gross risks

The risk assessment relates to the economic impact in the
assessment period quoted. As at December 31, 2018, the following material gross risks were identified for Munich Airport: Fig. 26

High
From €30 million

¬ Terror at the airport
¬ Aviation accidents
¬ Natural disasters
¬ Fulfillment of security tasks
¬ Products used for de-icing
¬ Loss of/adverse impact on
hub

Medium
From €6 million

Risks that could have a material influence on the business activity
or on the net assets, financial position, and results of operations
as well as the reputation of Munich Airport are explained below.
In each case, the risks are shown before (overview gross risks)
and after consideration of suitable countermeasures (overview
net risks).

Financial liabilities

Risks

Very low
(5–10%)
Not 1x in 3 years
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¬ Third runway

Very high
From €150 million

¬ Attack on air traffic
¬ Large fire

Where required, the Group companies have appointed data
protection officers with consultancy and monitoring tasks in
accordance with the GDPR. The data protection officer of FMG is
simultaneously the data protection officer for most s ubsidiaries.
He is also assigned organizationally to the Compliance department but conducts his job independently and reports directly
to the Executive Board. The Compliance department has
furthermore built up additional know-how with respect to data
protection consulting in the Group.
There were no known instances of complaints regarding
breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer data.

Fig. 26

¬ Change in national and
EU-wide security
requirements
¬ Failure to pass an EU safety
inspection

¬ Reorganization of ground
handling

¬ Market slump from
epidemics/illness
¬ Water damage
¬ IT failure
¬ Personnel procurement/
recruitment

¬ Utilities and waste disposal
facilities
¬ Economic cycle
¬ Interest rate risk

Low
From €1 million

An awareness campaign with face to face and online training
courses for the Group employees as well as further, ongoing
training measures for managers and employees in data privacy
law and data security have contributed to the sensitization process. Specialized, individual advice is also available in instances
where people are unsure how to comply properly with data
protection regulations.

Low
(>10–25%)
1x in 3 years

Medium
(>25–50%)
1x in 2 years

Likelihood of occurrence
/frequency

High
(>50%)
1x within one year
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Risks resulting from force majeure
Risk

Description and analysis

Countermeasure(s)

Natural disasters

A breach of the Isar dams near Freising caused by heavy rain could lead to the terminals being flooded.

Gradual upgrading of the Isar dams by the water authority. They have already been partially renovated. Insurance to
cover earthquakes, storms, hail, and flooding has been arranged.

Attack on air traffic

The risk of terrorist attacks on air traffic remains high. In addition to bodily injury and property damage, this would
result, at least temporarily, in a decrease in the number of aircraft movements and passengers.

To avert a terrorist attack, Group security is taking strategic, operative as well as technical & organizational measures:
Provision of sufficient and well-trained personnel resources, construction measures to guarantee modern and
approved security technology and infrastructure, monitoring of service quality through sustainable quality measures
and through constant exchange with the responsible security authorities. Bodily injury and property damage as well as
interruptions of operations are insured.

Terror at the airport

Acts of terror on the airport campus can result in bodily injury and property damage. A further consequence of such
events would be, at least temporarily, a decrease in the number of aircraft movements and passengers.

To avert a terrorist attack, Group security is taking strategic, operative as well as technical & organizational measures:
Provision of sufficient and well-trained personnel resources, construction measures to guarantee modern and
approved security technology and infrastructure, monitoring of service quality through sustainable quality measures
and through constant exchange with the responsible security authorities. Bodily injury and property damage as well as
interruptions of operations are insured.

Fulfillment of security
tasks

The airline companies are responsible for security tasks in transferred areas. In these areas, airline companies fulfill At present, a subsidiary of FMG is responsible for operational security tasks in the transferred areas; its services
the same task as airport operators but are not subject to the same supervisory authority. For Munich Airport, there is rendered are subject to regular monitoring by FMG. Furthermore, there follows a mutual, intensive exchange with the
a risk that inspections will reveal defects in transferred areas and the airport as a whole will lose its security status
responsible government and supervisory authorities.
as a result.
Defective controls could lead to property damage and bodily injury as well as reputational damage.

Market slump from
epidemics/illness

Epidemic/sickness outbreaks can result in market downturns with reduced aircraft movements and passenger
numbers.

Due to a relatively high fixed cost ratio, Munich Airport’s ability to react to market downturns is limited.

Large fire

In the event of damage to or destruction of terminals or infrastructure systems caused by a large fire, property
damage and bodily injury, as well as long-term interruptions of operations are to be expected.

To minimize the risk of a large fire, Munich Airport takes all required preventive and defensive fire protection
measures, and has its own Airport Rescue and Firefighting unit. The risk of a large fire is additionally minimized by a
fire insurance policy (property and interruption of operations insurance) and public liability insurance (liability claims of
third parties). After taking the countermeasures into consideration, the net risk is below the risk tolerance limit.

Aviation accidents

Aviation accidents or damage to aircraft can result in bodily injury and property damage as well as interruptions of
operations, and consequential damage.

To minimize the risk, Munich Airport maintains an Airport Rescue and Firefighting service, a medical service, and
a counseling team. The risk of aviation accidents is minimized through liability insurance and fully comprehensive
insurance. After taking the countermeasures into consideration, the net risk is below the risk tolerance limit.

Risk

Description and analysis

Countermeasure(s)

Loss of/adverse impact
on hub

If Deutsche Lufthansa amends its strategy of operating Munich Airport as a hub, this would result in dramatic falls in Munich Airport’s collaboration with Deutsche Lufthansa is based on joint investments and long-term cooperation
the number of passengers and aircraft movements.
agreements.
In 2018, Deutsche Lufthansa further expanded its offering of flights in Munich. The hub was expanded in 2018 and
the quality of Munich Airport as a hub was enhanced through the basing of five Airbus A380s here, the use of four
additional aircraft from the Airbus A320 family for medium-haul routes, and the fleet renewal with modern long-haul
Airbus A350 jets. The risk of the loss or impairment of the hub is therefore categorized as very low.

Economic cycle

As a consequence of a weak economy, the growth parameters assumed in the planning process cannot be achieved,
which has an adverse impact on profits.
During more significant economic crises, a collapse in loan finance markets may occur.
Increasingly protectionist political tendencies could prove a burden to global trade in general, but also to European-US
trade and thus to the transatlantic aviation market. This could result in growth-inhibiting effects for Munich Airport.
Brexit is fraught with risks for economic development not just in Great Britain but in the EU also, and requires further
observation.
A no-deal Brexit would also mean the departure of Great Britain from the European Common Aviation Area (ECAA).
Due to the changes in aviation rights, this would have profound consequences for the structures in the European
aviation market and could temporarily inhibit development in the aviation market.

Market risks

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

Reducing expenses through cost monitoring, if necessary reducing staff numbers in a socially responsible manner
plus a short-term cut in the investment budget in non-critical divisions aim to mitigate the consequences of
economic slowdowns.
There are revolving credit lines to ensure the company is solvent.
The European Commission submitted a proposal in December 2018, which provided for a freezing of the current
traffic volume between Great Britain and the EU-27 for a transitional period of twelve months in the event of a
disorderly Brexit.

Group management report
Outlook, risks, and opportunities report

27

In addition to the risks represented in the risk matrix, there was also a risk
in the previous year referred to as «Commercial difficulties of airlines». With
the insolvency of Air Berlin and Niki in fiscal year 2017, Munich Airport lost
important customers. Within the shortest space of time, it proved possible
for other airlines, including Lufthansa and Eurowings, to compensate for

the hole created by this loss through strong demand in domestic German
and tourist traffic. With the exception of Lufthansa, none of the airlines
operating at Munich Airport extended into the traffic share of Air Berlin,
meaning that there is currently no financial risk of further default and the
risk has been removed from the risk reporting in 2018.

Operating risks
Risk

Description and analysis

Countermeasure(s)

IT failure

Damage to the IT system can result from fire, water ingress, or sabotage. Failure of IT for traffic operations with the
corresponding interruptions of operations would be the consequence.
Constant, new technological developments and the worldwide increasing risk of cyber attacks are also leading to risks
in relation to the security of IT systems and networks as well as data security. In the area of cyber criminality, an
increasing, abstract risk potential exists that requires constant observation and assessment.
Failure of IT for traffic operations can lead to interruptions in operations. This would result in financial losses and
reputational damage.

Critical corporate IT systems are fully redundant with systems located in physically separate locations. Property
damage and interruptions of operations are insured.
To avert a cyber crime attack at Munich Airport, a central information security management has been in place since
2004, which defines and monitors strategic, technical, and organizational measures to defend against cyber attacks.
The awareness of cyber risks is increased through training courses for managers and employees. In addition, Munich
Airport opened a center of competence to counter cyber criminality in 2018 (Information Security Hub). Here the
airport’s IT specialists work together with experienced IT security companies under realistic conditions on various risk
scenarios and test new methods for combating cyber criminality.
The risk is additionally minimized through insurance. After taking the countermeasures into consideration, the net risk
is below the risk tolerance limit.

Water damage

Water damage caused by a break in the main drinking water or fire extinguishing water pipelines could lead to the
failure of infrastructure systems important for air traffic.

Remotely controlled emergency shut-off equipment and additional protective devices in the pipeline connections limit
the possible damage. Property damage and interruptions of operations are insured. After taking the countermeasures
into consideration, the net risk is below the risk tolerance limit.

Change in national
and EU-wide security
requirements (formerly
expansion of EU security
requirements)

Munich Airport is subject to national and EU-wide aviation security requirements encompassing the topics of airport
security, air passenger and hand luggage checks, airfreight, airmail and goods controls, among others. Security
requirements are adjusted continuously to the current circumstances. This can give rise to procedural and also
infrastructural changes for Munich Airport. Corresponding financial burdens would then follow.

Munich Airport attempts to minimize these consequences through work in associations and on committees. Early
information relating to ongoing legislative procedures ensures the timely implementation of security regulations.
Additional expenses caused by infrastructural changes are dealt with in the master agreement on charges.

Failure to pass an EU
safety inspection

The EU’s aviation authorities conduct safety inspections at airports. Should it fail to comply with a safety standard
and subsequently fail the follow-up audit, Munich Airport can lose its «Clean» status. The consequences would be
a heightening of the safety regulations, considerable obstruction with operational processes, competitive disadvantages, and a loss of image.

Munich Airport conducts thorough and strict quality controls to manage the quality of all safety aspects at the airport.

Utilities and waste
disposal facilities

The inadequate availability of substances necessary for operating activities, such as electricity, heat, cooling energy,
drinking and extinguishing water, waste water, and waste, may result in property damage and interruptions of
operations.

The service and maintenance programs, network redundancies, and storage reduce the risk of gaps in supply. Property damage and interruptions of operations are insured. After taking the countermeasures into consideration, the net
risk is below the risk tolerance limit.

Reorganization of ground The success of the reorganization of the former Ground Handling business unit could be put at risk by the following
handling
uncertainties and circumstances: sustained reductions in traffic from existing customers, ground handling losses due
to the transfer of part fleets to third parties, aggressive pricing policies of competitors and increasing price decline at
Munich Airport.
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In the negotiations to extend the long-term contract with an important customer of AeroGround, a new contract was
concluded at the end of 2016. As a result, associated collective restructuring agreements could be extended.
To compensate for declining ground handling volumes, talks with potential new customers are ongoing. In the event
of a loss of ground handling, capacities and associated costs will fall. Constant controlling and reporting of the
renovation progress or renovation path.
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Operating risks
Risk

Description and analysis

Countermeasure(s)

Personnel procurement/ Personnel procurement is proving increasingly difficult in the various professional groups. This is caused by, among
recruitment
other things, the overstretched labor market in the region, the high costs of accommodation, the increasing age of
workforce, the high fluctuation in the area of ground handling service.
This could lead to a qualitative deterioration or delay in the performance of services and to breaches of contract for
ground handling services.

To counteract this, a working group was installed. The aim of this group is to develop a Group-wide coordinated
approach as well as target-group-specific HR marketing and procurement concepts.
Further measures include the intensification of training activities, the promotion of marketing at universities, and a
presence at trade fairs and job fairs. In addition, projects were initiated to procure affordable living space for Group
employees.
After taking the countermeasures into consideration, the net risk is below the risk tolerance limit.

Drones

In addition to the operational risks represented in the risk matrix, there is a risk, arising from the increasing number
of drones in the sky, that drones can enter into the controlled space of Munich Airport without authorization, and
disrupt or endanger flight operations.
In 2017 with the regulation concerning the operation of unmanned aircraft, the Federal Government adopted
tightened rules for the use of drones, including the obligation to register aircraft and a ban on operation within
the controlled space of airports. In addition, the European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) elaborated a draft law on
harmonizing the regulations governing drone operation in the EU. This requires, inter alia, that drones with defined
characteristics to be registered in national databases so that they can be precisely traced to their operators. In
2018, the European Parliament issued its consent. The law is scheduled to come into effect in 2019.

Together with the airport associations ADV, ACI, and the German Aviation Association (BDL), Munich Airport is
working on a harmonized regulation for drone traffic at national and European level. In addition, the Aviation and
Group security divisions are working on a study on the topic of drone protection, with the objective of obtaining
manufacturer-independent valuations of the technologies available on the market for the selection of drone detection
systems. The gross risk here is under the risk tolerance limit and is therefore not represented in the risk matrix.

Third runway

As a result of the postponement of the decision to realize the third runway project, all previously incurred planning
and land acquisition costs must be checked in respect of their recoverability and depreciated if necessary.
The consequences arising from the current moratorium were recognized in the balance sheet.
There could be a significant loss of corporate value unless capacity is expanded through the construction of the third
runway. This will be influenced primarily by a stagnation of or a decline in traffic volumes and the associated lower
revenues in the Aviation and Non-Aviation divisions.
The expansion project will have to be discussed further after the current legislative period and a decision as to the
further procedure will have to be made.

The legal confirmation of the planning approval notice by the Bavarian Higher Administrative Court (BayVGH) of
February 19, 2014, and in the following year by the German Federal Administrative Court was an important milestone
with respect to the limitation of the legal risks for the project realization.
As further countermeasures, the diversification of the product range and the expansion of international business are
planned.
Despite the moratorium, Munich Airport is holding firm on its future project.

Products used for
de-icing

There is a suspicion that the formates in the products currently used for de-icing paved areas and runways accelerate
the oxidation of aircraft brakes. There are discussions about banning formate de-icing products ongoing at the SAE
(Society of Automobile Engineers) international standardization committee. As an alternative, there are currently
only glycol-based de-icers on the market, the use of which is not permitted at Munich Airport by the Ministry of the
Environment. If they are banned, Munich Airport would have to invest substantial sums in the waste water systems to
comply with the requirements of water management legislation.

The German passenger airports within the ADV and BDL associations are together opposing the ban on formate-based
de-icers. They are also aiming to influence the SAE via ACI Europe.
In discussions with the Bavarian water management authorities, ACI Europe, and the responsible SAE working group,
it was shown that as little de-icer as possible is used in order to minimize the environmental impact. In addition, the
products used for de-icing paved areas and runways at Munich Airport are published in the Notice to Airmen (NOTAM).
The manufacturers of the de-icer are to be involved in the future in order to find a solution to this problem.

EU General Data
Protection Regulation

In addition to the legal risks listed in the risk matrix, there are also risks in connection with the EU General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR) which came into effect in 2018. The GDPR expands the existing obligations arising
from the Federal Data Protection Act (BDSG) and increases the legal, operational, and technical/organizational
requirements for data protection. An infringement of these rights and obligations could incur high fines, claims for
damages, reprimands, and reputational damage.
Currently, there are questions being raised at Munich Airport in connection with the use of video surveillance through
the CCTV system (Closed Circuit Television).

At Munich Airport, the project to implement the requirements of GDPR has been successfully completed. As part of
this, organizational structures and processes, as well as the documentation of same were adjusted and the awareness
of data protection was raised within the Group.
In particular, as countermeasures for data protection risks arising from CCTV the following measures were taken:
Role use concept, new signage indicating the video surveillance, re-negotiation of the works agreement on CCTV.
The gross risk here is under the risk tolerance limit set by FMG and is therefore not represented in the risk matrix.
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As is customary in the normal course of business, Munich Airport is faced with various legal disputes. These can lead, in
particular, to the payment of compensation claims or, in the
case of construction projects, to changes in the remuneration
of services. Moreover, other legal disputes can be initiated and
existing legal disputes can be expanded. Apart from matters for
which provisions have already been made in the balance sheet,
Munich Airport is not currently anticipating any material negative
impacts for the net assets, financial position, and operating
results from other known cases at the present time.
As part of the planned establishment of foreign subsidiaries
in the area of operation and consulting other airports and
terminals, risks can arise from the first time assumption of
operational responsibility abroad. In particular, airport operator
projects are subject, just as at the Munich location itself, to
general economic and company-specific risks. In order to reduce
these risks, Munich Airport cooperates with local partners who
have a great deal of experience with respect to the respective
country-specific conditions and circumstances. In order to
counteract liability risks in particular, local companies will be
established in 2019 for the beginning projects.
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Tax (operational) audits by the tax authorities are also considered a general risk.
With the exception of the interest rate risks, the expected financial liabilities for the listed gross financial risks were under the
reporting limit as at December 31, 2018. Therefore they were not
included in the risk reporting.

Financial risks
Risk

Description and analysis

Currency risks

Currency risks arise insofar as planned sales in foreign
Munich Airport hedges currency risks using currency
currencies are not balanced by any corresponding expenses forwards.
or outgoings in the same currency.

Countermeasure(s)

Credit and credit
rating risks

Credit and credit rating risks primarily arise from short-term Deposits are (generally) only made with (German) banks with
deposits as well as trade receivables.
deposit protection.
The management of credit risks includes the constant
monitoring of debtors’ creditworthiness, overdue invoices, and
stringent collections management. Dependent on the credit
rating, certain services are only performed against prepayment or provision of collateral in the form of guarantees.

Interest rate risks

Interest-rate risks largely arise from floating-rate financial Interest-rate risks from floating-rate financial liabilities
liabilities from loans and financial liabilities to shareholders. from loans are countered by Munich Airport by hedging with
interest rate swaps.
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After considering countermeasures, the following nets risks
remain: Fig. 27

Overview of net risks

Fig. 27

¬ Third runway

High
From €30 million

¬ Change in national and
EU-wide security
requirements

¬ Reorganization of ground
handling

¬ Market slump from
epidemics/illness

¬ Economic cycle
¬ Interest rate risk

Medium
From €6 million

¬ Terror at the airport
¬ Natural disasters
¬ Fulfillment of security tasks
¬ Products used for de-icing
¬ Failure to pass an EU safety
inspection
¬ Loss of/adverse impact on
hub

Low
From €1 million

Financial liabilities

Very high
From €150 million

¬ Attack on air traffic

Very low
(5–10%)
Not 1x in 3 years

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

Low
(>10–25%)
1x in 3 years

Medium
(>25–50%)
1x in 2 years

Likelihood of occurrence
/frequency

High
(>50%)
1x within one year
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Overview of opportunities

Fig. 28

Very high
From €150 million

The divisions and investments identify, assess, and manage
opportunities on a decentralized basis with support from
Corporate Development, Corporate Controlling, and Investment
Management.
The report shows below the developments and events that could
lead to a positive deviation from planning. The presentation is
based on the risk report with the difference that the horizontal
axis shows the time of occurrence – that is the time until opportunities are expected to occur – and not the frequency with which
they occur. Opportunities are not mentioned more than once
where their influence remains constant in the period of time. In
the event of a changed economic advantage, multiple mentions
are made. The economic advantage takes effect in the short,
medium, long or very long term, and is considered periodically.

High
From €30 million

¬ CO2 strategy
¬ Digitalization

Fig. 28/29

¬ Hub development
¬ Digitalization

Medium
From €6 million

¬ Off-campus
¬ Real estate
¬ CO2 strategy
¬ Rail access

¬ Consumption
¬ Economic outlook
¬ Traffic

Low
From €1 million

Economic advantage

Opportunities

Very long-term
> 15 years

Long-term
From 5 years

Medium-term
From 1 year

Time of occurrence
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Short-term
From less than a year
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Opportunities

Fig. 29

Opportunities

Description and analysis

Consumption

Overcoming the current geopolitical and economic crises could lead to an increase in the propensity to
consume of passengers from regions outside Europe above the planned level.

Economic cycle

Global economic growth above planned levels could boost revenues further.

Traffic

An increase in air traffic growth above the expected level could increase revenues in all corporate divisions.

Hub development

The important partner airline, Deutsche Lufthansa could strengthen the expansion of the hub at the Munich
Airport location on the basis of a further improvement of its market position, which would lead to passenger
development exceeding the plans.

Digitalization

Munich Airport is pursuing a strategy of better adapting its business model to the structural change resulting
from digitalization. From this strategy, medium to very long-term growth effects could occur, which are not
completely taken into consideration in the previous plans.

Off-campus

The off-campus business of Munich Airport (services and retail) might develop better than expected, with
corresponding growth in the company results.

Real Estate

The innovative real estate concept being implemented within the framework of LabCampus, could lead to a
greater demand for real estate in the long term than assumed in the plan. This would result in an increase in
revenue in this and, potentially, in other business units.

CO₂ strategy

The continuing increase in efficiency in energy-saving technologies and an associated improvement in the
price-performance ratio of low emissions energy generation could lead to the costs of Munich Airport’s new
CO₂ strategy being lower than expected.

Rail access

Taking account of the current business plan, the opportunities
and risk situation has scarcely changed year on year. No new
risks were identified that might potentially have a critical impact
on income.
No risks were foreseeable from the Group-wide risk management
system or in the assessment of the Executive Board during the
current forecast period, which individually or in their entirety
could jeopardize the continued existence of Munich Airport.
Munich Airport points out that various known or unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors may lead to actual events, the
financial position, the business development or the performance
of the company deviating significantly from the estimates provided here.

Munich, April 11, 2019

Better than expected improvements to rail access could lead to an expansion in the passenger catchment area
and consequently to increased revenue in all business units.

Dr. Michael Kerkloh

Overall assessment of the opportunities and risk
situation
For Munich Airport as the second largest passenger airport in
Germany and one of the largest airports in Europe, it is important
to actively exploit any opportunities that arise and to improve
its position on the market still further through constant growth.
However, it is also a key objective of Munich Airport to recognize
risks in good time and to counter them systematically.

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

Andrea Gebbeken

Thomas Weyer

Accordingly, the currently anticipated impact of possible events
and developments is taken into consideration in business
planning every year. The reported opportunities and risks are
defined as potential deviations going beyond the forecast corporate result. Munich Airport consolidates and aggregates the
risks reported by the corporate divisions and Group companies,
and reports quarterly to the Executive Board and shareholders.
Opportunities are identified and managed with the involvement
of the corporate divisions, Corporate Development as well as
Corporate Controlling and Investment Management.
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Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
T€
Revenue¹

)

Disclosure

2018

2017

VI.1

1,508,817

1,468,735

-672

672

Changes in inventories and work in progress
Own work capitalized

VI.2

15,835

13,017

Other income

VI.3

29,731

30,368

Total income

1,553,711

1,512,792

Cost of materials

VI.4

-393,602

-398,988

Personnel expenses

VI.5

-507,713

-482,081

Other expenses

VI.6

-114,318

-111,736

538,078

519,987

-215,862

-217,617

322,216

302,370

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization
(EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortization

VI.7

Operating result (EBIT)
Interest result

VI.8

-84,257

-83,605

Other financial result

VI.8

-17,813

8,843

-102,070

-74,762

Financial result
Result from companies accounted for using the equity method

VII.4

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Income taxes
Group profit/loss for the year (EAT)
of which assignable to owners of the company
of which assignable to non-controlling interests

VI.9

1,173

1,632

221,319

229,240

-72,586

-70,440

148,733

158,800

148,732

158,800

1

0

¹) Due to the application of the cumulated retrospective method as part of the first-time application of IFRS 15, the previous year’s figures have not been adjusted.

Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated statement of profit or loss

34

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
T€

Disclosure

Group profit/loss for the year
Cash flow hedging
Deferred taxes not affecting profit or loss

Deferred taxes not affecting profit or loss
Items not to be reclassified to the statement of profit or loss
Other comprehensive income net of tax
Total comprehensive income
of which assignable to owners of the company
of which assignable to non-controlling interests

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

2017

148,733

158,800

VII.16

10,742

18,464

VII.6

-2,149

-3,691

8,593

14,773

VII.17

811

-314

VII.6

-225

88

586

-226

Items to be reclassified to the statement of profit or loss
Actuarial gains/losses

2018

9,179

14,547

157,912

173,347

157,911

173,347

1

0
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Consolidated statement of financial position
Assets
T€

Disclosure

Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2017

Intangible assets

VII.1

19,572

17,477

Property, plant, and equipment

VII.2

4,804,150

4,821,038

Investment property

VII.3

150,889

151,872

Investments in companies accounted for using the equity method

VII.4

3,657

4,116

Receivables¹

)

VII.5

3,539

53

Other financial assets

VII.5

183

290

Deferred tax assets

VII.6

4,864

4,148

Other assets¹

)

VII.9

Non-current assets

6,631

774

4,993,485

4,999,768

Inventories

VII.7

39,193

41,567

Receivables¹)

VII.8

76,057

86,545

VII.23

4,617

-

VII.8

0

202

4,899

5,496

Contract assets¹

)

Other financial assets
Current income tax assets
Other assets¹

)

VII.9

9,243

7,066

Short-term deposits

VII.10

209,446

158,000

Cash and cash equivalents

VII.10

Current assets
Assets held for sale
Assets

VII.11

12,377

6,625

355,832

305,501

1,495

1,015

5,350,812

5,306,284

¹) Due to the application of the cumulated retrospective method as part of the first-time application of IFRS 15, the previous year’s figures have not been adjusted.
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Equity and Liabilities
T€

Disclosure

Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2017

Subscribed capital

VII.12

306,776

306,776

Reserves

VII.12

151,353

150,767

Other equity

VII.12

1,754,388

1,628,698

Non-controlling interests
Equity

14

13

2,212,531

2,086,254

Financial liabilities from interests in partnerships

VII.14

346,058

315,375

Payables¹)

VII.15

12,365

12,498

Other financial liabilities

VII.15

1,314,692

1,393,047

Employee benefits

VII.17

50,864

50,163

Other provisions

VII.18

89,769

91,300

VII.6

427,140

435,540

Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities¹)

VII.20

Non-current liabilities
Payables¹)
Contract liabilities¹

VII.19
)

16,886

17,305

1,911,716

1,999,853

162,502

159,303

VII.23

2,045

-

Other financial liabilities

VII.19

640,442

677,649

Employee benefits

VII.17

43,485

40,887

Other provisions

VII.18

14,131

9,924

5,227

5,623

VII.20

12,675

11,416

880,507

904,802

5,350,812

5,306,284

Current income tax liabilities
Other liabilities¹)
Current liabilities
Equity and liabilities

¹) Due to the application of the cumulated retrospective method as part of the first-time application of IFRS 15, the previous year’s figures have not been adjusted.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Disclosure

Subscribed capital

T€
As of Dec. 31, 2016

Capital reserve

Revenue reserve

Other equity

Non-controlling
interests

Equity

306,776

102,258

48,735

1,485,125

13

1,942,907

Group profit/loss for the year

0

0

0

158,800

0

158,800

Other comprehensive income

0

0

-226

14,773

0

14,547

Total comprehensive income

0

0

-226

173,573

0

173,347

Distributions

0

0

0

-30,000

0

-30,000

Deconsolidation

0

0

0

0

0

0

Transactions with shareholders

0

0

0

-30,000

0

-30,000

Allocation to reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

Change in reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

VII.12

306,776

102,258

48,509

1,628,698

13

2,086,254

II.2

0

0

0

-1,635

0

-1,635

306,776

102,258

48,509

1,627,063

13

2,084,619

Group profit/loss for the year

0

0

0

148,732

1

148,733

Other comprehensive income

0

0

586

8,593

0

9,179

Total comprehensive income

0

0

586

157,325

1

157,912

Distributions

0

0

0

-30,000

0

-30,000

As of Dec. 31, 2017
Impact arising from first-time application of IFRS 9

VII.12

Reserves

As of Jan. 1, 2018

Transactions with shareholders
As of Dec. 31, 2018

Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated statement of changes in equity

VII.12

0

0

0

-30,000

0

-30,000

306,776

102,258

49,095

1,754,388

14

2,212,531
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Consolidated statement of cash flow

T€
Total comprehensive income
Deferred taxes not affecting profit or loss
Actuarial gains/losses

Disclosure

2018

2017

157,912

173,347

2,374

3,603

-811

314

Cash flow hedging

-10,742

-18,464

Group profit/loss for the year (EAT)

148,733

158,800

-1,173

-1,632

Income taxes

72,586

70,440

102,070

74,762

Operating result (EBIT)

322,216

302,370

Depreciation and amortization

215,862

217,617

Gains/losses from disposal of fixed assets

3,104

1,553

Increase/decrease in inventories

2,374

1,198

Increase/decrease in current receivables

10,487

-20,732

Increase/decrease in liabilities

3,234

-23,800

Increase/decrease in employee benefits

3,393

7,160

Increase/decrease in other provisions
Increase/decrease in other assets/liabilities not related to
investing and financing activities

4,451

-6,314

-12,950

7,019

Gross cash flow from operating activities

552,171

486,071

Net income taxes paid/received

-83,875

-104,150

Cash flow from operating activities

468,296

381,921

5,853

18,016

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets

404

590

Proceeds from sale of investment property

117

106

Proceeds from sale of owner-occupied property, plant,
and equipment
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Disclosure

Proceeds of distributions from associated companies
Payments for investments in owner-occupied property,
plant, and equipment

2018

2017

1,632

931

-191,146

-125,851

Payments for investments in intangible assets

-8,328

-7,279

Payments for investments in investment property

-5,174

-3,200

275

325

Interest received

Result from companies accounted for using the equity
method

Financial result

T€

Changes in connection with companies not fully
consolidated

96

Changes in short-term deposits
Cash flow from investing activities

-52,000

-146,000

-248,271

-262,362

Payments for distributions to shareholders

IX

-30,000

-30,000

Proceeds from borrowings

IX

13,200

33,184

Repayments of borrowings from banks

IX

-125,713

-69,175

Repayments of financial liabilities from interests in
partnerships

IX

-22,330

0

Cash flows from Group-wide cash management with
associates and shareholdings

IX

-572

-2,832

Interest paid (excluding borrowing costs for qualifying
assets)

IX

-43,942

-45,549

Payments for borrowing costs for qualifying assets

IX

-4,916

-4,596

Cash flow from financing activities

IX

-214,273

-118,968

Change in cash and cash equivalents

5,752

591

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

6,625

6,034

12,377

6,625

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
I. Company

II. A
 ccounting policies

This report comprises the consolidated financial statements of
Flughafen München GmbH, Munich (FMG). The companies included in
the consolidated financial statements of FMG are referred to below
as «Munich Airport» or the Group.

The principal accounting policies applied in these consolidated
financial statements are set out below. The policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented.

FMG and its subsidiaries operate the airport in Munich and the
associated ancillary lines of business.
The registered office of the company is located at Nordallee 25,
85326 Munich, Federal Republic of Germany. It is recorded in the
trade r egister of the District Court of Munich under number HRB 5448.
The shares of FMG are held by the Free State of Bavaria, the Federal
Republic of Germany, and the City of Munich.
FMG is the ultimate parent of all companies included in the consolidated financial statements.
As of December 31, 2018, the company has not issued any securities in
accordance with Article 2 (1)(1) of the German Securities Trading Act
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz – WpHG), which are traded on o
 rganized
markets in accordance with Article 2 (5) WpHG.
On April 11, 2019, the Executive Board of FMG authorized the
accompanying consolidated financial statements to be submitted
to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is responsible for
examination and approval of the consolidated financial statements.

The presentation currency is the euro. Unless otherwise stated, all
amounts are in thousands of euros (T€). Rounding errors may occur
for computational reasons.
The presentation currency corresponds to the functional currency.
The Group does not include any companies with different functional
currency.

1. Basis of preparation of the financial statements
Pursuant to Article 315e (3) of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB), FMG voluntarily prepares the consolidated financial statements in accordance with international
accounting standards. The company applies the International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS/IFRS) and interpretations (SIC/IFRIC)
published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and by the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the European Union. It also
observes the regulations of Article 315e (3) sentence 2 in conjunction
with (1) HGB.
The consolidated financial statements, with the exception of certain
items, such as financial assets available for sale, derivative financial
liabilities, hedged items, pensions, and similar obligations, have been
prepared according to the historical cost principle.
The consolidated statement of profit or loss is prepared using the
nature of expense method.
The fiscal year is the calendar year.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS is
based on judgments and estimates made by the Executive Board.
Judgements and estimates on accounting items of certain matters
may have material effect on the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, matters whose accounting
is based on judgements and estimates that have a material effect
on the financial statements are disclosed separately in Section V.

2. New or revised accounting regulations
a) New regulations applied for the first time
In fiscal year 2018 Munich Airport applied the following new accounting
regulations for the first time.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The new accounting standard IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
replaces the existing regulation of the IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and was applied for the first time on
January 1, 2018. Munich Airport decided to apply IFRS 9 using the
modified retrospective method. Consequently, there was no adjustment of the previous year.
IFRS 9 introduces new regulations for the classification and measurement of financial assets, new regulations for impairment of
financial instruments and hedge accounting.
Furthermore, the Group has applied consequential amendments
to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to the notes for fiscal
year 2018. The comparative information has not been restated
retrospectively.
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The first time application led to the following adjustment effects,
which were recognized directly in other equity:

Other equity

T€
As of Dec. 31, 2017
Recognition of expected credit losses
Modification of the financial liabilities from loans
Deferred taxes
As of Jan. 1, 2018

Impact arising
from first-time
application of
IFRS 9

The following tables present the classification and measurement
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities according to
IAS 39 and the transition to the new classification and measurement
categories to IFRS 9 as well as the respective carrying amounts as
of January  1, 2018:

Transition to the new classification and measurement categories according to IFRS 9

1,628,698
-211
-1,854
430

Disclosure

With respect to the principle-based approach of IFRS 9, all financial
instruments within the scope of the standard were assigned to one
of three measurement categories. Financial assets are classified
on the basis of the identification of the business model as well as
the review of the cash flow criterion «Solely Payments of Principal
and Interest». As under IAS 39, the option to voluntarily recognize
financial assets and financial liabilities through profit and loss was
not exercised.

Reclassification

Measurement

Carrying amount
Jan. 1, 2018
T€

IAS 39 – financial assets (non-current and current)
Loans and receivables

1,627,063

These adjustment effects result from the first-time application
of the expected credit loss model to financial assets and from the
measurement of financial liabilities with modified contractual terms.
The revised regulations for the classification and measurement of
financial assets do not result in any quantitative adjustment effects.
The revised regulations for financial liabilities stipulate that such
refinancings must be generally accounted for at the original effective
interest rate. The discounting of changed cash flows consequently
results in a leap in amortized costs recognized through profit or loss.
In the case of variable-rate financial liabilities with a fixed margin, the
effective interest rate was not retained during the contractual modifications under IAS 39, so there is an effect for the corresponding
loans in the context of the transition to IFRS 9.

Carrying amount
Dec. 31, 2017 New measurement
T€ category IFRS 9

Trade receivables

VII.8

Cash and cash equivalents

VII.10

Other receivables

VII.8 and VII.5

65,636 At amortized cost

-

-9

65,627

164,625 At amortized cost

-

-174

164,451

20,962 At amortized cost

-

-14

20,948

Financial assets available for sale
Primary financial assets

VII.5

No IFRS 9 financial
279 instrument

-

-

279

VII.8 and VII.5

At fair value through
213 profit or loss

-

-

213

Measurement

Carrying amount
Jan. 1, 2018
T€

Financial assets held for trading purposes
Derivative financial assets

Disclosure

Carrying amount
Dec. 31, 2017 New measurement
T€ category IFRS 9

Reclassification

IAS 39 – financial liabilities (non-current and current)
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Trade payables

VII.15 and VII.19

64,487 At amortized cost

-

-

64,487

Other payables

VII.15 and VII.19

107,315 At amortized cost

-

-

107,315

Financial liabilities resulting from interests in
partnerships
VII.14

315,375 At amortized cost

-

-

315,375

Borrowings to shareholders

VII.19

502,327 At amortized cost

-

-

502,327

Borrowings

VII.15 and VII.19

1,517,062 At amortized cost

-

1,854

1,518,916

Borrowings from finance leases¹)

VII.19

52 At amortized cost

-

-

52

-

-

51,255

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
(no IAS 39 measurement category)
Derivative financial liabilities

VII.15 and VII.19

No IFRS 9 measurement
51,255 category

)

¹ F
 inancial liabilities from finance leases are only to be accounted for according the categories with regard to derecognition. Otherwise, the general
accounting principles for financial liabilities from finance leases described in Section IV.8 are applied.
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IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 16 Leases

3. Corrections as per IAS 8

In fiscal year 2018, Munich Airport applied IFRS 15, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers for the first time. As a result, the IFRS
accounting guidelines were adjusted and professional accounting
principles developed in a project started in fiscal year 2016; in addition the required adjustments to the IT processes and IT systems
were completed.

IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidelines on leases, including IAS 17
Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a
Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases, and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

The tables below summarize the impact of the first time application
of IFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements:

Munich Airport decided to apply IFRS 15 using the cumulative
retrospective method, retroactively to January 1, 2018. Here,
the comparative values of the previous year were not adjusted in
the statement of financial position; instead they were reported in
accordance with IAS 18 and IAS 11. The analysis of the impacts
of the standard did not lead to any effects in the opening balance
of other equity arising from the first-time application. There were
however changes in presentation in the statement of financial
position and the statement of profit or loss. These changes are set
out under Section II Accounting policies, subsection 3 Corrections
as per IAS 8.
The changes pursue the objective that a company must provide
information that allows users of financial statements to assess the
type, level, time, and insecurity of revenue and cash flows from a
contract with a customer. The new items contractual assets and
contractual liabilities are reported in the statement of financial
position. The refund liabilities, newly defined as part of IFRS 15, are
reported under the balance sheet item, liabilities. The disclosures
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for revenues
have been extended qualitatively and quantitatively.

b) New regulations not yet applied
A number of new IFRS and IFRIC and changes and amendments to
existing IAS/IFRS standards and SIC/IFRIC interpretations were published up to the date of the preparation of these financial statements
whose first time application is not required or permitted until after
the reporting date. None of these is expected to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements of subsequent
periods, except the following:
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The standard must be applied for the first time to fiscal years starting
on or after January 1, 2019. The Group intends to apply IFRS 16 for
the first time on January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective
method. For this reason, the cumulative effect from the application
of IFRS 16 is recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance as
of January 1, 2019. As a result, the values of the previous years will
not be adjusted.

Impact of the change in the accounting methods

T€

Adjustments
under IFRS 15

Balance sheet
item applying
IFRS 15

Consolidated
statement of financial
position
Jan. 1, 2018
Inventories

41,567

-47

41,520

Receivables

86,545

-3,210

83,335

IFRS 16 introduces a uniform accounting model whereby leases must
be recognized in the lessee’s consolidated statement of financial
position. The lessee shall recognise a liability arising from the lease
that represents its obligation to make lease payments. In addition,
a right of use, representing the right to use the underlying asset,
must be capitalized.

Contractual assets

The lessor’s accounting is comparable to the current accounting
principles. Leases must still be classified as financing or operating
leases.

Liabilities

Munich Airport is currently assessing the impact of the application
of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements. The analysis
revealed that lease liabilities and the capitalization of right of use
assets would be recognized for the first time as of January 1, 2019
in the range from EUR 10.0 million to EUR 20.0 million.

Balance sheet
item applying
IAS 18

0

3,354

3,354

Assets

128,112

97

128,209

Liabilities

159,304

-1,043

158,261

0

2,349

2,349

11,416

-1,209

10,207

170,720

97

170,817

Balance sheet
item applying
IAS 18

Adjustments
under IFRS 15

Balance sheet
item applying
IFRS 15

Contractual liabilities
Other liabilities

Consolidated
statement of financial
position
Dec. 31, 2018
Inventories

39,361

-168

39,193

Receivables

80,506

-4,449

76,057

Contractual assets

0

4,617

4,617

Assets

119,867

0

119,867

Liabilities

163,850

-1,348

162,502

0

2,045

2,045

13,372

-697

12,675

177,222

0

177,222

Contractual liabilities
Other liabilities
Liabilities
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With the first-time application of IFRS 15 according to the cumulative retrospective method, there were changes in the statement
of financial position with the new items contractual assets, contractual liabilities, and refund liabilities. The refund liabilities are
reported under liabilities.
The impairment losses on receivables and contractual assets from
contracts with customers are recognized in other expenses separately from the impairment losses arising from other contracts.

III. Consolidation
1. Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all companies that are controlled directly or
indirectly by FMG.
An entity that draws variable returns from an investment has control
if it has decision-making power over the relevant activities of the
company and can use that decision-making power to influence the
variable returns.
The financial statements included in the consolidated financial
statements of FMG and its subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting date.
The accounting and measurement methods presented in Section IV
are used by all companies included in the consolidated financial
statements.

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the
financial statements of the parent company and of the subsidiaries
are combined by adding similar items.
Within the scope of capital consolidation, carrying values of the
interests of the parent company are offset against the pro-rata
shareholders’ equity attributable to the parent company.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries as well as the share of such shareholders in comprehensive
income are recorded and reported separately.
Intra-Group transactions, balances, expenses, and income as well as
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the consolidated companies are eliminated.
Transactions with shares in subsidiaries are accounted for as transaction between shareholders unless they result in the creation or loss
of control of the subsidiary.

a) Changes in the Group’s stake in subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s stake in subsidiaries that do no result in
a loss of control over the subsidiary are accounted for as equity
transaction. The carrying amounts of the interests held by the Group
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect changes
in ownership interests in the company. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly
in equity and attributed to the shareholders of the parent company.

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gains or loss associated
with deconsolidation is recognized through profit or loss.
All amounts recognized in other comprehensive income in connection
with this subsidiary are recognized as if the assets had been sold.
If the Group retains interests in the previous subsidiary, these are
recognized at the fair value at the time of the loss of control. The
subsequent measurement of the shares likewise takes place at fair
value, according to the subsequent degree of control according
to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Recognition, measurement and
classification or in accordance with the provisions for associated
companies or joint ventures.

b) Acquisition of subsidiaries
The acquisition of subsidiaries is recognized on the basis of the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in the event of a
business combination is measured at fair value. This is determined
from the balance of the fair values of the assets transferred at the
time of acquisition, the liabilities taken on, and the equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the company acquired.
The transaction costs associated with the business combination are
recognized through profit or loss when they occur.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The assets and liabilities acquired are measured at fair value. The
following exceptions apply:
∫∫ Deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities and assets or
liabilities associated with agreements for employee benefits are
recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes
or IAS 19 Employee Benefits; and
∫∫ Assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with this IFRS.
Goodwill constitutes the amount by which the total for the consideration transferred, the amount for all non-controlling interests in the
company acquired, and the fair value of the equity share, previously
held by the acquirer, in the company acquired (assuming there is any)
exceeds the balance of the fair values, as determined at the time
of acquisition, of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
taken on. If the difference is found to be negative – even following
another assessment – this will be recognized as income directly
through profit or loss.
If the consideration transferred contains an element of contingent
consideration, this will be measured at the fair value at the time of
acquisition. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration
within the valuation period of twelve months are corrected retrospectively and recorded against goodwill accordingly. Accounting
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for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that do not
constitute corrections during the valuation period will depend on
how the contingent consideration needs to be classed. If contingent
consideration relates to equity, there will be no subsequent valuation
on subsequent reporting dates; its fulfillment will be accounted for
as part of equity. Any other contingent consideration that falls within
the scope of IFRS 9 will be measured at fair value through profit or
loss on the subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9.
Contingent considerations not falling within the scope of IFRS 9 must
likewise be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

At the time of acquisition, investments in associates are measured at
cost. After initial recognition, the carrying amount of the investment is
increased or decreased to recognize the pro rata changes in the equity
of the associate on each reporting date. In the process, changes in
the associate’s equity are recognized in other comprehensive income.
Otherwise changes are recognized in profit or loss.
At each reporting date following the time of acquisition, an assessment
is carried out to determine if the carrying amount has exceeded the
recoverable amount and an impairment or reversal of an impairment
is necessary.

2. Associates
Associates are companies where FMG has the power to participate in
the financial and operating decision processes but does not control or
jointly control these decisions.
The basis of inclusion is the most recent financial statements of
the associate. When reporting dates differ, the associate or jointly
controlled entity must prepare interim financial statements. Should
this not be possible, financial statements with different reporting
date may be used in applying the equity method, unless the difference between the reporting dates is not more than three months.
In such cases, the associate’s financial statements are adjusted for
transactions and events with material effects that occurred between
the reporting dates.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between a fully-consolidated company and a company reported at equity are eliminated
in accordance with the percentage of ownership provided the assets
transferred have not already been impaired in the financial statements
of the associate.
The accounting and measurement methods presented in Section IV
are applied by associates included in the consolidated financial
statements.
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3. C omposition of the scope of consolidation
a) Subsidiaries
Apart from the parent company itself, FMG’s scope of consolidation comprises the following subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries
Name

Seat

aerogate München Gesellschaft für Luftverkehrsabfertigungen mbH¹)
AeroGround Flughafen München GmbH¹

)

AeroGround Berlin GmbH
Allresto Flughafen München Hotel und Gaststätten GmbH¹

)

CAP Flughafen München Sicherheits-GmbH
Cargogate Flughafen München Gesellschaft für Luftverkehrsabfertigungen mbH¹

)

Activities

Basis of consolidation

Share of capital in %
Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2017

Oberding

Passenger handling

Voting majority

100

100

Munich

Ground handling

Voting majority

100

100

Schönefeld

Ground handling

Voting majority

100

100

Munich

Catering and hotel

Voting majority

100

100

Freising

Security

Voting majority

100

100

Hallbergmoos

Cargo handling

Voting majority

100

100

eurotrade Flughafen München Handels-GmbH¹)

Munich

Retail trade

Voting majority

100

100

InfoGate Information Systems GmbH¹)

Freising

Information

Voting majority

100

100

)

60

60

60

60

Flughafen München Baugesellschaft mbH

Oberding

Client representation

Contract²

Terminal 2 Gesellschaft mbH & Co oHG¹)

Oberding

Terminal Operations

Contract²)

MAC Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG i.L.¹ ³

Grünwald

Real estate financing

Voting majority

94.9

94.9

Munich Airport International GmbH

Munich

International consulting business

Voting majority

100

100

LabCampus GmbH

Freising

Construction and marketing of real estate

Voting majority

100

0

Flughafen München Realisierungsgesellschaft mbH

Freising

Client representation

Voting majority

100

0

), )

)

¹ With respect to the publication of the financial statements, the exemption option under Section 264 (3) or Section 264b of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is used.
² ) The basis of consolidation will be explained in greater detail in Section V.1.
³ ) The company has been in liquidation since November 1, 2016.

LabCampus GmbH was established on February 20, 2018. Flughafen München Realisierungsgesellschaft mbH was established on
July 17, 2018. Both companies are wholly owned subsidiaries of FMG.

b) Associates and companies that are not included
The following companies are associates. They are recognized using the equity method:

Associates
Name

EFM – Gesellschaft für Enteisen und Flugzeug
schleppen am Flughafen München mbH
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Seat

Freising

Activities

De-icing and aircraft
pushback

Share of capital in %
Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2017

49

49
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The following subsidiaries and joint ventures are not included in the
consolidated financial statements:

Subsequent measurement of property, plant, and equipment is
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures which are not included in the consolidated financial statements
Name

Seat

Activities

Type

Share of capital in %

FMV – Flughafen München Versicherungsvermittlungsgesellschaft mbH

Freising

Insurance agents

SU¹)

100

100

)

0

100

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

HSD Flughafen GmbH

Berlin

Ground handling services

SU¹

MediCare Flughafen München Medizinisches Zentrum GmbH

Oberding

Medical services

JV²)

51

51

)

51

51

Munich AirportClinic GmbH

Oberding

Medical services

JV²

Radiologisches Diagnostikzentrum München Airport GmbH

Munich/
Airport

Medical services

JV²)

0

18.2

)

16.7

0

Flughafen Parken GmbH

Munich

Parking space rental

JV²

)

¹ SU = subsidiary
² ) JV = joint venture

Land and property are not depreciated. All other assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over their expected useful lives.
The Group uses the component approach to calculate depreciation
for buildings. Under this approach, the accumulated cost of the
building is disaggregated into components of different useful lives
and depreciated separately. The components determined for the
Group’s buildings are shell and façade, roofs, interior fittings, and
technical installations.
The following useful lives are applicable in the consolidated financial
statements:

Useful lives
The shares in Radiologisches Diagnostikzentrum München Airport GmbH were sold on September 27, 2018. With effect from
January 1, 2018, FMG acquired 16.7 percent of the shares in
Flughafen Parken GmbH.
HSD Flughafen GmbH was merged with AeroGround Berlin GmbH
retroactively to January 1, 2018.
As a result of the above-named companies not being included, consolidated revenue is reported as being less than 1 percent (2017: less
than 1 percent) lower.

IV. Accounting and measurement
methods

Shell and facade
Roofs

25-50 years
20 years

1. Property, plant, and equipment

Interior fittings and technical installations

25 years

Expenditures for the acquisition or production of non-current
t angible assets shall be recognized as property, plant, and equipment
if they are controlled by the Group, can be measured reliably and it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group.

Traffic areas

35 years

Initial recognition of property, plant, and equipment is at cost, comprising all costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The costs
of self-constructed assets include direct costs and proportionate
overheads.

Aviation equipment

10-20 years

Utilities and waste disposal systems

15-35 years

Repair and maintenance activities are expensed as incurred. Subsequent costs such as replacement or upgrade investments are
capitalized to the extent that they comply with the requirements for
recognition as a separate asset.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Buildings

Operating areas

15–25 years

Technical plants and machinery
Flight operation areas

Other plants and machinery

40 years

4-20 years

Operating equipment
Mobile equipment, operations, and ground handling

3-20 years

Furnishings and fixtures

2-14 years

Vehicle pool

6-10 years

Other operating equipment

3-10 years
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At the end of each reporting period, the Group analyses whether
the useful lives and expected residual values of property, plant, and
equipment are still adequate.
The carrying amounts are reviewed on each reporting date to see
whether there is any indication of impairment. If this is the case, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. If the recoverable
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the asset is impaired to the recoverable amount through
profit or loss.
Gains and losses from the disposal of non-current assets are determined through comparing sale proceeds to the carrying amounts.
They are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
under other income or expenses.

2. Intangible assets
a) Acquired intangible assets
Expenditures for the acquisition of non-current intangible assets
shall be recognized to the extent that they are controlled by the
Group, can be reliably measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group.
Acquisition costs comprise all expenditures necessary in order to
bring the asset to the condition for it to be capable of being operated.

b) I nternally generated intangible assets

3. Borrowing costs

Costs for internally generated intangible assets are capitalized as
soon as they have reached the development phase and the following
criteria are fulfilled:

Provided a substantial period of time passes prior to an asset’s
r eadiness for its intended use or sale (qualified assets), the borrowing
costs directly attributable to the acquisition or production of the
asset are capitalized.

∫∫ Technical feasibility
∫∫ Intention to bring to completion
∫∫ Suitability for utilization
∫∫ Documentation concerning the probability of future economic
benefits in the form of revenues or cost savings
∫∫ Availability of resources
∫∫ Reliable measurement of project expenditures
The internally generated intangible assets relate to special software
for airport operation. These internally generated intangible assets
are recognized at cost, which includes all directly attributable costs.
Expenditures that do not meet all requirements for recognition are
expensed as incurred. Development costs that have been expensed
are not capitalized in subsequent periods.
The useful life of internally generated intangible assets is determinable and amounts to three to seven years. Amortization uses the
straight-line method.

c) Emission rights
Subsequent measurement of intangible assets is at cost less any
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.
With the exception of emission rights, the useful lives of acquired
intangible assets are definite and are between three and ten years.
These intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method
over their useful lives.
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Emission rights are initially recognized at cost.
The useful life of emission rights is indefinite. Therefore, the carrying
amount of these rights is annually compared with the recoverable
amount and impaired if necessary.

Borrowing costs that can be capitalized comprise interest costs of
direct and indirect financing. They are derived from interest expense
determined according to the effective interest method.
Capitalization of borrowing costs begins with the commencement of
acquisition or production and ends with operational readiness.

4. Impairment test
At each reporting date, Munich Airport examines whether there are
indications that an asset may be impaired. If so, the Group e stimates
the recoverable amount for the assets and compares it with the
c arrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair
value less cost of disposal and the value in use. Value in use is the
present value of the cash flows that can be expected to be recovered
from the continued use of the assets in question. If the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the difference
is recognized as expense. With respect to the impairment of financial
assets, please refer to the corresponding details under Section IV.9.f.
Assets that can only generate cash flows in combination with other
assets are combined into cash-generating units. The aggregation
ends as soon as units are reached that generate cash flows which
are largely independent from other units.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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5. Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if the associated
carrying amount is to be realized through a sale transaction rather
than through continued utilization. The requirements for classification as available for sale are as follows:
∫∫ Possibility to sell in the present condition and at terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such assets
∫∫ Highly probable sale within a year’s time
Non-current assets held for sale are not depreciated. Subsequent
measurement is at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
valuation standard used to determine the impairment requirement
is the fair value less cost of disposal.

6. Assistance received from the government
Assistance received from the government is not recognized until
it is reasonably certain that Munich Airport will satisfy the conditions associated with the assistance and the assistance is actually
granted.
Assistance received from the government is to be recognized in the
consolidated income statement and in those periods when the Group
recognizes the corresponding expenses which the assistance from
the government is supposed to compensate. Specifically, assistance
from the government for which the main condition is the purchase,
construction, or some other procurement of non-current assets is
deducted in determining the carrying amount of the asset. The assistance is recognized on the basis of a reduced depreciable amount
over the life of the depreciable asset in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Assistance from the government paid as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of immediate financial
support associated with no future expenditure is recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which the
related entitlement arises.

7. Investment property
In contrast to owner-occupied property, investment property is not
used in the ordinary course of business, but solely to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation.
Investment property includes all land and buildings whose future use
has not yet been determined. In addition, the Group classifies all land
and buildings used by third parties which generate cash flows that
are independent of other airport operations as investment property.
For this reason, rented hangars, for example, are classified as
owner-occupied property, while leased administrative buildings are
classified as investment property.
Initial recognition of investment property is at cost, which includes
all costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The useful lives and methods of depreciation correspond to
the useful lives and methods of depreciation for owner-occupied
property.
As soon as investment property comes into operational utilization,
it is reclassified as property, plant, and equipment for own use.
Investment property is assigned to non-current assets held for sale
as soon as the requirements are fulfilled (see IV.5).

8. Leasing
All agreements that convey a right to use an asset for a period of time
in return for payment are leases.
If the lessor retains all substantial risks and rewards associated
with ownership of the leased object, the underlying agreement is an
operating lease. In this case, the leasing payment is recognized as
income or expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
If all substantial risks and rewards of ownership of the leased object
are transferred to the lessee, the underlying agreement is a finance
lease. In this case, the lessee recognizes the leased object and the
associated lease liability. The leased object is depreciated over the
shorter of useful life or the term of the lease. The lease payments
are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The repayment reduces the lease obligation, the
finance charge is expensed.

9. Financial instruments
a) Recognition and initial measurement
In general, financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Group becomes party to the contract. Regular
purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognized on the
trade date. Financial assets with the exception of derivative financial
instruments are recognized at the settlement date.
Financial instruments are measured at fair value on first recognition.
Insofar as financial instruments, are not classified «at fair value
through profit or loss», they are recognized at fair value including
transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue.
Trade receivables without significant financing components are
measured at the transaction price.
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b) Classification and subsequent measurement
Upon initial recognition, Munich Airport assigns financial instruments
to one of the measurement categories described below: «at amortized costs», «at fair value through other comprehensive income –
debt instrument», «at fair value through other comprehensive
income – equity instrument» as well as «at fair value through profit
or loss». The assignment of the financial assets to measurement
categories – with the exception of equity instruments – takes place
depending on the identified business model under which the assets
are held and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows. The
contractual terms of the financial assets must generate cash flows
at stipulated times, that represent «Solely Payments of Principal
and Interest».
Financial assets are assigned to the category «at amortized cost», if:
∫∫ these are held within a business model which objective is to hold
assets, and
∫∫ the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
and take place at specified times.
Financial assets are assigned to the category «at fair value through
other comprehensive income – debt instrument», if:
∫∫ these are held within a business model which objective is to hold
and sell assets, and
∫∫ the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
and take place at specified times.
All other financial assets, that are not classified as «at amortized
cost» or «at fair value through other comprehensive income – debt
instrument» as described above, must be measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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The business model is assessed at the portfolio level of the individual
financial assets and their objectives. The Group has currently identified the business models «Held-to-collect» as well as «Other» for
the financial instruments in its portfolio.
Financial assets in the «Held-to-collect» business model and thus in
the category «at amortized cost» are, in particular, trade receivables
as well as other receivables and assets. Furthermore, cash and cash
equivalents are also assigned to these categories. Cash and cash
equivalents include short-term, highly liquid financial investments,
which can be converted into cash amounts at any time and are subject to only insignificant fluctuation in value.

The financial assets available for sale are investments in subsidiaries
and joint ventures, which are not included in the scope of consolidation for reasons of immateriality.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not traded in an active market.
They are reported under current assets unless the maturity is in more
than twelve months after the reporting date.
Under IFRS 9, the contractual payments of principal and interest
must be assessed at individual instrument level, and based on the
following definitions:

Financial assessments of the «Other» business model and in the
category «at fair value through profit or loss» are exclusively financial
assets held for trading purposes within the meaning of derivatives
and original financial instruments.

∫∫ The term «principal» refers to the principal amount of the financial asset. The principal amount represents the fair value of the
financial instrument at the time of initial recognition. For current
assets, this regularly corresponds to the nominal amount.

Munich Airport assigned the measurement categories described
below under IAS 39 Financial Instruments.

∫∫ The term «interest» is defined as a consideration for the time
value of money and the assumed credit risk, as well as for other
fundamental costs of a basic lending arrangement (for example,
the liquidity risk and administrative costs). Financial assets are
not reclassified after their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for the managing of financial assets.
Reclassifications of the affected financial assets take place on the
first day of the first reporting period after the change of business
model and were not performed in the fiscal year ended.

Derivative financial instruments that are not part of a hedge
r elationship and non-derivative financial instruments acquired with
the intention of trading are measured at fair value through profit or
loss. They are presented as current assets or liabilities unless settlement is expected in more than twelve months after the reporting
date. Derivatives without a hedge relationship are presented as
current assets or liabilities.
All financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value are to be
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
They are presented as current liabilities unless redemption is
expected in more than twelve months after the reporting date.

Equity instruments are generally measured at fair value. On initial
recognition of an equity instrument which is not held for trading
purposes, Munich Airport can irrevocably determine to recognize
changes in fair value directly in other comprehensive income («at fair
value through other comprehensive income – equity instrument»).
This decision is made for each individual instrument.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The equity instruments in the portfolio are investments in
subsidiaries and joint ventures, which are not included in the scope
of consolidation for reasons of immateriality.
Financial liabilities are generally classified in the category «at amortized cost» independently of other criteria. If on initial recognition,
specific prerequisites are fulfilled, a different accounting treatment
may be applied. In addition to accounting at amortized cost, they
can also be recognized as at fair value through profit or loss. In this
process, derivatives must always be measured at fair value through
profit or loss; additionally it is possible to exercise the «at fair value
through profit or loss» option. Currently this option is not exercised.
For loan commitments issued, expected credit defaults must also be
determined if certain conditions are met.
Financial liabilities in the category «at amortized cost» are e ssentially
financial liabilities resulting from interests in partnerships, borrowings to shareholders, financial liabilities from loans as well as trade
payables and other payables.

c) Measurement categories
The subsequent measurement of financial assets is based on the
following measurement categories:
∫∫ «At fair value through profit or loss»: Profit and loss as well as
any interest income and dividends from financial assets that are
measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in the
statement of profit and loss.

∫∫ «At amortized cost»: Financial assets measured at amortized
costs are measured using the effective interest method. The
amortized costs are reduced by the value adjustments. Interest
income, foreign currency gains and losses as well as impairments
are recognized through profit or loss. Furthermore, gains and
losses occurring on derecognition are also to be recorded through
profit or loss.
∫∫ «At fair value through other comprehensive income – debt instruments»: Other debt instruments are measured at fair value. With
interest income calculated using the effective interest method,
foreign c urrency gains and losses as well as impairments are
recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Other net gains
and losses must be recognized in other comprehensive income.
On derecognition, aggregated gains and losses are reclassified
through profit or loss.
∫∫ «At fair value through other comprehensive income – equity
instrument»: Other equity instruments are measured at fair
value. Dividends, that do not clearly compensate for part of the
investment costs, are recognized in the statement of profit or
loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income and may not be reclassified in the statement of
profit and loss.
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities is based on the
following measurement categories:
∫∫ «At fair value through profit or loss»: Profit and loss as well as any
interest expenses from financial liabilities that are measured at
fair value through profit or loss are recognized in the statement of
profit or loss. With respect to derivatives designated as hedging
instruments, please also refer to Section IV.9.g.
∫∫ «At amortized cost»: Financial liabilities measured at amortized
costs are measured using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses, as well as foreign currency gains and losses are recognized through profit or loss. Furthermore, gains and losses occurring on derecognition are also recorded through profit or loss.
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The effective rate is the rate that is used to discount the expected cash
flows (including fees) over the expected life of a financial instrument
to its carrying amount at the time of determination. When calculating
interest income and expenses, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset (insofar as the
asset is not impaired) or the amortized costs of the financial liability.
For financial assets categorized as impaired after initial recognition,
the effective interest rate is calculated on the net carrying amount
of the financial asset. If the financial asset is subsequently no longer
categorized as impaired, the interest income is again calculated on
the basis of the gross carrying amount. In the event of changes in the
estimates, the originally calculated effective interest rate is adjusted
on an ongoing basis. A new effective interest rate is calculated for
substantial contractual loan modifications that result in the original
loans being derecognized and a new loan is being recognized. Where
the contractual terms of a loan are not substantially modified, the
existing liability is continued, retaining the original effective interest rate. The discounting of changed cash flows at the the original
effective interest rate results in a carrying amount adjustment to the
amortized costs that is recognized through profit or loss.
The treatment of fees depends on their nature. Fees charged for
services rendered are recognized immediately in profit or loss. All
other fees are treated as transaction costs (recognized in the initial
carrying amount and distributed using the effective interest method
to fixed-rate financial instruments or distributed on a straight-line
basis over the term in the case of floating-rate financial instruments).
Commitment fees are recognized as deferred expenses until the
loan is disbursed. If the loan disbursement is no longer expected, the
accumulated amount is immediately reversed through profit or loss.
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The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined by
discounting the future cash flows using the market interest rate and
other common financial methods. When they are initially recognized
under market-appropriate conditions, the fair value of derivatives is
in principle zero. Counterparty-specific credit risks are taken into
account when measuring derivative financial instruments.

f) Impairments – expected credit losses

d) Derecognition

With the exception of trade receivables and contractual assets¹ ) , the
impairment amount for all other financial instruments is determined
in accordance with the general impairment model (also referred to as
the «general approach») as well as the three stages below:

Financial assets are derecognized, when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the financial asset expire or the rights to receive
the contractual cash flows from a transaction, in which substantially
all risk and rewards of ownership, are transferred to a third party or
are neither transferred nor retained and no control exists over the
financial asset. Munich Airport does not enter into any transactions
that could lead to a complete or partial transfer of all material risk
and rewards.
Financial liabilities are derecognized, when the contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. Munich Airport also
derecognizes financial liabilities, when the contractual terms have
been adjusted and the cash flows differ materially from one another.
In this case, a new financial liability based on the changed conditions
is recognized at fair value. When derecognizing financial liabilities,
the difference between the former carrying amount and the paid
consideration (including non-cash assets or liabilities) is recorded
through profit or loss.

e) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the consolidated financial
statements if the requirements pursuant to Section 387 et seq of the
German Civil Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch – BGB) on the balance
sheet date are met and the Executive Board intends to settle on a
net basis or to release a financial asset and settle a financial liability
simultaneously and can actually do so.

Munich Airport recognizes expected credit losses for all financial
assets that are measured «at amortized cost». The amount of
loss recognized and the interest collected are determined using
the c alculation model and the assignment of the instrument to the
relevant stage.

Stage 1: All relevant financial instruments are initially assigned
to Stage 1. The present value of the expected losses from possible default events within the next twelve months («12-month
expected credit losses») after the reporting date must be recorded
as expenses. The interest income associated with the financial
instrument is calculated by multiplying the gross carrying amount
at the start of the period with the effective interest rate determined
at the time of receipt. Consequently, the effective interest method
is applied on the basis of the carrying amount prior to consideration
of the risk provision.
Stage 2: Financial instruments that demonstrate a significantly
increased credit risk compared to the time of receipt must be
assigned to Stage 2 of the impairment model. The impairment corresponds to the present value of the expected losses from possible
default events over the residual contractual term of the financial
instrument («lifetime expected credit losses»). The interest income
is calculated analogously to Stage 1.
Stage 3: If, in addition to a significantly increased credit risk, objective evidence of an impairment of the financial instrument are also
evident, the impairment continues to be measured on the basis of the
present value of the expected losses from possible default events

over the residual contractual term of the financial instrument («lifetime expected credit loss»). However, in contrast to Stages 1 and 2,
interest income is received on the basis of the net carrying amount,
this means the gross carrying amount less the risk provision taking
into consideration the original effective interest rate.
Cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and assets as well
as loan commitments are subject to the impairment requirements
according to the general approach. The (net) carrying amount of
these financial instruments represents, in each case, the maximum
credit risk.
To determine a significantly increased credit risk compared to initial
recording, Munich Airport takes into consideration appropriate information that is available without excessive cost or effort.
Financial instruments, in the «general approach», are subject to a
significantly increased credit risk where there is a (relative) change
in the probability of default by more than 20%; however a significantly
increased credit risk is assumed no later than where a payment is
overdue for more than 30 days.
For cash and cash equivalents, the simplification for financial instruments with a low credit risk («low credit risk exemption») is used,
where possible, as at the balance sheet date. The assessment of a
low credit risk uses, for example, country- and borrower-specific
rating information and their outlook. The requirements for financial
instruments with a low credit risk are considered to be fulfilled for
cash and cash equivalents with at least an investment grade rating,
so that tracking of the credit risk for financial instruments with a low
credit risk is not required.
As credit commitments do not have a maturity structure, overdue
dates are not used either to identify a significantly increased credit
risk or in the case of objective evidence of an impairment.

¹ ) T he lease receivables that are likewise in the scope of application are not
included in the portfolio. Furthermore, the option to apply the simplified
approach for long-term trade receivables and contractual assets is used.
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For trade receivables and contractual assets, a «simplified
approach» is used to determine the impairment, which provides for
an impairment in the amount of the lifetime expected credit loss
over the residual term, independently of the credit quality. Consequently, a transfer to Stage 2 must be performed for these financial
instruments at least, or a transfer to Stage 3 in the case of objective
evidence of an impairment. The simplified approach is likewise used
for trade receivables and contract assets, which include a financing
component in accordance with IFRS 15, as well as for receivables
from leases. The (net) carrying amount of these instruments represents, in each case, the maximum credit risk.
At each reporting date, the financial instruments are examined
individually to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. If this is the case, Munich Airport performs an individual
assessment of the financial instruments. Objective evidence of an
impairment of a financial asset is deemed to exist if reliably measurable negative effect on future cash flows from the asset can be
determined.
Objective evidence of impairment is assumed to exist for cash and
cash equivalents, in addition to general qualitative indicators no later
than 90 days past due.
Objective evidence of impairment includes, for example, significant
financial difficulties on the part of the debtor, defaults or delays
in payment, a decrease in creditworthiness, insolvency or other
restructuring procedures on the part of the debtor.
If events occur in subsequent periods which indicate that future
cash flows from the financial asset will return to its original level
(for example, through an increase in creditworthiness), a reversal
of the impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
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To determine the expected credit losses and to evaluate the relative
change in default probability, Munich Airport uses credit default swap
spreads quoted on the market, which take into consideration forward-looking macroeconomic factors, and extrapolates the default
probability. Depending on the volume of business with debtors, an
individual assessment is performed for material positions; for positions that are immaterial in terms of the amount, an assessment is
performed using homogeneous portfolios, which represent the geographical and debtor-specific characteristics. If, for certain debtors,
no debtor-specific credit default swap spreads are available, they are
considered taking into account the geographic and industry-specific
characteristics.
The twelve-month expected credit losses and lifetime expected
credit losses are c alculated using credit default swap spreads quoted
on the market, which along with the default probability of the debtor
also include the loss given default. Where there is objective evidence
of an impairment, a separate evaluation of the expected loss, based
on the current market price and the original effective interest rate,
is performed as part of the individual assessment.
The calculation of expected credit losses for loan commitments is
based on the internally used credit spread, which is added to the
variable interest rate of the relevant cash pool commitments.
Munich Airport defines a default event, as the no longer existing
collectibility of financial instrument irrespective of the financial
instrument in question, so that the probability of default is 100 percent. In this case, the receipt of contractual cash flows are no longer
expected. At this point, a write-down of the portfolio is performed,
corrected by any collateral.

g) Derivatives in hedge relationships
The following accounting and measurement methods can only be
applied to derivatives that have been designated into highly effective
and adequately documented hedging relationships. All other derivatives are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Derivatives
in hedging relationships are recognized on the trade date. They are
measured on initial recognition and thereafter at fair value. Changes
in the fair value are recorded depending on the nature of the hedged
item and the hedging relationship.
Fair value hedge: Changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
and changes in the fair value of the hedged item with respect to the
hedged risk are recognized in profit or loss. The effective portion of
the change is presented under financial expenses or income and the
ineffective portion under other financial result, other gains (net) or
other losses (net).
When a fair value hedge ends, the measurement of the hedged item at
fair value is ended. For a financial instrument measured at amortized
cost, a new effective interest rate is determined on the basis of the
carrying amount as at the time the hedge ends and the still outstanding cash flows. The effective interest serves as the basis for
the subsequent measurement up to the disposal of the hedged item.
Cash flow hedge: The effective portion of the changes in fair value
of the hedging instrument is recognized directly in equity in the
hedging reserve, while the ineffective portion is recognized through
profit or loss under other financial result, other gains (net) or other
losses (net). The value changes recorded in the hedging reserve are
reclassified in the statement of profit or loss each time a payment
is made to compensate the effect of the hedged cash flows of the
hedged financial item.
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Even after termination of a cash flow hedge, the changes in fair value
accumulated to date remain in the hedging reserve until the hedged
transaction occurs. The value changes recorded in the hedging
reserve are reclassified in the statement of profit or loss each time
a payment is made to compensate for the impact on income arising
from the hedged cash flows of the hedged financial item.
At the inception of the hedge at the latest, the Group’s hedging relationships, risk management objectives and strategies relating to the
hedge are formally designated and documented. That documentation shall include the identification of the hedged item, the hedging
instrument, the nature of hedging relationship, and the objectives of
the hedging strategy and methods for effectiveness measurement.
Munich Airport monitors the prospective effectiveness of the hedging
relationship from the time it is entered into until its end.
Disclosures concerning the fair value of the derivatives in hedging
relationships can be found in Section VII.16, while disclosures concerning changes in the hedging reserve can be found in Section VII.12.
The full carrying amount of a derivative is classified as current or
non-current in accordance with the term of the associated hedged
item.

10. Inventories
The inventories are measured at the lower of cost or the net realizable
value. The method used to determine cost is the FIFO method.
The net realizable value is the selling price less estimated costs up
to sale.
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11. Receivables and contract assets
a) Trade receivables

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Trade receivables are recognized as soon as Munich Airport has
acquired a right to compensation for deliveries performed or services
rendered. They are presented under non-current assets provided
they are due in more than twelve months after the reporting date.
Otherwise they are presented among current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand deposits at banks.
As well as short-term deposits. It includes cash and deposits with an
original maturity up to three months. Deposits with original maturities
of more than three months are assigned to cash and cash equivalents
only if they are not subject to significant fluctuation in value and can
be liquidated at any time without risk discount. Otherwise they are
reported among short-term deposits.

Upon initial recognition, receivables are measured at the transaction
price and subsequently at amortized cost, taking impairment losses
into consideration.

13. O
 ther assets and prepaid expenses
Other assets are recognized, provided they are likely to result in an
inflow of economic benefit and can be reliably measured.

b) Contract assets
Contract assets are recognized as soon as Munich Airport has
acquired a conditional right to compensation for deliveries performed
or services rendered. They are reported under non-current assets
provided their realization is more than twelve months after the
reporting date. If their realization is in less than twelve months, they
are reported under current assets.
Upon initial recognition, contract assets are measured at the transaction price and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective
interest method less impairment losses.

Prepaid expenses are recognized when payments are made in the
reporting period that will result in expenses only in future periods.

14. Equity
a) Classification of equity and liabilities
Financial instruments issued by Munich Airport are classified as
equity or liabilities in accordance with the substance of the agreements, whereby all financial instruments on the liability side that are
not debt are classified as equity.

b) Partnerships
A reclassification of contract assets to receivables takes place if the
right to compensation is not linked to any further performance, and
payment depends only on the passage of time.

The scope of consilidation contains partnerships with non-controlling
interests. Interests in German partnerships are subject to a right of
termination which cannot be waived by the articles of association. The
partner who is withdrawing from the partnership may make a claim
for compensation from the other partners. This is why interests in
partnerships are classified as financial liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements, unless they are assignable to the owners of
the company. In these consolidated financial statements, they are
reported as «financial liabilities from interests in partnerships».
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The IFRS rules used to delimit these consolidated financial statements differ from the distinction between equity and liabilities
applicable in the German jurisdiction. In consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code,
non-controlling interests in partnerships would have to be classified
as consolidated equity.
On initial recognition, «financial liabilities from interests in partnerships» are measured at fair value, that is, the present value of the
expected compensation obligation with a risk-adequate interest rate
at the earliest possible termination date.
Subsequent measurement is based on the effective interest method.
The financial liability is compounded through profit or loss. Further
explanations can be found in Section V.2.

15. L iabilities and contract liabilities
a) Trade payables
Trade payables are recognized as soon as Munich Airport has a
contractual obligation arising from deliveries received or services
rendered. They are posted under non-current liabilities if they are due
in more than twelve months after the reporting date. If they fall due
in less than twelve months, they are posted under current liabilities.
A refund liability is reported under liabilities, when Munich Airport
receives a consideration from a customer and expects to refund
some or all of that consideration to the customer. A refund liability
is measured in the amount of the received consideration (or to be
received) to which the customer is entitled.

b) Contract liabilities
Contract liabilities are recognized as soon as Munich Airport has an
outstanding obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer, for
which Munich Airport has received or is yet to receive a consideration.
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Upon initial recognition, liabilities are measured at fair value. Subsequent measurement is at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Differences between the original amount and the amount to
be paid back at maturity are recognized through profit or loss over the
term of the relevant contract, using the effective interest method.

16. Current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities
The tax expense for the period includes current and deferred income
taxes. Income taxes are recognized in the statement of profit or loss
unless they relate to transactions recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, taxes are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
Current tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of the
tax rates and tax laws applicable to Munich Airport.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined for deductible and
taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the
assets and liabilities under applicable IFRS and their tax base on the
basis of a two-stage comparison of the balance sheet. Deferred tax
assets are also recognized for unused tax losses.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, unused
tax credits, and deductible temporary differences to the extent it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available for which they
can be utilized. Future taxable profit is determined on the basis of
individual business plans at the subsidiaries. The planning horizon
for examining whether tax relief from tax loss carryforwards can be
realized is a maximum of five years. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced by the extent to which it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. Write-ups
are performed if the probability of future taxable profit improves.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting
date and recognized to the extent to which it is probable that future
taxable profit will allow them to be utilized.
Deferred taxes and deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if
the temporary differences result from goodwill or from the initial
r ecognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities resulting from transactions that neither affected
accounting nor taxable profit.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
apply at the time when temporary differences reverse or tax loss
carryforwards are utilized. Tax rate changes or changes in tax law
are taken into account as soon as they are substantively enacted.
In Germany, this is the case with the approval of the Federal Council
(Bundesrat) on the adopted tax laws.
Deferred taxes are also recognized on temporary differences from
the elimination of intercompany profit or loss. Deferred taxes on
temporary differences between a subsidiary’s net assets and tax
base of its investment are not recognized if Munich Airport itself
can determine the date on which these temporary differences are
reversed and reversal is not expected in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are to be netted off if Munich Airport has acquired a legal enforcable right to offset current income
tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities
relate to the same tax authority. Deferred taxes from current items
and deferred taxes from non-current items are offset separately in
these consolidated financial statements. At Group level, netting is
only carried out to the extent that there is a possibility of offsetting
against income tax group.
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17. Obligations from employee benefits
a) Obligations from post-employment benefits
The consolidated financial statements contain defined benefit and
defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which a Group entity pays fixed contributions into a separate fund and will have no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further contributions (in particular no obligation to
make additional contributions in the event of underfunding of plan
assets). All other plans are defined benefit plans. Typically, a defined
benefit plan provides for the commitment of pension payments based
on age, length of employment, and remuneration.
Payments for defined contribution plans are expensed as services
are rendered by employees eligible for the post-employment benefits.
Munich Airport pays contributions to Deutsche Rentenversicherung
(a state plan) and to the supplementary welfare fund of the Bayerische
Versorgungskammer. There are no obligations beyond the payment of
contributions.
The Group recognizes provisions for obligations arising from defined
benefit plans. Measurement is calculated by making use of the projected unit credit method. This method reflects the actuarial present
value of all the entitlement already earned. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation considers expected salary and pension
increases and the life expectancy of the persons entitled to the plan.
The valuation of claims for health insurance benefits is based on
actuarial assumptions on future health care cost trends. Discount
rates are derived from the reporting date yield curves for high-quality
corporate bonds. Pension payments and health care costs are made
from operating cash flows. There are no plan assets.
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Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive
income.

b) Obligations from termination benefits
Provisions for termination benefits are recognized if Munich Airport is
required to terminate an employment relationship before retirement
age or to pay a several pay if an employee voluntarily leaves the company prematurely. Termination benefits are recognized when there
is a detailed formal plan which entitles employees to these benefits.
Top-up payments made in the course of a partial retirement agreement are accounted for in accordance with the principles for other
long-term employee benefits (see Section IV.17.c).

c) Obligations from other long-term employee
benefits
Other long-term employee benefits comprise provisions for jubilee
benefits, provisions for obligations under partial retirement agreements (outstanding settlement amount and top-up payments) and
other subsidized salary conversions.
The principles and methods for measurement of the obligation are
the same as presented in Section IV.17.a. Benefits paid in the course
of partial retirement agreements are covered by plan assets. The
present value of the liability is offset against the fair value of these
assets. Any asset surplus is shown under other assets.

18. Other provisions
Other provisions are recognized if there is an obligation to a third
party as a result of a past event and if the resource flow is probable
and the provisional economic obligation can be reliably estimated.
The obligation may be both legal and constructive in nature.
Where a single obligation is being measured, the individual most
likely outcome may be the best estimate. If provisions are made for
a large population of items, the best estimate may be the expected
value.
If the present value of an obligation deviates significantly from the
nominal amount, provisions are recognized at the present value of
the expected obligation. The risks inherent in the obligation are taken
into account in determining the expected outflow of resources, and
are discounted at a risk-free pre-tax rate.
Current obligations arising from onerous contracts are recognized as provisions. An onerous contract is deemed to exist when
Munich Airport is a contractual partner in a contract in which the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received under it.
At Group level, loan commitments result from the consideration of
subsidiaries and joint ventures that are not consolidated due to their
materiality. Subsidiaries and joint ventures are entitled to avail on a
committed loan amount at previously stipulated conditions. For these
loan commitments, the expected loan loss must be determined on the
basis of the possible payment obligation using the general approach.
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19. Revenue
The Group applies IFRS 15 using the cumulative retrospective
method, which is why the previous year’s information is not adjusted
and continues to be reported in accordance with IAS 18 and IAS 11.
The accounting principles according to IAS 18 and IAS 11 are detailed
separately, if they deviate from those of IFRS 15. The consequences
of the changes are detailed in Section II.3 Corrections as per IAS 8.
The revenue amount corresponds to the contractually agreed
consideration arising from contracts with customers, reduced by
the amount generated in the name of a third party, and taking into
consideration revenue reductions. Revenue is deemed to be realized
when the performance obligation is fullfilled or when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer.
In the comparison period, revenue was deemed to be realized when
the service was rendered or at the time risk was transferred and were
recognized on condition that an economic benefit was probable to
accrue and this could be reliably quantified.

a) Revenue from airport charges
The Munich Airport tarif regulation forms the legal basis for the
use and compensation for the operation and provision of airport
infrastructure. Some charges require the approval of the aviation
authorities in accordance with Section 19b LuftVG. Revenue includes
traffic charges that require approval, including take-off and landing
charges, passenger charges, and charges relating to noise and emissions, and relate to the use of airport infrastructure. Charges that do
not require approval involve, inter alia, de-icing and air-conditioning
services for aircraft, services for people requiring care, and security
services. In principle, revenue is recognized over time at the time
of daily invoicing. Due to the short performance period, revenue
recognition with invoicing appears appropriate. Payment is made
either in advance or within a few weeks after the service is provided.

The transaction price is broken down into fixed, agreed charges and
variable considerations (sales reductions). Liabilities for refund of
parts of the transaction price may arise for Munich Airport from the
variable consideration (refund liabilities). The effect of the revenue
reduction is estimated using the expected value method and based
on historical information. The estimate is based on the assumption
that a revenue reduction must be r ecognized immediately, if the
probability of occurrence cannot be excluded with a very high level of
probability. The expected value must be reviewed again on the basis
of the information at the end of the reporting period and adjusted
if required.

c) Revenue from handling services
Revenue in this category refers to the ground handling services
(handling of aircraft and passengers) and cargo. In principle, revenue
is recognized over time at the time of daily invoicing. Due to the short
performance period, revenue recognition with invoicing appears
appropriate. Payment is made either in advance or within a few weeks
after the service is provided.

b) Revenue from the retail trade
Revenue from the retail trade refers to the sale of goods in shops at
Munich Airport, which must be recognized at the time when control
of a product is transferred to a customer. The relevant point in time
here is the conclusion of the payment transaction. Products are paid
for primarily directly at the cash desk either in cash or via electronic
payment methods (EC card, credit card, etc.).
The transaction price consists of the pricing of the goods and variable considerations (sales reductions). The variable considerations
include, in particular, reductions on the transaction price due to
product returns. The variable considerations are estimated using the
expected value method. The estimate is based on historical information and is subject to the assumption that several events could
occur (immediate, subsequent or no claim). The estimate is based
on the assumption that a revenue reduction must be recognized
immediately, if the probability of occurrence cannot be excluded with
a very high level of probability. The expected value must be reviewed
again on the basis of the information at the end of the reporting period
and adjusted if required. Differences from the received compensation
and the lower determined transaction price are recognized as refund
liabilities.
Vouchers are recognized as a contract asset in the amount of the
residual value of the voucher and reversed upon redemption to
increase revenue.
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Returned goods are only exchanged for new goods or vouchers – this
means that in principle, no monetary reimbursements are offered.
Warranties for defective goods exist only within the legal framework
and do not represent additional performance obligations.

The transaction price is broken down into fixed, agreed prices and
variable considerations (sales reductions). Liabilities to refund parts
of the transaction price (refund liabilities) may arise for FMG from the
variable considerations (bonus/malus regulations and discounts).
The effect of the sales reduction is estimated using the expected
value method and based on historical information. The estimate is
based on the assumption that a sales reduction must be recognized
immediately, if the probability of occurrence cannot be excluded with
a very high level of probability. The expected value must be reviewed
again on the basis of the information at the end of the reporting
period and adjusted if required.

d) Revenue from hotels and catering
Revenue from the provision of services in the hotel and catering
business refer, inter alia, to hospitality in restaurants and bars, as
well as the provision of hotel rooms and services in the health and
wellness facilities. In principle, revenue is recognized over time at
the time of invoicing. Due to short performance period, revenue
recognition with invoicing appears appropriate. Payment is generally
made after the service has been rendered in cash, by EC card or
credit card and on the basis of the payment terms according to the
invoice (maximum 30 days).
The transaction price generally comprises fixed, agreed prices.
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Vouchers are recongized as a contract liability in the amount of the
residual value of the voucher, and are reversed upon redemption to
increase revenue.
For contracts, in which the customer agrees to a non-cash consideration (exchange transaction) for a service, revenue is measured on
the basis of the stand-alone sale prices of the services rendered. The
related expense is recognized in the statement of profit or loss at the
same amount. A temporary difference between the service provided
by the Munich Airport companies and those provided by the customer
can result in a contract liability or a contract asset.

e) Revenue from parking
Revenue from the provision of parking facilities relate to services
in which customers are provided with indefinite parking spaces
for use. This includes, inter alia, the one-off parking of passengers
and visitors, the issue of parking cards to contingent car parkers
for a specific time period and the provision of an indefinite area for
washing, refueling and car care in the car rental center. In principle,
revenue is recognized over time at the time of invoicing. Due to short
performance period, revenue recognition with invoicing appears
appropriate. In principle, payment is made after the use by the day
parker by cash, EC card or credit card, and on the basis of the payment
terms according to the invoice (maximum 30 days) in the case of
contingent car parkers.
The transaction price generally comprises fixed, agreed prices.

f) Other revenue
Other revenue includes, inter alia, other services from consulting
projects, aviation fuel supply and other services (for example,
s ecurity, IT, construction measures and advertising). In principle,
revenue is recognized over time at the time of daily invoice. The determination of performance progress depends on the type of service
and the period of service performance. If the period is rather short
(a few days), revenue recognition with invoicing appears appropriate
(for example, aviation fuel supply, security and IT services). Payment
is made either in advance or within a few weeks after the service
is provided. If the performance period is to be classified as longer,
revenue recognition takes place on the basis of incurred costs or
the service units to be defined individually (for example, consulting
projects and construction measures). The payment is made based on
the individually rendered service units or through various payments
during the performance of the service. For services rendered over a
longer period of time, contract assets or contract liabilities may be
recognized in the statement of financial position.
The transaction price may include fixed, agreed charges and variable
considerations (sales reductions). Liabilities to refund parts of the
transaction price may arise for Munich Airport from the variable
considerations (refund liabilities). The effect of the revenue reduction is estimated using the expected value method and is based on
historical information. The estimate is based to the assumption that
revenue reduction must be recognized immediately, if the probability
of occurrence cannot be excluded with a very high level of probability.
The expected value must be reviewed again on the basis of the information at the end of the reporting period and adjusted if required.

Another component of other revenue is income from permits and
concessions. The revenue amount is defined according to the achievement of certain key figures, and thus cannot be estimated with a very
high degree of probability. Consequently, revenue recognition does
not take place until a withdrawal of revenue is very unlikely (special
regulations for licenses). This is the case when the corresponding key
figures are known (for example, monthly). Payment takes place a few
weeks after revenue recognition.
Other revenue also includes revenue from the sale of goods (for
example, sale of fuel), that is recognized when control of a good is
transferred to the customer. The relevant point in time is the completion of the payment t ransaction. Products are paid for primarily
directly at the cash desk either in cash or via electronic payment
methods (EC card, credit card, etc.).

20. Income from investments and interest income
Income from investments are recognized when there is a legal
entitlement to payment. This is subject to the condition that the
inflow of economic benefits to the Group is probable and the amount
of income can be reliably determined.
Interest income is recognized if it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can reliably
determined.

21. Calculation of fair value
a) Measurement at fair value
Munich Airport measures derivative financial instruments continuously at fair value.
Measurement of investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
which were not included in the scope of consolidation due to their
insignificance are measured at cost for reasons of simplification.
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All non-financial assets are measured at amortized cost.
The following methods and parameters were applied in the calculation of fair value:

Calculation of fair value for measurement purposes
Fair value
T€

Dec. 31, 2018

Currency futures

0

Type

213 Discounted cash flows, add-on procedure

Hierarchy 4)

Expected cash flows¹), discount rates¹), volatility rates²), CDS spreads³), loss upon non-performance²) II

213

40,173

51,255 Discounted cash flows, add-on procedure

Expected cash flows¹), discount rates¹), volatility rates²), CDS spreads³), loss upon non-performance³) II

34

0 Discounted cash flows, add-on procedure

Expected cash flows¹), discount rates¹), volatility rates²), CDS spreads³), loss upon non-performance³) II

Currency futures
Liabilities

Parameter

Dec. 31, 2017

0

Assets
Interest rate swaps

Measurement method

40,207

51,255

)

¹ Derived from market data.
² ) Taken from the solvency regulation.
³ ) Counterparts: derived from market data, Munich Airport: derived from current credit conditions.
⁴ ) W ithin the meaning of IFRS 13.72 et seqq; in the fiscal year there was no reclassification between the levels of hierarchy.

The methods are the same as those applied in the prior year.

b) Disclosure of fair value
These consolidated financial statements contain disclosures on
the fair value of investment property and on financial instruments
measured at amortized cost.
The following methods and parameters were applied in the calculation of fair value:

Calculation of fair value for disclosure purposes
Measurement
method

Property within the airport
Income approach
campus
Property outside the
airport campus

Asset value method
Income approach

Receivables

Discounted cash
flows
Discounted cash
flows

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Parameter
Type

Hierarchy²

Net income¹), economic useful life¹)

III

Net property return

II

Ground value, adjusted normal production costs

VII.3

II

VII.3

Net income¹ , economic useful life¹ , net property return

III

VII.3

Expected cash flows³), discount rates³), CDS spreads⁴)

II

VII.5, VII.15

Expected cash flows³), discount rates³), CDS spreads⁴)

II

VII.5, VII.15

)

)

)

¹ Based on in-house data (e. g. leasing agreements, medium and long-term corporate planning).
² ) Within the meaning of IFRS 13.72 et seqq; in the fiscal year there was no reclassification between the levels of hierarchy.
³ ) Derived from market data.
⁴ ) Counterparts: derived from market data, Munich Airport: derived from current credit conditions.

The methods are the same as those applied in the prior year.
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The investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, which are not
included in the scope of consolidation for reasons of immateriality,
refer to equity instruments of unlisted companies. Prices of comparable listed equity instruments are not available. FMG considers
its investments to be a strategic investment. The fair value of these
investments are not disclosed.

V. A
 ssumptions and estimates with a
material impact on the consolidated
financial statements
1. Control without a majority of the voting rights
FMG holds 60 percent of the voting rights in Flughafen München
Baugesellschaft mbH. A significant number of decisions on important
business activities are made in the shareholder’s general meeting
only with a 2/3 majority. The company operates exclusively for
Terminal 2 Gesellschaft mbH & Co oHG. Control is exercised through
an agency agreement.
FMG holds 60 percent of the voting rights of Terminal 2 Gesellschaft
mbH & Co oHG. However, a significant number of decisions on
important business activities are made in the shareholder’s general
meeting only with a 2/3 majority. Control is therefore not constituted through voting rights but mainly from agreements between
the shareholders with a long-term binding effect on the conduct of
the company’s business activities.

2. C arrying amount of certain assets and liabilities

After the state elections in October 2018, the coalition contract
for the legislative period 2018 to 2023 between CSU and Freien
Wähler (Free Voters) stipulated as follows: «The coalition partners
have differing opinions regarding the need for a third runway at
Munich Airport. The plans for its construction will therefore not
be pursued during the current legislative period…» Munich Airport
is currently assuming, on the basis of this statement, a potential
decision on the realization of the project in 2023, with construction
on the third runway starting in 2025. The effects of the moratorium
were shown in the financial statements of 2018. Further impairments
with respect to the investments made for the sub-projects arising
from the 98th amendment of the planning approval notice (third
runway, Erdinger Ringschluss tunnel construction, expansion of the
east airport distribution road and partial expansion of the eastern
apron) in the amount of T€ 190,844 (2017: T€ 198,499) is currently
not expected. The obligations from agreements with neighboring
municipalities on the funding of infrastructure projects concluded
with a view to the construction of the third runway also remain in
place. In total, T€ 87,796 (2017: T€ 89,586) has been provided for
this purpose.

Further significant, future-related assumptions and estimates
exist for the financial liabilities to partnerships. Adjustments in the
estimation of future potential for distributions and therefore claims
for compensation are made in the carrying amount of the financial
liability with an effect in profit or loss. If profit shares from previous
periods are not withdrawn, they are reported as a non-current financial liability in accordance with the company’s liquidity plans. The
expected potential for distributions is predicted on the basis of previous experience and planned revenue and cost developement, taking
into account the expected price development and investments in the
maintenance and expansion of infrastructure. In total, T€ 346,058
(2017: T€ 315,375) have been recorded as a liability for this.

As of December 31, 2018, further assets under construction,
purchased land as well as compensation and replacement measures in connection with the third runway are capitalized following
the impairment performed for planning services already rendered.
A complete suspension of the project can thus lead to a complete
impairment of the still reported assets under construction. At this
point impairment on the reported land and replacement and compensation measures must also be examined with respect to their
future usability.

Revenue 2017 in accordance with IAS 18

VI. Notes to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss
1. Revenue
Prior to the first-time application of IFRS 15, revenue was comprised
as follows:

T€

2017

Leases, royalties, and licenses

854,816

Services

352,365

Sale of goods

190,863

Miscellaneous
Total

70,691
1,468,735

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities included in the present consolidated financial statements are based on estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. In the opinion of Munich Airport,
there is no significant risk that these estimates and assumptions will
change to such an extent by the next reporting date that a material
adjustment of the carrying amount would be expected.
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After the first-time application of IFRS 15, revenue comprises the
following categories :

Revenue 2018 after IFRS 15
T€

2018

Revenue in accordance with IFRS 15
Airport charges

626,726

Retail trade

186,766

Handling services

175,689

Catering and hotel

138,673

Parking
Other revenue

94,165
145,428

Leasing
Rental and leasing
Parking (leasing)
Advertising (leasing)
Total

106,806
5,670
28,894
1,508,817

a) Revenue in accordance with IFRS 15
The previous category for the sale of goods corresponds to the
current retail trade category. The category for leases, royalties and
licenses included a broad spectrum of topics, which encompassed,
in addition to airport charges and leasing for example, also the
shares of the parking business and concessions which must now
be assigned to IFRS 15. The revenue from services included handling
services and revenue from the hotel and catering businesses as well
as other services such as consulting services.
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The revenue from airport charges includes airport charges that
require approval, including take-off and landing charges, passenger
charges, and charges relating to noise and emissions. Charges that
do not require approval involve, inter alia, de-icing and air-conditioning services for aircraft, services for people in need of care, and
security services.
Revenue from the retail trade relates to the sale of goods in shops
at Munich Airport.
Revenue from handling services includes services relating to ground
handling (handling of aircraft and passengers) and cargo.
Revenue from the provision of services in the hotel and catering
business includes, inter alia, catering in restaurants and bars as
well as the provision of hotel rooms and services in the health and
wellness facilities.
Revenue from the provision of parking facilities relates to services
in which customers are provided with indefinite parking spaces for
use. This includes, inter alia, the one-off parking of passengers and
visitors, the issue of parking cards to contingent car parkers and
the general areas in the car rental center.
Other revenue includes, inter alia, other services from consulting
projects, aviation fuel supply and other services (for example,
security, IT, construction measures and advertising). Another
component of other revenue is income from permits, concessions,
and the sale of goods.
Munich Airport generates its revenue predominantly in Germany.
Performance obligations satisfied at a point in time relate to revenue from the retail trade, while other business transactions refer
to services realized in accordance with the rules for performance
obligations satisfied over time.

b) Leasing
Lease income results from the rental and leasing of real estate, from
the rental of parking spaces that are not reported in accordance with
IFRS 15, from the rental of billboards and light boxes for advertising
purposes as well as from the rental of exhibition spaces.
The rental and leasing of real estate category encompasses income
from the leasing of traffic, operations and logistics properties as well
as the leasing of commercial space, office and conference rooms.
The terms of the majority of leases of traffic, operations, and logistics
properties are indefinite with periods of notice of up to 15 years.
In individual cases, fixed term contracts are agreed. The terms of
those leases range up to five years. Lease extensions are possible
for extension period up to five years if agreed. Purchase options are
generally not granted.
The terms of the majority of leases of commercial space, office and
conference rooms are indefinite with periods of notice of up to nine
years. In individual cases, fixed term contracts are agreed. The terms
of those leases range up to 17 years. Lease extensions are possible
for extension period up to 16 years, if agreed. Purchase options are
generally not granted. In addition to a fixed basic rent, lessees of
commercial space have to pay a revenue-related charge.
The leasing of parking spaces refers to specifically assigned parking
spaces for a certain period of time.
Lease income contains contingent lease payments of T€ 19,179
(2017: T€ 17,670).
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In future fiscal years, Munich Airport expects the following lease
payments from non-cancellable operating leases:

3. Other income

5. Personnel expenses

The components of other income are as follows:

Personnel expenses break down as follows:

Expected lease payments from non-cancellable
operating leases

Other income

T€
In one year
In 2 to 5 years
After 5 years
Total

Personnel expenses

T€

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

79,089

69,978

129,093

153,434

72,390

80,319

280,572

303,731

Disclosures on the carrying amounts of assets leased can be found
in Section VII.2.

Income from disposals of fixed assets

2018

2017

10,025

6,463

Wages and salaries

Reversal of other liabilities

7,800

8,495

Social security and support benefits

Assistance from the government and other
grants

2,536

2,865

Income in connection with damages,
compensation, and insurance compensation

1,812

6,167

Expenses for post-employment benefits
Total

Expenses for defined benefit plans

Reversal and use of other provisions

1,695

2,733

Reversal of expected credit losses

1,496

518

Miscellaneous
Total

4,367

3,127

29,731

30,368

2. Own work capitalized
The balance of own work capitalized relates to various construction
improvement projects.

T€

Expenses for defined contribution plans

2018

2017

-415,690

-392,061

-73,353

-71,893

-611

-607

-18,059

-17,520

-18,670

-18,127

-507,713

-482,081

The average number of employees in the fiscal year is shown below:

Number of employees
Exchange rate gains amounted to T€ 660 (2017: T€ 617) and are
included in other income.

4. Cost of materials

Average
Employees (permanent/temporary, trainees)
Apprentices
Total

2018

2017

9,521

9,316

252

252

9,773

9,568

Cost of materials includes the following amounts:

Cost of materials
T€
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2018

2017

Expenditures for raw materials, supplies and
merchandise

-171,091

-171,868

Expenditures for purchased services

-222,511

-227,120

Total

-393,602

-398,988
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6. Other expenses
Other expenses include the following amounts:

Other expenses
T€

Lease expenses mainly result from the rental of vehicles and
buildings.

7. Depreciation and amortization

Vehicles are leased for terms up to three years. The agreements do
not include any term extension or purchase options.

Depreciation and amortization

2018

2017

Expenses for audit, consulting, and project
services

-19,463

-17,311

Expenses for advertising and PR

-16,948

-15,360

Services similar to personnel costs

-13,132

-12,780

Lease expenses

-11,542

-14,003

Contributions and fees for public utilities and
other fees

-10,319

-9,572

Expenses for Insurance

-8,418

-7,521

Expenses for other taxes

-6,300

-2,995

Expenses for office communications

-4,734

-4,309

Other expenses in connection with damages

-4,038

-3,519

Losses from the disposal of non-current assets

-2,055

-3,045

T€

Impairment of financial assets

-1,316

-4,155

Bank charges including transaction costs
Miscellaneous
Total

-15

-222

-16,038

-16,944

-114,318

-111,736

Exchange rate losses amount to T€ 282 (2017: T€ 874) and are
included in other expenses.
Fees paid to the auditor are presented under the expenses for audit,
consulting, and project services. These comprise audit fees in the
amount of T€ 314 (2017: T€ 333), other attestation services in
the amount of T€ 67 (2017: T€ 152), tax advisory services in the
amount of T€ 146 (2017: T€ 44), and fees for other services in the
amount of T€ 1,068 (2017: T€ 881).

Most buildings are rented for a limited period with notice periods of
up to six months. The terms range up to 15 years. Indefinite contracts are agreed in individual cases. The notice periods are usually
three months. Lease extensions are possible for extension period
up to five years if agreed. There are no purchase options.
As of December 31, the future minimum lease payments for
non-cancellable leases are payable as follows:

Future minimum lease payments for
non-cancellable leases
Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

In one year

4,840

8,505

In 2 to 5 years

6,698

7,834

After 5 years

5,230

0

16,768

16,339

Total

The Group expects future minimum payments in the amount of
T€ 149 on the reporting date, arising from the non-cancellable
subleases.

Depreciation and amortization includes the following amounts:

T€
Depreciation and amortization
Impairments
Total

2018

2017

-199,454

-217,617

-16,408

0

-215,862

-217,617

Impairment refers primarily, with an amount of T€ 12,849, to planning
services performed, which must presumably be performed again due
to the delay in building the third runway, most recently as a result of
the postponement of the decision as part of the moratorium.

8. Financial result
The interest result is as follows:

Interest result
T€
Interest income from short-term deposits and
other receivables

2018

2017

310

544

Interest expenses from loans

-67,972

-65,464

Interest expenses from derivatives

-17,653

-18,879

Interest result from financial instruments

-85,315

-83,799

Other interest income

2,541

886

Other interest expense

-1,483

-692

Other interest result
Total

1,058

194

-84,257

-83,605

Other interest income and expenses result from the measurement of
other non-current provisions and obligations from employee benefits
at present value.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
VI. Notes to the consolidated statement of profit or loss

63

The components of other financial result are as follows:

Net losses (interest expenses) from the remeasurement of financial instruments are attributable to the measurement categories
described in Section IV.9.c as follows:

Other financial result
T€
Income from the transfer of profit from
non-consolidated entities
Net gains from financial instruments

2018

2017

583

495

Net losses from financial instruments
T€

2018

2017

681

13,378

At fair value, designated

0

0

1,264

13,873

Financial assets

0

0

-18,697

-5,030

-380

0

At fair value, designated as hedging
instruments

-169

-322

Other financial expense

-19,077

-5,030

Total

-17,813

8,843

Other financial income
Net losses from financial instruments
Impairments on expected credit losses

Net gains (interest income) from the remeasurement of financial
instruments are attributable to the categories described in Section IV.9.c as follows:

2018

2017

At fair value

0

0

Financial assets

0

0

At fair value, designated as hedging
instruments

154

1,154

0

0

Derivative financial liabilities

154

1,154

At amortized cost

527

12,224

Non-derivative financial liabilities

527

12,224

Financial liabilities

681

13,378

Total

681

13,378

At fair value

-247

0

Derivative financial liabilities

-416

-322

At amortized cost

-18,281

-4,708

Non-derivative financial liabilities

-18,281

-4,708

Financial liabilities
Total

-18,697
-18,697

-5,030
-5,030

Tax reconciliation
T€
Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Tax rate in %

The components of income tax expense and income are as follows:

T€
Tax expense for the current period

2018

2017

-82,215

-77,126

-1,430

239

Current taxes

-83,645

-76,887

Deferred taxes

11,059

6,447

Tax expenses

-72,586

-70,440

Recognized adjustments for current taxes of
the previous years in the current period

2017
229,240

27.8

27.8
-63,717

Effects due to local tax based additions

-1,506

-1,455

Effects due to local tax based reduction

6,980

4,259

15,214

8,231

Deviations from Group tax rate

0

-152

Effects from unused tax losses not recognized
as deferred tax assets

-392

-2,006

Non-deductible expenses

-343

-370

748

683

Tax-free income

Income tax

2018
221,319

-61,516

Expected income tax expense/income

Change in deferred taxes due to changes in tax
rates

9. Income taxes

Net gains from financial instruments
T€

At fair value

If the earnings before taxes presented in these financial statements
were the basis for taxation, an income tax expense of T€ 61,516
would be expected (2017: T€ 63,717). Differences between the
expected and the income tax expense reported in the statement
of profit or loss are partially offset by the deferred tax expense or
income from the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities. The
remaining difference is attributable to the following items:

Current taxes relating to other periods
Deferred taxes relating to other periods
Tax effect from German partnerships
Miscellaneous other effects
Reported tax expenses

-1,430

362

382

-956

-29,929

-14,651

-794

-668

-72,586

-70,440

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on
tax rates expected at the time of realization (see Section IV.16).
In fiscal year 2018, tax rates of 24.23 percent to 28.20 percent
(previous year: 24.23 percent to 28.20 percent) were used for the
calculation.
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VII. N
 otes to the statement of financial
position
1. Intangible assets
The carrying amounts of intangible assets developed as follows:

Changes in the carrying amounts of intangible assets
Intangible assets

Intangible assets
T€

acquired
Miscellaneous

internally generated
Advance
payments

completed

Total

T€

incomplete

acquired

internally generated

Total

Miscellaneous

Advance
payments

completed

incomplete

Cost

Cost
42,975

2,701

2,762

0

48,438

36,278

2,366

2,100

0

40,744

Additions

6,926

1,255

147

0

8,328

Additions

5,085

1,777

417

0

7,279

Disposals

-1,137

0

0

0

-1,137

Disposals

-1,075

0

-145

0

-1,220

684

-1,414

0

0

-730

2,687

-1,442

390

0

1,635

49,448

2,542

2,909

0

54,899

42,975

2,701

2,762

0

48,438

29,524

0

1,437

0

30,961

25,910

0

1,086

0

26,996

4,616

0

437

0

5,053

Scheduled

4,258

0

336

0

4,594

Disposals

-629

0

0

0

-629

-15

0

15

0

0

As of Jan. 1, 2018

Reclassifications
As of Dec. 31, 2018

Reclassifications
As of Dec. 31, 2017
Accumulated amortization

Accumulated amortization
As of Jan. 1, 2018

As of Jan. 1, 2017

Scheduled
Disposals

As of Jan. 1, 2017

-687

0

0

0

-687

As of Dec. 31, 2018

33,453

0

1,874

0

35,327

Reclassifications

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2018

13,451

2,701

1,325

0

17,477

As of Dec. 31, 2017

29,524

0

1,437

0

30,961

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018

15,995

2,542

1,035

0

19,572

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2017

10,368

2,366

1,014

0

13,748

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2017

13,451

2,701

1,325

0

17,477

Impairment losses are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss among depreciation and amortization. Income from the
reversal of impairments is presented among other income.

Emission rights with a carrying amount of T€ 4,503 (Dec. 31, 2017:
T€ 2,532) are presented among acquired intangible assets. Emission
rights are intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.
Of the acquired intangible assets of the subsidiaries of Flughafen
München GmbH T€ 695 (Dec. 31.12.2017: T€ 747) serve as collateral
for long-term loans.
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There are obligations for the acquisition of intangible assets amounting to T€ 1,433 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 1,764).
If the recognition requirements for internally generated intangible
assets as explained in Section IV.2.b were not met, development
expenditures were not capitalized. As in the previous year no development expenses were incurred in the year under review that were
not recognized. No research expenditures were incurred.
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2. Property, plant, and equipment
The carrying amounts of owner-occupied property, plant, and equipment developed as follows:

Changes in the carrying amounts of property, plant, and equipment for own use
T€

Land

Buildings

Technical plants and machinery

Operating and office equipment

Property, plant, and
equipment under
construction

Total

Cost
1,863,807

4,126,146

1,897,880

344,324

212,578

8,444,735

Additions

As of Jan. 1, 2018

2,780

42,925

14,485

20,043

115,829

196,062

Disposals

-152

-20,196

-11,208

-8,919

-16,905

-57,380

Reclassifications

-257

27,867

7,126

3,468

-38,094

110

1,866,178

4,176,742

1,908,283

358,916

273,408

8,583,527

15,035

2,193,404

1,158,703

256,555

0

3,623,697

0

104,295

63,606

22,200

0

190,101

935

0

0

15,216

16,151

-15,752

-10,847

-8,757

-15,216

-50,572

As of Dec. 31, 2018
Accumulated depreciation
As of Jan. 1, 2018
Scheduled
Impairments
Disposals
Reclassifications
As of Dec. 31, 2018

0
0

48

-48

0

0

0

15,035

2,282,930

1,211,414

269,998

0

3,779,377

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2018

1,848,772

1,932,742

739,177

87,769

212,578

4,821,038

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018

1,851,143

1,893,812

696,869

88,918

273,408

4,804,150

Total

T€

Land

Buildings

Technical plants and machinery

Operating and office equipment

Property, plant, and
equipment under
construction

Cost
1,861,005

4,067,490

1,878,180

322,985

211,212

8,340,872

Additions

As of Jan. 1, 2017

2,708

21,966

12,369

19,886

73,518

130,447

Disposals

0

-27,862

-4,544

-5,750

-539

-38,695

94

64,552

11,875

7,203

-71,613

12,111

1,863,807

4,126,146

1,897,880

344,324

212,578

8,444,735

Reclassifications
As of Dec. 31, 2017
Accumulated depreciation

15,035

2,078,692

1,099,298

241,823

0

3,434,848

Scheduled

As of Jan. 1, 2017

0

121,711

62,996

20,615

0

205,322

Disposals

0

-11,453

-3,913

-5,529

0

-20,895

Reclassifications

0

4,454

322

-354

0

4,422

15,035

2,193,404

1,158,703

256,555

0

3,623,697

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2017

1,845,970

1,988,798

778,882

81,162

211,212

4,906,024

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2017

1,848,772

1,932,742

739,177

87,769

212,578

4,821,038

As of Dec. 31, 2017
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Reclassifications contain transfers from assets held for sale in the
amount of T€ 34 (2017: T€ 0).
Impairment losses are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss among depreciation and amortization. Income from
the reversal of impairments is presented among other income.
Land is partially burdened with leasehold rights, usufructs,
and similar rights. The carrying amount of this land is T€ 5,669
(Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 5,669).
Of the buildings of the subsidiaries of Flughafen München GmbH
T€ 993,170 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 1,044,605), and of the technical
plants and machinery, the operation and office equipment, and the
assets under construction of the subsidiaries, a total of T€ 365,757
(Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 409,226) serve as collateral for long-term loans.
FMG itself has not provided any trade receivables as collateral for
borrowings.

In fiscal year 2017, Munich Airport received a government grant
totaling T€ 720, which was included in current liabilities as of
December 31, 2017 and was only deducted directly from the
c arrying amount of the asset after completion in fiscal year 2018.
Operating and office equipment contain assets from finance leases.
The carrying amounts of operating and office equipment developed
as follows:

Changes in the carrying amount of operating and office equipment from finance leases
T€

Operating and office
equipment

Cost
As of Jan. 1, 2018

998
0

Disposals

-998
0

Accumulated depreciation

There are obligations for the acquisition of property, plant, and
equipment amounting to T€ 226,305 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 119,705).
The effects of changes of estimates on the measurement of property, plant, and equipment are not significant.

As of Jan. 1, 2018
Scheduled
Disposals
As of Dec. 31, 2018
Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2018

Additions to the costs of assets under construction comprise
exclusively general borrowing costs in amount of T€ 4,916 (Dec. 31,
2017: T€ 4,596). Capitalization of general borrowing costs in the
reporting year is based on a capitalization ratio of 2.50 percent
(2017: 2.50 percent).

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018

As of Jan. 1, 2017
Additions
Disposals
As of Dec. 31, 2017

998
0
0
998

Accumulated depreciation
931
67
-998
0
67
0

Further disclosures on finance leases can be found in Section VII.15.d.
Owner-occupied land and buildings are partially leased out. The
leases are all operating leases. The carrying amounts of leased land
and buildings developed as follows:
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Operating and office
equipment

Cost

Additions

As of Dec. 31, 2018

T€

As of Jan. 1, 2017

732

Scheduled

199

Disposals

0

As of Dec. 31, 2017

931

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2017

266

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2017

67

67

Change in the carrying amount of land and buildings leased out
T€

Land

Buildings

Cost

T€

Land

Buildings

Cost

As of Jan. 1, 2018

106,649

687,222

106,649

667,050

Additions

0

1,714

Additions

0

12,733

Disposals

0

-3,929

Disposals

0

-6,120

Reclassifications

0

38,128

Reclassifications

0

13,559

106,649

723,135

106,649

687,222

As of Dec. 31, 2018
Accumulated depreciation

As of Jan. 1, 2017

As of Dec. 31, 2017
Accumulated depreciation

As of Jan. 1, 2018

0

341,619

As of Jan. 1, 2017

0

317,358

Scheduled

0

16,410

Scheduled

0

24,880

Disposals

0

-2,456

Disposals

0

-619

Reclassifications

0

29,935

Reclassifications

0

0

As of Dec. 31, 2018

0

385,508

As of Dec. 31, 2017

0

341,619

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2018

106,649

345,603

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2017

106,649

349,692

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018

106,649

337,627

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2017

106,649

345,603

Buildings

Total

Land

Buildings

Total

3. Investment property
The carrying amounts of investment property developed as follows:

Change in the carrying amounts of investment property
T€

Land

Cost
As of Jan. 1, 2018

T€
Cost

84,484

170,451

254,935

83,408

184,241

267,649

Additions

4,942

232

5,174

Additions

3,168

32

3,200

Disposals

0

-514

-514

Disposals

-252

-146

-398

Reclassifications

-1,483

0

-1,483

Reclassifications

-1,840

-13,676

-15,516

As of Dec. 31, 2018

87,943

170,169

258,112

As of Dec. 31, 2017

84,484

170,451

254,935

Accumulated depreciation
As of Jan. 1, 2018
Scheduled
Impairments
Disposals
As of Dec. 31, 2018

As of Jan. 1, 2017

Accumulated depreciation
690

102,373

103,063

0

4,301

4,301

256

0

256

0

-397

-397

As of Jan. 1, 2017

690

99,386

100,076

Scheduled

0

7,701

7,701

Impairments

0

-291

-291

Disposals

0

-4,423

-4,423

946

106,277

107,223

As of Dec. 31, 2017

690

102,373

103,063

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2018

83,794

68,078

151,872

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2017

82,718

84,855

167,573

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018

86,997

63,892

150,889

Carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2017

83,794

68,078

151,872
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Reclassifications contain transfers into assets held for sale in the
amount off T€ 2,137 (2017: T€ 1,770).
Impairment losses are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss among depreciation and amortization. Income from the
reversal of impairments is presented among other income.
Munich Airport realized income from the lease of investment property
in an amount of T€ 16,416 (2017: T€ 16,809). Operating expenses
(including repairs and maintenance) were T€ 5,828 (2017: T€ 5,788).
There are obligations to acquire investment property and to construct extensions to investment property amounting to T€ 32,450
(Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 32,190).
Investment property is partially burdened with third-party rights
(inter alia leasehold rights). The carrying amount of this real estate
is T€ 8,407 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 8,883).
The methods of depreciation and useful lives of investment property
are disclosed in Section IV.7.
The fair value of all investment property is T€ 244,462 (Dec. 31, 2017:
T€ 239,384). All investment properties are put to their highest and
best use. The company determines the fair values itself. Explanation
on the measurement methods and parameters can be found in
Section IV.7.
All investment property is subject to operating leases. The portion of
investment property not leased is not material overall.

4. Investments in companies accounted for using the
equity method
The carrying amount of Investments in companies accounted for
using the equity method is as follows:

Investment in EFM – Gesellschaft für Enteisen und Flugzeugschleppen am Flughafen München mbH
T€

Dec. 31, 2018

Investments in companies accounted for
using the equity method
FMG share in %

3,657

4,116

49

49

Total

Pro-rata

Total

Pro-rata

Current assets

3,745

1,835

5,534

2,712

Non-current assets

9,940

4,871

9,288

4,551

Current liabilities

4,942

2,422

3,340

1,637

Non-current liabilities

1,280

627

1,180

578

30,512

14,951

29,070

14,244

Earnings before taxes

3,362

1,647

4,626

2,267

Profit/loss for the year (EAT)

2,394

1,173

3,332

1,632

Revenue

Other comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

Total comprehensive income

2,394

1,173

3,332

1,632

Distributions (total)

3,330

The fiscal year of the associate begins on October 1 and ends on September 30 of the following year. For reasons of materiality, no interim
financial statements have been prepared. The financial statements
are included with a different reporting date after adjustments for
results from material business transactions between October 1 and
December 31.
There are no unrecognized shares of losses or contingent liabilities.
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5. Non-current financial assets
Carrying amount and fair value of non-current financial assets are
attributable to the measurement categories described in Section
IV.9.c as follows:

Carrying amount and fair value of non-current financial assets
At fair value through other
comprehensive income
T€

Dec. 31, 2018
Carrying
amount

No IFRS 9 measurement
category

At amortized cost
Dec. 31, 2018

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Total

Dec. 31, 2018

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Dec. 31, 2018

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Other receivables

0

0

3,539

3,539

0

0

3,539

3,539

Receivables

0

0

3,539

3,539

0

0

3,539

3,539

Non-current financial assets

0

0

3,539

3,539

0

0

3,539

3,539

T€

Held for trading purposes

Available for sale

Loans and receivables

No IAS 39 measurement
category

Total

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Other receivables

0

0

0

0

53

53

0

0

53

53

Receivables

0

0

0

0

53

53

0

0

53

53

Primary financial assets

0

0

279

279

0

0

0

0

279

279

Derivatives

11

11

0

0

0

0

0

0

11

11

Other financial assets

11

11

279

279

0

0

0

0

290

290

Non-current financial assets

11

11

279

279

53

53

0

0

343

343

The carrying amount of non-current financial assets includes
expected credit losses. None of the non-current financial assets
were categorized as due.
The Group had other financial assets with a gross carrying amount
of T€ 3,545. These were assigned to the rating classes BB- to BBB+.
Impairments amounted to T€ 7 as at the reporting date.
Information on derivatives can be found in Section VII.16.
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6. Deferred taxes

The effects of the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities on
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and statement of other
comprehensive income are as follows:

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are allocated to the following
balance sheet items with reference to their origin:

Allocation of deferred tax assets and liabilities to balance sheet items
Deferred tax assets
T€

Deferred tax liabilities

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Intangible assets

25

71

612

790

Property, plant, and equipment

15

12

434,762

439,721

Investment property

5,789

5,377

11,790

11,791

62

21

767

806

613

540

2,035

157

Assets

6,504

6,021

449,966

453,265

Other financial liabilities

9,925

12,314

4,957

7,099

7,507

9,583

0

0

Provisions

11,090

6,780

3,999

3,698

Employee benefits

10,099

9,780

0

0

7,865

7,627

0

0

272
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201

206

Inventories
Miscellaneous other assets

thereof derivatives in cash flow hedges

thereof post-employment benefits and other long-term employee benefits
Other liabilities
Liabilities
Consolidation
Loss carried forward
Impairment on loss carried forward
Loss carried forward
Total
Offsetting
Amount recognized

31,386

28,923

9,157

11,003

0

1,861

2,806

4,758

5,830

4,504

0

0

-4,067

-3,675

0

0

1,763

829

0

0

39,653

37,634

461,929

469,026

-34,789

-33,486

-34,789

-33,486

4,864

4,148

427,140

435,540

Effects of the change in deferred tax assets and
liabilities on consolidated statement of profit or loss
and statement of other comprehensive income
T€
As of Jan. 1
Initial application of IFRS 9
Derivatives in cash flow hedges
Post-employment benefits and other long-term
employee benefits
Miscellaneous other temporary differences
Loss carried forward
Deferred taxes affecting profit or loss
Derivatives in cash flow hedges
Post-employment benefits and other long-term
employee benefits
Deferred taxes not affecting profit or loss
As of Dec. 31

2018

2017

431,392

434,235

-430
-72

233

-463

-75

-9,592

-6,649

-933

45

-11,060

-6,446

2,149

3,691

225

-88

2,374

3,603

422,276

431,392

Trade tax loss carried forward amounting to T€ 13,656 (Dec. 31,
2017: T€ 13,045) and corporate tax loss carried forward amounting
to T€ 15,112 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 13,242) were not recognized. Loss
carried forward does not expire.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets includes deferred tax
assets for losses carried forward of companies with tax losses in the
reporting or prior year in an amount of T€ 1,763 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 829).
In addition to the amount of deferred tax liabilities that can be offset,
deferred tax assets on losses carried forward are only recognized to
the extent that they can be offset against expected taxable profits.
T€ 1,556 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 712) of the deferred tax assets and
T€ 427,140 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 435,540) of the deferred tax liabilities
will probably be realized more than twelve months after the reporting
date.
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The companies included in the consolidated financial statements
are corporations and partnerships. Pursuant to Article 8b (1) in
conjunction with Article 8b (5) of the Corporate Tax Act (Körperschaftsteuergesetz – KStG) and/or Article 8b (2) in conjunction
with Article 8b (5) of the KStG, the differences between the carrying
amount for tax purposes of an investment in a corporation included
in the consolidated financial statements and its net assets in accordance with IFRS are exempt from taxation.

8. Current financial assets

No additional differences emerge between the net assets of partnerships for tax purposes depicted in accordance with the mirror
image method and the net assets in accordance with IFRS beyond the
temporary differences taken into account at individual company level.

T€

7. Inventories

Other financial assets

The carrying amount of inventories is as follows:

Current financial assets

The carrying amount of current financial assets is attributable to the
measurement categories described in Section IV.9.c as follows. The
carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value:

Composition of the carrying amounts of current financial assets

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

7,353

7,788

0

47

Merchandise

31,840

33,732

Carrying amount of inventories

39,193

41,567

Raw materials, supplies and consumables
Finished goods and work in progress

T€ 429 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 483) of the carrying amount relates to
merchandise that is measured at net realizable value.

Total

Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2018

Trade receivables

63,491

0

63,491

Other receivables

12,566

0

12,566

Receivables

76,057

0

76,057

0

0

0

76,057

0

76,057

Held for trading
purposes

Loans and
receivables

No IAS 39
measurement
category

Total

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Trade receivables

0

65,637

0

65,637

Other receivables

0

20,908

0

20,908

Receivables

0

86,545

0

86,545

Derivative financial assets

202

0

0

202

Other financial assets

202

0

0

202

Current financial assets

202

86,545

0

86,747

Composition of the carrying amounts of inventories
T€

At amortized cost

No IFRS 9
measurement
category

T€

Cost of materials includes expenses resulting from impairment on
merchandise in an amount of T€ 87 (2017: T€ 75). In the reporting
year, no reversals of impairment were offset against the cost of
materials. The cost of goods and materials used is T€ 127,419 (2017:
T€ 128,023).
Inventories are not burdened with third-party rights.
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a) Current trade receivables and contract assets
Default risks on trade receivables and contract assets are taken into
by impairments for expected credit losses (see Section IV.9.d). The
amortized costs of the trade receivables include expected credit
losses that are calculated using the simplified approach. Munich
Airport monitors the credit risk, by using credit default swap spreads
and rating information from popular market data providers together

with available press and supervisory information on debtors to
determine expected credit losses. Individual value adjustments for
trade receivables are recognized separately. The impairments in the
amount of T€ 4,768 are attributable to trade receivables (T€ 4,751)
and contract assets from contracts with customers (T€ 17). The
table below contains a more detailed analysis of the credit quality
of these receivables:

Impairment losses for expected credit losses
in accordance with IFRS 9
Lifetime expected credit losses

Analysis of the credit quality

T€

Default risk rating class as of Dec. 31, 2018

Lifetime expected credit losses

T€

Not impaired

Impaired

Portfolio

Rating class

collective

individual

Gross carrying
amount

Individual consideration

BBB- to AAA

1

0

16,251

Individual consideration

CCC- to B+

5

0

1,056

D to CCC

0

4,738

5,738

Cluster – Aviation

BB- to BB+

1

0

Cluster – Non-Aviation

BB- to BB+

1

Cluster – Retail trade

BB- to BB+

1

Cluster – Hotel/Catering

BB- to BB+

Cluster – Consulting business

BB- to BB+

Individual consideration – impaired

Over the course of fiscal year 2018, the following movements
occurred in the impairments for trade receivables and contract
assets:

Portfolio under IAS 39 as of
Dec. 31, 2017

Impaired

collective

individual

0

4,997

Adjustment effect IFRS 9

12

0

Jan. 1, 2018

12

4,997

Amounts amortized (consumption)

–

-120

20,324

Net remeasurement of allowances
(+Addition - Reversal)

18

-139

0

12,079

Dec. 31, 2018

30

4,738

0

5,989

2

0

5,895

2

0

911

13

4,738

68,243

Cluster – Contract assets

BB- to BB+

4

0

1,653

Cluster – Contract assets from the consulting business

BB- to BB+

13

0

2,982

17

0

4,635

30

4,738

72,878

In the past fiscal year, there were no significant changes in the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables or contract assets, that would
have contributed to significant changes in the impairment.
The impairment amount in the previous year developed as follows:

Impairment balance
T€

Individual value
adjustment

Jan. 1, 2017

1,451

Addition

4,155

Consumption
Reversal
Dec. 31, 2017
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Not impaired

-91
-518
4,997
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Under IAS 39, the following maturity structure for trade receivables
existed in 2017:

Significant risks of default for current other receivables are recognized through impairments losses (see Section IV.9.f). Impairment
losses are offset against the carrying amount.

Maturity analysis of trade receivables
Dec. 31, 2017

Carrying amount of which not due

of which due and
impaired

T€
Trade receivables

of which due and not impaired by age in days
under 30

65,637

59,239

19

30 to 180 180 to 360

3,258

2,935

over 360

93

93

The amortized costs of other receivables include expected credit
losses that are calculated using the general approach. Munich Airport
monitors the credit risk, by using credit default swap spreads and
rating information from popular market data providers together with
available press and supervisory information on debtors to determine
expected credit losses. Individual value adjustments of other receivables are recognized separately.

Receivables not due for payment relate to debtors of varying creditworthiness. When determining the need for impairment for the
financial assets, insolvencies, legal disputes, and payment defaults,
among other factors, were used to determine if there was objective
evidence of an impairment.

Of the trade receivables of the subsidiaries of Flughafen München
GmbH, T€ 1,970 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 3,686) were pledged as collateral
for loans. The pledge was by means of undisclosed assignment pursuant to Article 398 of the German Civil Code (BGB). FMG itself does
not pledge any assets as collateral for borrowings.

The Group had other current receivables with a gross carrying
amount of T€ 12,577. These were assigned to the rating classes BBto BBB+. The impairments on other receivables were T€ 11 (Jan. 1,
2018: T€ 12) on the reporting date.

Receivables arising from leases are secured through deposits and
guarantees. Handling services are rendered only against deposit
of cash collateral or bank guarantees. T€ 1,943 (Dec. 31, 2017:
T€ 1,550) of receivables arising from leases are covered by deposits
of T€ 2,436 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 2,281) and by guarantees and other
collateral in the amount of T€ 12,315 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 12,398).
T€ 5,803 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 7,573) of receivables arising from
handling services are covered by cash collateral, bank guarantees,
and other collateral in the amount of T€ 10,973 (Dec. 31, 2017:
T€ 13,506). As the collateral can be used in full, regularly and directly,
without further costs, the exposure amount to be taken into consideration for the calculation of the expected credit losses is reduced
by the amount of the relevant collateral.

b) Current other receivables

Under IAS 39, no impairments were formed up to December 31, 2017.

The following analysis shows the main components of current other
receivables:

Composition of the carrying amount of current other
receivables
Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Supplier bonuses

3,149

3,209

Receivables from associates and shareholdings

2,830

2,840

Receivables relating to damage

1,310

1,251

Receivables from the authorities

984

1,402

Debit balances in trade payables

977

9,758

3,316

2,448

12,566

20,908

T€

Miscellaneous
Total
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In the past fiscal year, there were no significant changes in the gross
carrying amount of other receivables that would have contributed to
significant changes in the impairment.
The current other receivables are generally not to be considered as
due. The receivables relate to debtors of varying creditworthiness.

c) Current other financial assets
Current other financial assets relate to derivative financial
instruments.
Information on derivatives can be found in Section VII.16.
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9. Other assets
The following analysis shows the main components of other assets:

Composition of the carrying amount of other financial
assets
T€
Receivables from taxes and other levies
Other non-financial receivables

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

5,909

3,983

0

0

Non-financial receivables

5,909

3,983

Accruals in connection with aviation

6,738

0

Maintenance services

2,297

1,695

Insurance premiums

435

1,362

Transaction costs for loans

310

400

Miscellaneous other prepaid expenses

185

400

9,965

3,857

Prepaid expenses
Other assets

15,874

7,840

of which current

9,243

7,066

of which non-current

6,631

774

10. Cash and cash equivalents
The following analysis shows the main components of cash and cash
equivalents:

Composition of the carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents
T€

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Short-term deposits

209,446

158,000

10,125

5,329

2,252

1,296

12,377

6,625

221,823

164,625

Deposits at banks
Cash on hand
Cash and cash equivalents
Total
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The composition and carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents
corresponds to the balance of cash and cash equivalents in the
statement of cash flows.
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortized cost. Carrying
amount and fair value do not differ.
The amortized cost of cash and cash equivalents includes expected
credit losses that are calculated using the general approach. Munich
Airport reduces the credit risk, in that it invests primarily in financial
instruments with at least an investment grade rating. The rating
information is acquired from popular market data providers and
monitored regularly for changes. In order to determine whether the
published ratings are up-to-date and whether a significant increase
in the credit risk has taken place, the determination of expected credit
losses is based on credit default swap spreads and available press
and supervisory information, in addition to the rating information.
The following table presents an analysis of the credit quality of the
cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand). A differentiation
is made here between the 12-month credit expected losses and the
lifetime expected credit losses, whereby the latter is further differentiated according to whether it is impaired or not impaired:

Impairment losses for expected credit losses in
accordance with IFRS 9

T€

Portfolio under IAS 39 as of
Dec. 31, 2017

12-month
expected
credit losses

Lifetime
expected
credit losses

Not impaired

Not impaired

collective

collective

0

0

Adjustment effect IFRS 9

175

0

Jan. 1, 2018

175

0

Amounts amortized (consumption)

–

–

Net remeasurement of allowances
(+Addition - Reversal)

195

185

Dec. 31, 2018

370

185

Under IAS 39, no impairments were formed up to December 31, 2017.
In the past fiscal year, there were no significant changes in the gross
carrying amount of financial instruments that would have contributed to significant changes in the impairment.

Analysis of the credit quality of cash and cash
equivalents (excluding cash on hand)
12-month
expected
credit losses

Lifetime
expected
credit losses

Not impaired

Not impaired

Rating class

collective

collective

Gross carrying
amount

BBB- to AAA

257

0

155,014

BB- to BB+

113

185

65,034

CCC- to B+

0

0

77

370

185

220,125

T€

For fiscal year 2018, the following movements occurred in the impairments for cash and cash equivalents:
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11. Assets held for sale
The carrying amount of assets held for sale consists largely of
land that is held as an object of exchange in connection with the
acquisition of land for extensions. Other developed and undeveloped
land is intended for sale. Disposals at market conditions are expected
for both barter transactions and sale transactions in the following
fiscal year.

The main components of the carrying amount of reserves are:

The main components of the carrying amount of other equity are:

Composition of the carrying amounts of the reserves

Composition of the carrying amounts of other equity

T€

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

T€

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Capital reserve

102,258

102,258

Hedge reserve

-37,519

-48,261

Actuarial gains and losses

-13,085

-13,896

Deferred taxes

3,638

3,863

Miscellaneous other revenue reserves

58,542

58,542

Revenue reserves

49,095

48,509

151,353

150,767

Deferred taxes

12. Equity
The subscribed capital of FMG is divided into three shares. All shares
are fully paid.

Reserves

The notional value per share is:

Composition of share capital
T€

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Free State of Bavaria

156,456

156,456

Federal Republic of Germany

79,762

79,762

City of Munich

70,558

70,558

306,776

306,776

Total

Each ten euros of a share shall grant one vote within the scope of
the resolution adopted by the shareholders' meeting. The disposal of
the shares or parts thereof requires the approval of all shareholders.
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The capital reserve results from a capital increase in connection with
the construction of the airport facilities at the current location in
Erdinger Moos. Capital reserves can only be recalled upon unanimous
consent of all shareholders.
The other revenue reserves are used to fund investment projects at
subsidiaries (AeroGround Flughafen München GmbH, CAP Flughafen
München Sicherheits-GmbH) and meet the requirements of loan
contract (Terminal 2 Gesellschaft mbH & Co oHG). The respective
shareholders’ meetings decide upon the formation and withdrawal
of these reserves.

7,502

9,650

Measurement through other
comprehensive income

-30,017

-38,611

Initial adoption of IFRSs

975,313

975,313

Initial application of IFRS 9

-1,635

0

810,727

691,996

Retained earnings

1,784,405

1,667,309

Other equity

1,754,388

1,628,698

Miscellaneous other retained earnings

13. Capital management
Capital management pursues the aim of ensuring the going concern
and generating appropriate returns for the shareholders. Measures
are taken to manage the capital structure and the profitability in
order to achieve this aim.
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a) Capital structure
Capital structure is controlled with a view to sustainably maintaining
a company rating in the investment grade.

Procedures and methods of controlling and monitoring the capital
structure have not changed in comparison with the prior year.

b) Profitability
The prime key performance indicator (KPI) for the determination
of the company’s rating is net debt/adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted
EBITDA is meant to create a sustainable KPI. Adjustments relate to
non-recurring effects in the current year. In fiscal year 2018, there
were no effects that were adjusted, therefore the adjusted EBITDA
corresponds to the EBITDA.
The capital structure is managed with regard to the ratio between net
debt and adjusted EBITDA derived from the target rating. This ratio is
compared with benchmark KPIs of capital market-listed companies
of the European peer group at regular intervals.
Due to the shareholder structure of FMG, the Group primarily concentrates its efforts to manage the capital structure on the scope
of financing through borrowings.
The ratio has developed as follows:

Capital structure
T€
Financial liabilities from interests in
partnerships
Other financial liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
EBITDA of the fiscal year = adjusted EBITDA
Net debt/adjusted EBITDA
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2018

2017

346,058

315,375

1,955,134

2,070,696

-221,823

-164,625

2,079,369

2,221,446

538,078

519,987

3.9

4.3

The Group uses EBT to measure profitability. A large part of the
incentives of managers is based on this value. Within the framework
of value-oriented management, Munich Airport strives to achieve a
return on capital employed (ROCE), which can be used, among other
things, to evaluate investments in comparison to the WACC (weighted
average cost of capital).
In the fiscal year 2018, the EBT amounts to T€ 221,319 (previous
year: T€ 229,240).
Procedures and methods of controlling profitability have not changed
in comparison with the prior year.

14. F inancial liabilities from interests in partnerships
In the consolidated financial statements according to HGB, financial
liabilities from interests in partnerships are presented as equity.
The economic content and the measurement of financial liabilities
from interests in partnerships are described in Section IV.14.b and
Section V.2. They belong to the measurement category «financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost». The carrying amount is a
reasonable approximation of fair value.

Under the accounting and measurement methods of these financial
statements, the carrying amount is broken down by maturity in
accordance with Articles 122, 132 et seq. HGB. It does therefore not
correspond to the actually expected maturities.

Composition of the carrying amount of the financial
liabilities from interests in partnerships
T€
Carrying amount
of which non-current
of which current

Dec. 31,
2017

346,058

315,375

309,139

293,045

36,919

22,330

The resulting financial liability and liquidity requirement for the
Group can be approximately derived from the expected distributions
and retained profit shares in subsequent years, as well as from the
underlying discount factors. A reduction in the interest rate will lead
to an increase in the financial liability.
The following sensitivity analysis provides a quantitative estimate of
the scope of the above-mentioned risk:

Interest rate in %

The selected risk-adequate discount rate of 9.5 percent represents
an after tax figure derived from the capital cost structure. In addition
to the final maturity of the pro rata fixed capital, the financial liability
also takes into account the discounted capital contributions and
discounted potential for distributions during the term of the contract
though to 2056.

Dec. 31,
2018

Value of financial liability
in € million

8.5

9.5

10.5

375,870

346,058

320,533

Calculation methods and type of assumptions used in the preparation
of the sensitivity analysis are identical to the previous period.
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15. Non-current financial liabilities

a) Non-current trade payables

Carrying amounts and fair values of non-current financial liabilities
are attributable to the measurement categories described in
Section IV.9.c as follows:

Non-current trade payables mainly relate to warranty retentions.

b) Non-current other payables
Non-current other payables mainly relate to deposits.

Composition of the carrying amount and fair value of non-current financial liabilities
At fair value through
profit or loss
T€

Dec. 31, 2018

No IFRS 9
measurement category

At amortized cost
Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2018

Deposits bear interest at market rates. There are no significant
differences between carrying amount and fair value.

Total
Dec. 31, 2018

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Trade payables

0

0

12,166

12,208

0

0

12,166

12,208

Refund liabilities

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other payables

0

0

199

199

0

0

199

199

Payables

0

0

12,365

12,407

0

0

12,365

12,407

Borrowings

0

0 1,275,783 1,304,714

0

0 1,275,783 1,304,714

Financial liabilities from finance leases¹)

0

0

0

0

0

Non-derivative financial liabilities

0

0 1,275,783 1,304,714

0

0 1,275,783 1,304,714

Derivative financial liabilities (hedge accounting)

0

0

0

0

38,904

38,904

38,904

38,904

Derivative financial liabilities

5

5

0

0

0

0

5

5

Other financial liabilities

5

5 1,275,783 1,304,714

38,904

38,904 1,314,692 1,343,623

Non-current financial liabilities

5

5 1,288,148 1,317,121

38,904

38,904 1,327,057 1,356,030

0

0

0

c) Non-current borrowings
Borrowings mainly relate to syndicated loans. The loans bear usual
non-financial covenants, including negative pledge and pari passu
clauses. In addition, there are other general conventional agreements
concerning interest rate adjustment and repayment in the event of
changes in the FMG shareholder structure. No financial covenants
have been agreed.
Non-current borrowings include the following amounts:

Composition of the borrowings
Dec. 31, 2018

Fixed interest rate
No IAS 39
measurement category

At amortized cost
T€

Dec. 31, 2017

Dec. 31, 2017

Floating interest rate

Total
Dec. 31, 2017

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Trade payables

12,293

12,309

0

0

12,293

12,309

Other payables

205

205

0

0

205

205

12,498

12,514

0

0

12,498

12,514

1,343,194 1,388,953

0

0 1,343,194 1,388,953

0

0

Payables
Borrowings
Financial liabilities from finance leases¹)
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities (hedge accounting)

0

0

1,343,194 1,388,953
0

0

0

0

Dec. 31, 2017

Carrying
amount

Transaction
costs

T€

T€

T€

682,314

0

682,314

Total

736,054

-5,768

730,286

1,418,368

-5,768

1,412,600

Carrying
amount

Transaction
costs

Total

T€

T€

T€

Fixed interest rate

687,535

0

687,535

Floating interest rate

836,260

-6,733

829,527

1,523,795

-6,733

1,517,062

0 1,343,194 1,388,953

0

49,853

49,853

Other financial liabilities

1,343,194 1,388,953

49,853

49,853 1,393,047 1,438,806

49,853

49,853

Non-current financial liabilities

1,355,692 1,401,467

49,853

49,853 1,405,545 1,451,320

)

¹  Only the derecognition principles described in Section IV.9.a must be applied to financial liabilities from finance leases. Otherwise, the general accounting
principles for financial liabilities from finance leases described in Section IV.8 are applied.
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The main conditions of loans with short and long-term fixed interest
rates are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2017

Carrying
amount

Residual
debt

T€

T€

from in %

to in %

682,314

685,241

0.48

3.49

Carrying
amount

Residual
debt

T€

T€

687,535

695,879

Interest

0.48

4.05

Discounting

Carrying
amount

≤ 1 year

0

0

0

T€

Total

0

0

0

Recognized hedges

T€

Dec. 31, 2017

Carrying
amount

Residual
debt

Base interest

T€

T€

736,054

734,404

3M and 6M EURIBOR

Carrying
amount

Residual
debt

Base interest

T€

T€

836,260

836,260

3M and 6M EURIBOR

The current portion of the borrowings (including transaction costs)
is recognized under current financial liabilities.

Dec. 31,
2017

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

0

0

40,173

51,255

Interest rate swaps

Dec. 31, 2017
Expected
payment

≤ 1 year

52

Total

52

Discounting

Carrying
amount

Off-balance sheet
hedges

0

52

0

52

Forward exchange
transactions

0

213

34

0

Total

0

213

40,207

51,255

The current portion of the financial liabilities from finance leases is
presented among current financial liabilities.

The carrying amount of the derivatives corresponds with their fair
value.

The finance leases include agreements on the transfer of office equipment and data processing systems in particular. The minimum lease
term of the agreements in question equals the economic useful life of
the items transferred. The leases are generally embedded in a service
and maintenance agreement. In fiscal year 2018, all financing leases
expired. New contracts were not concluded.

The carrying amount of derivatives with a term to maturity of less
than one year is recognized under current financial assets/liabilities.

e) Non-current derivative financial liabilities
Information on derivatives can be found in Section VII.16 below.
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Liabilities

Dec. 31,
2018

Cash flow hedge

T€

Key conditions of floating-rate loans

Assets

Expected
payment

The main conditions of loans with short and long-term floating
interest rates are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2018

Composition of the carrying amount of derivative
financial instruments

Dec. 31, 2018
to in %

Munich Airport uses derivatives as hedging instruments for financial
risk management purposes. All hedging relationships are rated as
effective. Trading in derivatives for speculative purposes is generally
prohibited at Munich Airport.
The carrying amounts of the derivatives are as follows:

Total and present value of payments on finance leases
expected in future periods

Interest
from in %

16. Derivatives and hedging relationships

The carrying amount of financial liabilities from finance leases equals
the present value of outstanding minimum lease payments. The total
payments to be made in future periods and their present values are
compared in the following overview:

Key conditions of fixed-rate loans
Dec. 31, 2018

d) Non-current financial liabilities from finance
leases

a) C ash flow hedge
Munich Airport is exposed to a risk of interest rate change due to
fluctuations in interest rates. To limit interest rate risk, the Group
concludes interest rate hedges for floating-rate loans. The floating-rate payments are exchanged for fixed-rate payments (payfixed/receive-floating). As a result, the consequences of a change in
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interest payment obligations for future loans are largely compensated
for, so that a specific, floating rate of interest on the net position
is striven for with respect to the long-term refinancing. Managing
the hedging ratio guarantees a high level of planning security for the
interest result, while also facilitating a participation should interest
rates fall. The derivatives portfolio includes current and forward
starting swaps.
The risk management objective is to eliminate the risk of a change
in cash flows due to interest rate changes («interest rate risk»)
by designating a portion of the nominal amount of the syndicated
loan («hedging ratio»). The hedging ratio is reduced successively in
accordance with the payment schedule of the syndicated loan. Within
the limits defined by the hedging ratio, the interest rate risk should
be largely eliminated.
The hedged risk arises from the cash flows from floating interest rate
loans. Interest rate swaps are used for hedging purposes, which are
entirely designated in the hedging relationship.
The portfolio of hedges is composed as follows:

Derivatives portfolio

Derivatives portfolio
Dec. 31, 2017
Type

Swaps

Nominal
amount

FMG receives

T€

from in %

to in %

724,000

0.28

2.92

3M and 6M
EURIBOR

The carrying amount of hedged items and derivatives that are
designated as cash flow hedges changed as follows:

Carrying amount of hedged items
Dec. 31, 2018

Value change used as the
basis for recognizing an
ineffectiveness of the hedge

Hedge reserve of
cash flows

6,907

37,911

T€
Instrument with
floating interest
rates

Carrying amount of the derivatives for cash flow hedges
Carrying amount of the
derivatives

Maturity
Dec. 31, 2018

FMG pays

Total

2018

2019 to
2022

of which the designated
portion

After 2022

Swaps
Nominal amount
(in T€)

644,000

Average fixed
interest rates (in %)

58,000

531,000

55,000

2.61

2.37

0.52

Dec. 31,
2018

Interest rate
swaps

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

Nominal
amount

Assets

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

T€

T€

T€

T€

T€

644,000

0

40,173

0

37,519

Balance sheet
item, in which
the hedged item
is included

Borrowings

Value change
of the hedging
instrument that
was recognized
in other comprehensive income

Amount that
was reclassified
from the hedge
reserve into
profit or loss

T€

T€

6,911

17,653

Items in the
statement of
comprehensive
income, in which
the reclassification amount is
included

Interest result
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Change in the carrying amount of derivatives
designated into cash flow hedges
T€

Interest rate hedge

Effective portion
As of Jan. 1, 2017

66,725

Reclassification

-20,148

Revaluation

1,684

As of Dec. 31, 2017

48,261

Ineffective portion

The effective portion of the interest rate hedges is reclassified to
financial expenses upon occurrence of the hedged interest payment,
offsetting the expenses from interest payments for the hedged
items.

Development of the hedge reserve
T€

Hedge reserve

Jan. 1, 2018

48,261

Changes in fair value

As of Jan. 1, 2017

0

Revaluation

0

As of Dec. 31, 2017

0

Non-designated portion

Interest rate risk

6,911

Amount that was reclassified into profit or loss
Interest rate risk

-17,653

Dec. 31, 2018

As of Jan. 1, 2017

37,519

2,923

Net change

71

As of Dec. 31, 2017

2,994

Carrying amount
As of Jan. 1, 2017

69,648

As of Dec. 31, 2017

51,255
Asset Liability
0

51,255

In the previous year, under IAS 39 the expected reclassification in the
following periods was presented as follows:

a comparison is performed here of the reference interest rate, the
term, the interest rate adjustment dates and terms, as well as the
nominal amounts. Possible mismatches are expected from the consideration of the credit risk in the hypothetical derivative; but usually
that does not lead to any ineffectiveness that had to be recorded
through profit or loss. Further sources of ineffectiveness are not
known in the Group.

b) Off-balance sheet hedging relationships
The carrying amount of non-designated hedging relationships results
from forward exchange transactions, which are used to limit liquidity
risks arising from long-term sales agreements in foreign currency.
The aim of these transactions is to ensure that expected fees are
exchanged at a specific exchange rate.
Because of the small number of transactions and the minor consequences for consolidated profit, Munich Airport decided to suspend
accounting for these types of hedges on January 1, 2014 until further
notice.
The main terms of these forward exchange transactions are:

Expected reclassification from the hedge reserve to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
Dec. 31, 2017

2018

2019
to 2022

Key conditions of forward exchange transactions

After 2022

Dec. 31, 2018

T€

Type

Expected reclassification to
interest expenses

Forward exchange
transactions

1,148

47,031

82

Dec. 31, 2017

The prospective effectiveness test is performed on designation and
subsequently each quarter. The assessment of effectiveness takes
place prospectively on the basis of qualitative features or using
cumulative dollar offset methods based on hypothetical derivative
methods. Due to corresponding main measurement parameters and
the designation of the hedging relationship as a micro hedge, the
value changes of the hedged item and the hedging transaction are
almost completely offset by each other. As a critical value parameter,
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Type
Forward exchange
transactions

Nominal
amount

FMG
pays

FMG Exchange Exchange
receives rate from
rate to

T€
1,391

USD

Nominal
amount FMG pays

EUR

USD

EUR/USD

1.17

1.21

FMG Exchange Exchange
receives rate from
rate to

T€
4,626

EUR/USD

EUR

EUR/USD

EUR/USD

1.09

1.20
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17. E
 mployee benefits

a) Post-employment pension benefits

Provisions for employee benefits contain:

Obligations from pension commitments exist towards managing
directors, authorised signatories and their surviving dependents.
They comprise a total of 29 entitled persons (Dec. 31, 2017: 29),
of whom 4 (Dec. 31, 2017: 4) are active employees and 25 (Dec. 31,
2017: 25) are retired persons, surviving dependents, and other entitled persons. The amount of the benefits depends on the length of
service, the salary at the time of retirement, and the general pension
level. The pension payments are made from current operating cash
flows.

Composition of the carrying amounts of provisions for
employee benefits
Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Post-employment pension benefits

29,463

30,272

Post-employment medical benefits

3,585

3,853

33,048

34,125

4,458

3,873

T€

Post-employment benefits
Jubilee benefits
Partial retirement arrangements

10,132

9,230

Other long-term employee benefits

14,590

13,103

4,184

3,581

Termination benefits
Bonus payments

Munich Airport has not invested any plan assets for the financing of
pension benefit payments. The carrying amount of the provision corresponds to the amount of the cumulative defined benefit obligation.
The carrying amount of the defined pension benefit obligation developed as follows:

6,332

4,282

29,882

27,953

5,517

5,165

796

2,841

Other short-term employee benefits

42,527

40,241

T€

Employee benefits

94,349

91,050

Obligation as of Jan. 1

50,864

50,163

Current service costs

Overtime accounts
Unpaid wages and salaries
Other benefits

of which non-current
of which current

43,485

40,887

Interest expense

Actuarial gains and losses

Changes in demographic parameters
Experience-based changes
As of Dec. 31

12,289

11,763

-759

0

258

0

33

526

11,821

12,289

The measurement of the defined pension benefit obligations is based
on the following assumptions:

1.8

1.6

607

Salary trend

3.0

3.0

469

Pension trend

2.0

2.0

Fluctuation

0.0

0.0

30,051

611

-1,381

-468

526
30,272

985

1,083

Expected pension payments

-1,417

-1,422

Expected obligation as of Dec. 31 of the
following year

29,031

29,933

Expected pension expense

Change in financial assumptions

2017

Discount rate

30,272

29,463

Obligation as of Dec. 31

As of Jan. 1

2018

Dec. 31,
2017

2017

-1,424

T€

Dec. 31,
2018

2018

472

Reasons for the change in actuarial gains or losses
from provisions for post-employment pension benefits

Assumptions for the measurement of provisions for
post-employment pension benefits

Change in the carrying amount of the provisions for
post-employment pension benefits

Pension payments

Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018

The change of actuarial losses is attributable to the following:

%

For the first time, life expectancy was derived in fiscal year 2018 from
the 2018 G guideline tables of Heubeck Richttafeln GmbH based on
monthly payments made in advance.
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The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is twelve years
(Dec. 31, 2017: eleven years).
The liquidity risk resulting from post-employment pension benefits is
moderate. The risk can be approximated from the expected p
 ension
payments of the following year and the average duration of the
pension commitments.
Additional risks arise from fluctuations of interest rates, the salary,
and the pension trend. A reduction of interest rates will result in an
increase in the amount of the defined benefit obligation. Likewise,
the carrying amount will increase with an increase in the expected
salary at the time of retirement. The same applies for an increase in
the pension level following retirement. There is only a moderate risk,
on the other hand, from a change in life expectancy.
The following sensitivity analysis provides a quantitative estimate of
the scope of the above-mentioned risks:

Sensitivity analysis on the carrying amount of the
provisions for post-employment pension benefits
Dec. 31, 2018

Change in
assumption

The sensitivity analysis is based on the change of one assumption
while holding all other assumptions constant. The method applied in
the calculation of sensitivities is that used to subsequently measure
pension obligations (the projected unit credit method).

The carrying amount of the defined medical benefit obligation developed as follows:

The calculation methods and assumptions did not change compared
to the previous period.

T€

b) P
 ost-employment medical benefits

Current service costs

Civil servants and pensioners are entitled to receive post-employment medical benefits. They comprise a total of 44 entitled persons
(Dec. 31, 2017: 46), of whom 18 (Dec. 31, 2017: 19) are active
employees and 26 (Dec. 31, 2017: 27) are retired persons and surviving dependents. The amount of the medical benefits depends on
the length of service. Benefit payments will be paid lifelong from the
date of retirement and will be provided indirectly through insurance.
Munich Airport has not invested any plan assets for the financing
of medical benefit payments. The carrying amount of the provision
corresponds to the amount of cumulative defined benefit obligation.

Change in the carrying amount of the provisions for
post-employment medical benefits
Obligation as of Jan. 1

Interest expense
Aid payments

2018

2017

3,853

3,960

197

220

60

62

-182

-177

Actuarial gains and losses

-343

-212

Obligation as of Dec. 31

3,585

3,853

226

257

-175

-182

3,636

3,928

Expected addition
Expected benefit payments
Expected obligation as of Dec. 31 of the
following year

The change of actuarial gains and losses is attributable to the
following:

Change in obligation
+

-

Discount rate

1.0

-11.4

14.0

Reasons for the change in the actuarial gains or losses
from provisions for post-employment medical benefits

Salary trend

1.0

1.3

-1.2

T€

%

Pension trend

Dec. 31, 2017

1.0
Change in
assumption

%

11.9

-10.1

Change in obligation
+

-

Discount rate

1.0

-11.8

14.7

Salary trend

1.0

1.5

-1.4

Pension trend

1.0

12.0

-10.2
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As of Jan. 1

2018

2017

1,607

1,819

Change in financial assumptions

-103

0

Experience-based changes

-284

-212

Changes in demographic parameters
As of Dec. 31

44

0

1,264

1,607
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The measurement of the defined medical benefit obligations is based
on the following assumptions:

The following sensitivity analysis provides a quantitative estimate of
the scope of the above-mentioned risks:

Assumptions for the measurement of provisions for
post-employment medical benefits

Sensitivity analysis on the carrying amount of the
provisions for post-employment medical benefits

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Discount rate

1.8

1.6

%

+

-

Fluctuation

0.0

0.0

Discount rate

1.0

-12.4

15.9

Cost trend

3.0

3.0

Cost trend

1.0

15.4

-12.4

Average insurance premiums in T€

9.1

9.1

%

Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2017

For the first time, life expectancy was derived in fiscal year 2018 from
the 2018 G guideline tables of Heubeck Richttafeln GmbH based on
monthly payments made in advance.

Change in
assumption

Change in
assumption

%

Change in obligation

Change in obligation
+

-

Discount rate

1.0

-12.5

15.9

Cost trend

1.0

15.4

-12.5

The average duration is 14 years (Dec. 31, 2017: 13 years).
The benefit commitments result in a moderate liquidity risk for the
Group. This risk can be approximated from the expected benefit
payment for the following year and the average duration of benefit
commitments.
Additional risks arise from fluctuations in the level of market interest
rates and future medical costs. A reduction in the market interest
rate level will lead to an increase in the amount of provisions for
medical benefit commitments. The provision amount will likewise
increase with an increase in the expected medical costs. There is only
a moderate risk, on the other hand, from a change in life expectancy.
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The sensitivity analysis is based on the change of one assumption
while holding all other assumptions constant. The method applied in
the calculation of sensitivities is that used to subsequently measure
medical benefit obligations (the projected unit credit method).
The calculation methods and assumptions did not change compared
to the previous period.

c) P ost-employment benefits via the Bavarian
municipalities’ supplementary welfare fund
All employees of Munich Airport employed in accordance with the
provisions of the public sector’s collective pay scale agreement
receive an occupational pension. They are insured via their respective
employers in the Bavarian municipalities’ supplementary welfare
fund. The supplementary welfare fund provides all employees of its
members with insurance covering post-employment benefits, benefits to compensate for reductions in earning capacity, and benefits
for surviving dependents.

The fund is financed via the levies and supplementary contributions of
its members from investment and provisions. The levy is determined
on the basis of an actuarial calculation, which is updated annually, of
the fund’s financing requirement over the planning horizon applicable
at the time (maximum ten years). The levy rate currently amounts
to 3.75 percent. The fund also levies an additional contribution to
build up a capital stock, which currently stands at 4.0 percent. If
membership is cancelled, the company withdrawing from the fund
must make a compensatory contribution equal to the present value
of all obligations from post-employment benefits to the company’s
insured employees.
The occupational post-employment benefits provided via the welfare
fund are a joint pension commitment by several companies. The
members of the welfare fund bear the financial and biometric risk
of post-employment benefits jointly. The – theoretically possible –
asset allocation for each member is not constituted from the total
contributions paid in each case but purely arithmetically from the
total actuarial risks contributed in each case. Munich Airport is also
exposed to the actuarial risks of the active and former employees
of other external members with regard to the components of the
obligation covered by the levy. It is impossible to reconcile the assets
and a clear allocation of the obligation reliably. Post-employment
benefits are therefore accounted for as a defined contribution plan.
Contribution payments are recognized as an expense immediately.
Munich Airport is not aware of any deficits or surplus at the welfare
fund nor of the scope of other companies’ participation.
Munich Airport is expecting contribution payments and payments in
direct insurances of T€ 18,531 for fiscal year 2019. In fiscal year 2018
contribution payments and payments in direct insurances totaling
T€ 18,059 were made.
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18. Other provisions

Payments for other provisions are expected in the following intervals:

The carrying amount of other provisions developed as follows:

Expected payments due to other provisions

Composition of the carrying amount of other provisions

Dec. 31, 2018

Regional fund

Tax and
authorities audit

Miscellaneous

Total

89,586

2,280

9,358

101,224

Changes as of Jan. 1, 2018 as a result of IFRS 9

0

0

14

14

Additions

0

1,728

8,106

9,834

Use

0

-45

-3,647

-3,692

Release

0

-3

-1,702

-1,705

Compounding

0

0

3

3

-2,539

0

0

-2,539

749

0

12

761

87,796

3,960

12,144

103,900

770

3,142

10,219

14,131

87,026

818

1,925

89,769

T€
As of Jan. 1, 2018

Discounting
Changes in interest rates
As of Dec. 31, 2018
of which current
of which non-current

Provisions for the regional fund have been recognized for obligations
arising from agreements with neighboring municipalities on the funding of infrastructure projects where it is not certain when and to what
extent funds will be drawn. The Airport agreed to support certain road
construction projects in Freising and Erding with a total amount of
T€ 10,000 up to 2010. T€ 9,340 of the fund have already been drawn
up to fiscal year 2018. The remainder amount is expected to be paid in
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2019. Furthermore, in the event of the realization of the third runway,
an additional T€ 40,000 for transport infrastructure projects and
T€ 50,000 for other infrastructure projects and to mitigate individual
hardship is available to the surrounding municipalities and affected
parties from the regional fund. The funds can be drawn in maximum
annual installments of T€ 10,000 only upon commencement of
project realization.

In one year

In 2 to 5
years After 5 years

T€
Regional fund

770

0

3,142

819

0

Miscellaneous

10,219

883

1,047

Total

14,131

1,702

90,937

Tax and authorities audits

89,890

As at the reporting date, there were loan commitments from
granted cash pooling lines and loan commitments to non-consolidated subsidiaries and joint ventures as well as associates in the
amount of T€ 7,018 (Jan. 1, 2018: T€ 11,288), which were assigned
an investment grade rating. The provision due to expected credit
losses is recognized at T€ 4 (Jan. 1, 2018: T€ 14) and represents
the 12-month credit loss. The change during the fiscal year resulted
from the re-measurement.
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19. Current financial liabilities

a) Other current payables

The carrying amounts of current financial liabilities are attributable to the measurement categories described in Section IV.9.c as follows.
Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of market value.

The carrying amount of other current payables is comprised as
follows:

Composition of the carrying amounts of current financial liabilities

Composition of the carrying amount of current other
liabilities

Dec. 31, 2018

At fair value through
profit or loss

At amortized cost

No IFRS 9
measurement category

Total
T€

T€

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

56,887

65,865
6,974

Trade payables

0

49,894

0

49,894

Outstanding invoices

Refund liabilities

0

33,570

0

33,570

Debtors with credit balances

6,397

Other payables

0

79,038

0

79,038

Payables to associates and shareholdings

5,249

5,676

Payables

0

162,502

0

162,502

Payables from marketing activities

0

12,063

Borrowings from shareholders

0

502,327

0

502,327

Miscellaneous other payables

10,505

16,532

136,817

Total

79,038

107,110

Borrowings

0

136,817

0

Financial liabilities from finance leases¹)

0

0

0

0

Non-derivative financial liabilities

0

639,144

0

639,144

Derivative financial liabilities (hedge accounting)

0

0

1,269

1,269

Derivative financial liabilities

29

0

0

29

Other financial liabilities

29

639,144

1,269

640,442

Current financial liabilities

29

801,646

1,269

802,944

)

¹  Only the derecognition principles described in Section IV.9.a must be applied to financial liabilities from finance leases. Otherwise, the general accounting
principles for financial liabilities from finance leases described in Section IV.8 are applied.

Dec. 31, 2017

Held for trading
purposes

At amortized cost

No IAS 39
measurement category

Total

T€
Trade payables

0

52,193

0

52,193

Other payables

0

107,110

0

107,110

Payables

0

159,303

0

159,303

Borrowings from shareholders

0

502,327

0

502,327

Borrowings

0

173,868

0

173,868

Financial liabilities from finance leases¹)

0

52

0

52

Non-derivative financial liabilities

0

676,247

0

676,247

Derivative financial liabilities

0

0

1,402

1,402

Other financial liabilities

0

676,247

1,402

677,649

Current financial liabilities

0

835,550

1,402

836,952

b) Borrowings from shareholders
T€ 130,418 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 130,418) of the borrowings from
shareholders are owed to the Federal Republic of Germany,
T€ 255,821 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 255,821) to the Free State of Bavaria
and T€ 116,087 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 116,087) to the City of Munich.
The loans bear earnings-based interest and are for indefinite terms.
Repayment requires a separate agreement. They are classified as
current since Munich Airport does not have the unrestricted right
to deny repayment within the following fiscal year. In the year under
review, interest expense on shareholder loans amounted to T€ 10,414
(2017: T€ 10,414).

c) Current financial liabilities from finance leases
Notes on financial liabilities resulting from finance leases can be
found in Section VII.15.d.

)

¹  Only the derecognition principles described in Section IV.9.a must be applied to financial liabilities from finance leases. Otherwise, the general accounting
principles for financial liabilities from finance leases described in Section IV.8 are applied.
Munich Airport: Integrated Report 2018
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20. Other liabilities
The carrying amount of other liabilities is comprised as follows:

Composition of the carrying amount of other liabilities
T€
Liabilities from taxes and other levies
Advance payments received¹) & Miscellaneous
Other non-financial liabilities
Advance payments on leases

Dec. 31,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

6,421

6,004

271

1,479

6,692

7,483

11,808

11,838

Advance payments in connection with
construction activities

4,114

3,814

Advance payments on heritable building rights

3,626

3,626

Other deferred income
Deferred income
Total
of which current
of which non-current

3,321

1,960

22,869

21,238

29,561

28,721

12,675

11,416

16,886

17,305

In addition to the provisions of the aviation permit, the airport operator must observe the regulations resulting directly from the law (in
particular the Air Traffic Act and ordinances issued from it). FMG is
required, among other things, to keep the airport in a save operating
condition at all times, to provide and maintain the equipment and
signs required to monitor and control air traffic at the airport, and
to ensure the availability of fire protection systems and emergency
services that take account of the special operating conditions.

The contract assets and contract liabilities mainly result from revenue from the retail trade, hotel and catering, and other revenue (for
example consulting projects and construction measures). Revenue
is explained in Section IV.19.

The pricing of take-off and landing charges is subject to approval
by the Bavarian State Ministry for Housing, Building and Transport.
Airlines are involved into the approval process by means of consultation procedure. In fiscal year 2014, Munich Airport concluded a
master agreement on charges with uniform terms and conditions
for all airlines, which secures the future development of air traffic
charges until 2020.

Changes in balances from contracts with customers

b) Disclosures regarding material changes
Material changes in the balances from contracts with customers
relate to the following items in the reporting period:

T€

Contract assets

As of Jan. 1, 2018

3,351

Changes from service provision

4,526

Reclassifications into trade receivables, which were
included in contract assets as at January 1, 2018
Changes in impairments

-3,149
-15

Adjustments from:

23. C
 ontract assets and contract liabilities
a) C ontract balances
The balances from contracts with customers are as follows:

Contract changes

-96

As of Dec. 31, 2018

4,617

)

¹ A
 dvance payments received that fall under IFRS 15 have been reported
under contract liabilities since January 1, 2018.

Balances from contracts with customers
T€

21. Contingent liabilities

Trade receivables

As in the prior year, there were no contingent liabilities as of
December 31, 2018.

Contract assets
Contract liabilities

Dec. 31,
2018

Jan. 1,
2018

60,861

61,310

4,617

3,351

-2,045

-2,349

22. Operating permit
On May 9, 1974, the Bavarian Ministry of Economic Affairs, Development, and Energy approved operations at Munich Airport in accordance with aviation law under Section 6 of the German Air Traffic
Act (Luftverkehrsgesetz – LuftVG). The operation permit contains
all essential regulations for airport operation. The amendment
according to Section 6 (4) LuftVG for the operation of the third runway has not yet been obtained. The operating permit does not expire
at a specific point of time.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
VII. Notes to the statement of financial position

In fiscal year 2018, an amount of T€ 1,611 was recognized in revenue, which was included in the balance of contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year. In addition, T€ 0 was recognized as revenue due
to a change in the transaction price for services already rendered in
the previous year.

T€
As of Jan. 1, 2018
Changes from service provision

Contract liabilities
2,349
-1,611

Additions due to advance payments received from
customers

1,307

As of Dec. 31, 2018

2,045
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c) Remaining performance obligations
The following table contains expected future revenue, which will be
realized from performance obligations still to be fulfilled or to be
partly fulfilled.

Expected future revenue from the realization (partly)
of remaining performance obligations

VIII. Financial risk management

1. Market risk

The risk management system of Munich Airport, along with the
significant risks, is explained in detail in Section 4.2 of the Group
management report of December 31, 2018.

Munich Airport is exposed to market risks arising from fluctuations of
interest and exchange rates. These risks have an impact on the amount
of payment obligations arising from floating-rate loan agreements.
To a lesser extent, foreign currency risks affect cash flows from
international consulting business.

2019

2020

2021 ff.

Total

In the course of its business activities, Munich Airport is exposed
to a wide range of different financial risks. They include credit,
liquidity, and market risks arising from interest rate and exchange
rate fluctuations.

24

12

0

36

Catering and hotel

118

69

0

187

Munich Airport was also exposed to these risks in the prior year in
comparable composition.

Parking

152

99

12

263

10,764

9,571

6,973

27,308

11,058

9,751

6,985

27,794

T€
Revenue in accordance with
IFRS 15
Retail trade

Other revenue
Total

Munich Airport makes use of the practical expedient of IFRS 15.121.
The notes to the consolidated financial statements do not contain
any information on remaining performance obligations, which have
an expected original term of less than one year, and no information
on performance completed, that have not yet been invoiced but have
been recognized as revenue.

Monitoring and controlling financial risks is the responsibility
of central financial and cash management. As part of the early
risk detection system, all material financial risks are reported to
the Executive Board on a quarterly basis. The Executive Board is
informed of liquidity and loan development and the development of
the derivatives portfolio by means of a monthly financial report.
Derivatives are used exclusively for hedging purposes. Business
transactions are concluded by central financial and cash management. The central finance and cash management department
uses a treasury system to document, process and control risks
arising from the derivatives portfolio. The software ensures a strict
segregation of the functions between acquisition, settlement, and
accounting of derivatives and the monitoring of risks arising from
these transactions.
The methods of financial risk management have not changed in
comparison with the prior year.

Munich Airport counters market risks by entering into derivative
financial instruments. Derivatives used as hedges are acquired solely
for hedging purposes and are mainly used to hedge fluctuations in
cash flows.

a) Interest rate risk
The interest rate risk of Flughafen München GmbH arises from longterm, floating-rate loans. Munich Airport uses interest rate swaps to
hedge cash flows against interest rate fluctuations. Disclosures on
hedging relationship can be found in Section VII.16.
Sensitivity analyses are used to show Munich Airport's remaining risk
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
The analysis of sensitivity to fluctuations in interest rates shows the
effects of an increase or a decrease in total comprehensive income,
profit or loss for the year and other comprehensive income in the event
of a parallel shift of the yield curve by plus 100 basis points or minus
25 basis points.
It is based on the following assumptions:
∫∫ Current interest expense from fixed-rate borrowings measured
at amortized cost with fixed-interest periods of more than one
year does not change. This applies regardless of when the next
interest rate is fixed.
∫∫ Effects of changes in the yield curves on the reporting date
value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost with
fixed-interest periods of more than one year are not taken into
consideration.
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∫∫ Current interest expense from financial instruments measured at
amortized cost with fixed-interest periods of less than one year,
for example when tied at 3M-EURIBOR or 6M-EURIBOR, changes.
This applies regardless of whether such borrowings have been
designated into cash flow hedges. The reporting date value of
these financial instruments does not change.
∫∫ Current interest expense from interest-bearing derivatives, for
example when tied at 3M-EURIBOR or 6M-EURIBOR, changes.
This applies regardless of whether such instruments have been
designated into cash flow hedges.

The sensitivity analysis uses the same assumptions and methods as
in the previous year.

Sales of goods and gastronomic service are mainly made against
cash or by credit card payment.

b) Foreign currency risk

Identifiable default risks of individual financial assets are accounted
for by corresponding (individual) impairments in accordance with the
regulations for determining expected credit losses defaults in the
context of impaired financial assets (stage 3).

Foreign currency risks result for the most part from operative activities in foreign currencies. Fluctuations in cash flows arising from
exchange rate fluctuations are eliminated through forward exchange
transaction. This results in risks from fluctuations of the euro against
the US dollar (USD). For reasons of materiality, no currency sensitivity
analysis is performed.

A concentration of credit risks arising from business relations with
individual debtors or groups of debtors is not apparent.

2. Credit risk

3. Liquidity risk

∫∫ Reporting date value of derivatives changes. Secondary effects
from the parallel shift in the yield curve such as the change in forward exchange rates are not taken into account when determining
interest rate sensitivity.

The credit risk is the risk of a financial loss, insofar as a debtor
cannot fulfill its contractual obligations with respect to the financial
instrument. Munich Airport’s credit risk primarily results from trade
receivables and short-term deposits.

∫∫ As far as derivative financial instruments have been designated
into cash flow hedges, the ineffective portion of the changes in
value affects profit/loss of the year. The effective portion of the
changes in value has an effect on other comprehensive income.

The gross carrying amount of financial assets represents the gross
exposure to the credit risk; it thus represents the maximum default
risk and is described in further detail in the relevant sections on
the financial assets. Without taking account of any collateral held,
Munich Airport’s maximum exposure to credit risk is T€ 301,602
(Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 251,716).

The liquidity risk describes the risk that Munich Airport might
not be able in the future to meet its financial obligations, such as
the redemption of financial debts or the settlement of financial
liabilities on maturity. Monitoring and controlling liquidity risks is
the responsibility of central financial and cash management. The
liquidity risk is monitored in the course of long-, medium-, and
short-term financial planning. In order to ensure solvency at all
times, long-term credit lines and liquid funds are made available
based on a rolling liquidity plan.

Based on the above mentioned assumptions, a parallel shift of the
yield curve by plus 100 or minus 25 basis points will decrease or
increase total comprehensive income, profit or loss for the year, and
other comprehensive income as follows:

Interest sensitivity analysis
Dec. 31, 2018
T€

+100 BP¹

Total comprehensive income

)

Dec. 31, 2017
)

-25 BP¹ +100 BP¹)

-25 BP¹)

9,556

-2,520

15,046

-3,970

thereof other
comprehensive income

15,996

-4,131

22,286

-5,780

thereof profit or loss for
the year

-6,440

1,610

-7,240

1,810

¹ ) Basis points

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The default risk for short-term deposits is countered by ensuring
these are only held by credit institutions that have deposit protection.
The credit risk of receivables is analyzed and managed by a central
responsible body (receivables management). Potential bad debt risks
are countered by a timely and correct invoicing of the subjects of
performance by means of monitoring, and enforcement of punctual
and complete settlement of the resulting receivables. This includes
the comprehensive credit assessment of customers, constant
monitoring of open items, and a stringent dunning process Lease
payments are secured through rental deposits and guarantees.
Ground handling services are rendered only against deposit of cash
collateral and bank guarantees.

Group-wide cash management concentrates the cash and cash
equivalents of the operating subsidiaries. In addition to access to
operating cash surplus, Munich Airport maintains adequate liquidity
in the form of short-term deposits and sufficient credit lines with
banks. In the reporting year, cash flow from operating activities
amounted to T€ 468,296 (2017: T€ 381,921). Munich Airport had
access to free credit lines of T€ 256,687 (Dec. 31, 2017: T€ 236,296).
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The following table shows the contractually agreed interest and
redemption payments for primary and derivative financial liabilities.

Liquidity analysis
2019
Dec. 31, 2018

2020 to 2023

Interest Redemption

After 2023

Interest Redemption

Interest Redemption

Total

T€
Partnerships

0

36,919

0

153,423

0

1,094,447

1,284,789

Shareholders

10,414

491,913

0

0

0

0

502,327

Banks

18,441

123,906

56,249

781,809

22,435

513,931

1,516,771

Leases

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Trade payables

0

49,894

0

12,700

0

0

62,594

Other financial liabilities (incl. refund liabilities)

0

112,608

0

198

0

0

112,806

Non-derivative financial liabilities

28,855

815,240

56,249

948,130

22,435

1,608,378

3,479,287

Derivative financial liabilities (hedge accounting)

15,663

0

24,996

0

-167

0

40,492

5

0

29

0

0

0

34

Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities

15,668

0

25,025

0

-167

0

40,526

Total

44,523

815,240

81,274

948,130

22,268

1,608,378

3,519,813

2018
Dec. 31, 2017

2019 to 2022

Interest Redemption

Redemption on borrowings from shareholders of Munich Airport is only
made on the basis of separate redemption agreements. If no binding
redemption decision has been made by the reporting date, redemption
on borrowings from shareholders is allocated to the interval of up to
one year.
Redemption of original financial liabilities from interests in partnerships is shown at the expected settlement amount. The due date here
is the earliest possible termination date of the shareholders.

After 2022

Interest Redemption

Interest Redemption

Total

T€
Partnerships

0

22,330

0

122,503

0

1,070,432

1,215,265

Shareholders

10,414

491,913

0

0

0

0

502,327

Banks

19,777

155,527

75,525

640,723

35,157

735,303

1,662,012

Leases

0

52

0

0

0

0

52

Trade payables

0

52,215

0

12,831

0

0

65,046

Other

0

107,110

0

205

0

0

107,315

Non-derivative financial liabilities

30,191

829,147

75,525

776,262

35,157

1,805,735

3,552,017

Derivative financial liabilities (hedge accounting)

17,780

0

34,689

0

548

0

53,017

Derivative financial liabilities

17,780

0

34,689

0

548

0

53,017

Total

47,971

829,147

110,214

776,262

35,705

1,805,735

3,605,034
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IX. N
 otes to the statement of cash flow
The carrying amounts relating to the financing activities developed
as follows in the fiscal year:

Development of the carrying amounts relating to the financing activities
Assets and liabilities

Other equity

Receivables and payables with associates
and shareholdings

Borrowings

Borrowings from
shareholders

Financial liabilities
from finance leases

Financial liabilities
from interests in
partnerships

-2,836

1,517,062

502,327

52

315,375

Derivative
financial
liabilities

51,255

Total

T€
As of Jan. 1, 2018
Distributions to shareholders

-30,000

Proceeds from borrowings

13,200

Repayments of borrowings from banks

-125,661

-52

-15,519

-10,414

-18,009

-43,942
-572

-4,916

-4,916

-572

-132,896

Other changes

4,497

26,821

10,414

As of Dec. 31, 2018

1,089

1,412,600

502,327

Changes in fair value

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
IX. Notes to the statement of cash flow

-22,330

-572

Payments for borrowing costs for qualifying assets
Cash flow from financing activities

-125,713
-22,330

Interest paid (excluding borrowing costs for qualifying
assets)

-30,000
13,200

Repayments of financial liabilities from interests in
partnerships

Cash flows from Group-wide cash management with
associates and shareholdings

1,628,698

-10,414

1,613

-52

-22,330

-18,009

-30,000

-214,273

0

16,310

-10,742

-7,181

0

0

36,703

17,703

162,871

259,009

0

346,058

40,207

1,754,388
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Assets and liabilities

Other equity

Receivables and payables with associates
and shareholdings

Borrowings

Borrowings from
shareholders

Financial liabilities
from finance leases

Derivative
financial
liabilities

802

1,544,445

502,450

260

69,648

Total

T€
As of Jan. 1, 2018
Distributions to shareholders

-30,000

Proceeds from borrowings

33,184

Repayments of borrowings from banks

-68,970

Interest paid (excluding borrowing costs for qualifying
assets)

-16,180

Cash flows from Group-wide cash management with
associates and shareholdings

Changes in fair value
Other changes
As of Dec. 31, 2017
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-30,000
33,184

-205
-10,537

-69,175
-18,832

-45,549

-2,832

Payments for borrowing costs for qualifying assets
Cash flow from financing activities

1,485,125

-2,832
-4,596

-4,596

-2,832

-56,562

-10,537

-205

-18,832

-30,000

-118,968

0

3,745

0

0

-18,464

14,719

0
214,076

-806

25,434

10,414

-3

18,903

159,328

-2,836

1,517,062

502,327

52

51,255

1,629,172

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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X. N
 otes to transactions with related
parties
FMG is the ultimate parent of the Group. The shares of Flughafen
München GmbH are held by the Free State of Bavaria (51 percent),
the Federal Republic of Germany (26 percent), and the City of Munich
(23 percent) (see Section VII.12). Decisions affecting the Company’s
business principles or involving certain risky transactions are made
unanimously by the shareholders. All other decisions are made with a
simple majority.

1. Transactions with public authorities
The shares in Flughafen München GmbH are held directly by the public
sector. Hence, all agencies of the state are related parties.
Transactions with authorities mainly result from unlimited leases
with the federal and state police and customs. The prices charged
to public authorities may not exceed refundable expenses. They are
subject to audits on a regular basis. The revenues and expenses
resulting from business relationships with authorities are not
material for the consolidated financial statements. There are no
significant open items.

2. Transactions with public sector companies
Companies whose decisions about the relevant business activities
are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the
Federal Republic of Germany, the Free State of Bavaria or the City of
Munich are also related parties.
Related public-sector companies include credit institutions with
direct public participation (for example, Bayerische Landesbank
Anstalt des öffentlichen Rechts, Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau,
and LfA Förderbank Bayern) and credit institutions with indirect
public-sector participation via special funds such as the financial
market stabilization fund SoFFin (including Commerzbank AG).
Transactions with these credit institutions result from financial
liabilities (borrowings) and derivatives (interest swaps).

Transactions with credit institutions classified as
related parties
T€

2018

2017

Interest payments

-20,433

-20,776

Redemption

-33,473

-68,970

13,200

589

-8,624

-8,853

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Drawings
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest payments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
X. Notes to transactions with related parties

In addition, related parties in the public sector include companies and
public-law institutions which have been engaged by the Federal Government and the Free State of Bavaria to perform sovereign tasks
at Munich Airport, for example the monitoring of aviation (including
DFS Deutsche Flugsicherung GmbH, SGM Sicherheitsgesellschaft am
Flughafen München GmbH, Deutscher Wetterdienst Anstalt des öffentlichen Rechts). Transactions with these companies mainly result from
indefinite rental agreements.
Munich Airport is doing business with other companies whose
financial and business policies are at least significantly influenced
by the public sector. These include, for example, the companies of
the Deutsche Post AG, Telekom Deutschland GmbH, and Deutsche
Bahn AG corporate group. There are mutual supply and service relationships between Munich Airport and these groups, but these are of
secondary importance to the group profit/loss.

3. Transactions with associates and companies that
have not been included in the consolidated group
for materiality reasons
The scope of consolidation of Flughafen München GmbH includes one
associate (EFM – Gesellschaft für Enteisen und Flugzeugschleppen
am Flughafen München mbH). The joint venture MediCare Flughafen
München Medizinisches Zentrum GmbH respectively Munich
AirportClinic GmbH and the subsidiary FMV – Flughafen München
Versicherungsvermittlungsgesellschaft mbH have not been included
in the consolidated group for materiality reasons.
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XI. E
 vents after the reporting date

There are mutual supply and service relationships between Munich
Airport and these companies with the following effects on group profit/
loss assets and liabilities:

4. Transactions with related persons

Transactions with associates and companies that
have not been included in the consolidated group for
materiality reasons

The remuneration of the members of the Executive Board comprises
a fixed salary and variable, performance-based bonus:

T€

Dec. 31, 2018

Dec. 31, 2017

Receivables (gross)

6,338

2,840

Payables

5,249

5,676

2018

2017

12,315

10,065

Other income

0

46

Total income

12,315

10,111

Cost of materials

10,815

15,362

174

175

10,989

15,537

T€
Revenue

Other expenses
Expenses

The other revenues relate primarily to IT services and maintenance of
movable assets. The cost of materials primarily results from aircraft
handling and from medical services.

The members of the Executive Board and of the Supervisory Board
of FMG are related persons.

Remuneration of the members of the Executive Board
Fixed Salary

Bonuses and other
remunerations

Total

Dr. Michael Kerkloh

315

189

504

Thomas Weyer

282

170

452

Andrea Gebbeken

210

132

342

Total

807

491

1,298

2018

In fiscal year 2019, Munich Airport intends to launch itself on the US
market. To this end, subsidiaries were already founded in mid-January 2019 in the US, by Munich Airport International GmbH.
No further events of special significance occurred after the end of
fiscal year 2018.

T€

Munich, April 11, 2019

Dr. Michael Kerkloh

Andrea Gebbeken

Thomas Weyer

Other remunerations include non-cash remunerations, contractual ancillary benefits, and one-off payments. The provisions for
post-employment pension benefits to executive officers amounts
to T€ 6,276 (2017: T€ 5,887).
Former members of the Executive Board and their surviving dependents received total payments of T€ 798 in fiscal year 2018 (2017:
T€ 781). Pension provisions of T€ 9,985 (2017: T€ 10,552) have been
set up for future pension benefits and surviving dependents benefits.
Payments to the Supervisory Board amounted to T€ 31 (2017: T€ 32).
There are no loans to or contingent liabilities entered into in favour
of board members.
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Boards of the Company
Data as of: December 31, 2018
Executive Board

Supervisory Board
Period

Dr. Michael Kerkloh
President and Chief Executive Officer, Personnel Industrial
Relations Director

Since September 2002

Andrea Gebbeken
Chief Commercial and Security Officer

Since October 2016

Thomas Weyer
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Infrastructure Officer

Since September 2008

Free State of Bavaria

General representatives
Dr. Robert Scharpf
Authorized representative and Senior Vice President HR

Since July 2016

Dr. Josef Schwendner
Authorized representative and Senior Vice President Legal
Affairs, Committees, Compliance and Environment

Since July 2016

Supervisory Board
Additional mandates
Free State of Bavaria
Dr. Markus Söder
(Chairman, until 3/16/2018)
Bavarian State Ministry of
Finance, Regional Development,
and Regional Identity

∫∫ NürnbergMesse GmbH (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 3/16/2018)
∫∫ Flughafen Nürnberg GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 3/16/2018)
∫∫ Bayerische Landesstiftung (Chairman of the Foundation Council since 3/16/2018,
previously Deputy Chairman of the Foundation Council)
∫∫ Bavarian Research Foundation (Chairman of the Foundation Council since 3/16/2018,
previously member of the Foundation Council)
∫∫ Staatstheater Nürnberg (member of the Foundation Council until 3/16/2018)
∫∫ Deutsches Museum (participation in the Board of Trustees)

Albert Füracker
(since 5/3/2018, Chairman
since 5/15/2018)
Bavarian State Ministry of
Finance and Regional Identity

∫∫ Flughafen Nürnberg GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 7/27/2018,
previously member of the Supervisory Board since 6/21/2018)
∫∫ Messe München GmbH (member of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ NürnbergMesse GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 10/1/2018,
previously Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 5/23/2018, previously
member of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Bayerische Landesstiftung (Deputy Chairman of the Foundation Council since
3/21/2018)
∫∫ Bavarian Research Foundation (member of the Foundation Council since 3/21/2018)
∫∫ Stiftung Bayerische Gedenkstätten (member of the Foundation Council)
∫∫ Deutsches Museum (member of the Board of Trustees since 3/21/2018)
∫∫ Dokumentationsstelle Obersalzberg (member of the Board of Trustees)
∫∫ ifo Institute – Leibniz Institute for Economic Research at the University of Munich e.V.
(member of the Board of Trustees since 7/1/2018)
∫∫ RCI Regensburg Center for Interventional Immunology
(member of the Board of Trustees)

Financial report
Boards of the Company

Additional mandates

Wolfgang Lazik
∫∫ Bayerische Landesbank (member of the Supervisory Board until 4/12/2018)
(until 3/20/2018)
∫∫ BayernLB Holding AG (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 4/12/2018)
Bavarian State Ministry of
Finance, Regional Development,
and Regional Identity
Harald Hübner
(since 5/3/2018)
Bavarian State Ministry of
Finance and Regional Identity

∫∫ Bayerische Landesbank (member of the Supervisory Board since 4/12/2018)
∫∫ BayernLB Holding AG (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 5/15/2018,
previously member of the Supervisory Board since 4/12/2018)
∫∫ LfA Förderbank (member of the Board of Directors until 5/9/2018)
∫∫ Bayern International – Bayerische Gesellschaft für Internationale Wirtschafts
beziehungen mbH
(Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board until 5/29/2018)
∫∫ Wittelsbacher Ausgleichsfonds (State Commissioner)

Helmut Schütz
Bavarian State Ministry of
Housing, Construction, and
Traffic

∫∫ Bayerische Eisenbahngesellschaft mbH (BEG)
(Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Rhein-Main-Donau Wasserstraßen GmbH (RMD Wasserstraßen GmbH)
(m ember of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Deutsches Museum (member of the Board of Trustees)

Dr. Bernhard Schwab
(until 4/30/2018)
Bavarian State Ministry of
Economic Affairs and Media,
Energy and Technology

∫∫ Bayern Kapital GmbH (member of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Bayern Innovativ GmbH (member of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Bayern International – Bayerische Gesellschaft für Internationale Wirtschafts
beziehungen mbH (member of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Zentrum Digitalisierung.Bayern (ZD.B) state-owned enterprise
(Chairman of the Board of Directors)
∫∫ Bayernwerk AG (member of the Advisory Board)
∫∫ Leibniz Institute for Foodstuff System Biology at the Technical University of Munich
(Leibniz-LSB@TUM) (Chairman of the Foundation Council)
∫∫ ifo Institute – Leibniz Institute for Economic Research at the University of Munich e.V.
(member of the Board of Directors)
∫∫ Bavarian Research Foundation (Deputy member on Foundation Council)

Ernst Weidenbusch
(since 5/3/2018)
Representative of the Bavarian
State Government for State
Investments, retired

∫∫ Kreissparkasse München Starnberg Ebersberg
(member of the Board of Directors)
∫∫ businessforce AG (member of the Supervisory Board)
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Supervisory Board

Supervisory Board
Additional mandates

Federal Republic of Germany

Additional mandates
City of Munich

Dr. Martina Hinricher
(until 3/31/2018)
Federal Ministry of Transport
and Digital Infrastructure

∫∫ DFS Deutsche Flugsicherung GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Flughafen Köln/Bonn GmbH (3rd Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board)

Guido Beermann
(since 8/29/2018)
Federal Ministry of Transport
and Digital Infrastructure

∫∫ Deutsche Bahn AG (Member of the Supervisory Board)

Josef Schmid
Deputy Mayor, retired

Christiane Wietgrefe-Peckmann None
Federal Ministry of Finance
City of Munich
Dieter Reiter
Lord Mayor

∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫
∫∫

Stadtsparkasse München (Chairman of the Board of Directors)
Stadtwerke München GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
SWM Services GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Münchner Verkehrsgesellschaft mbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Münchner Verkehrs- und Tarifverbund GmbH (Chairman of the Group Council and the
Annual General Meeting)
GWG Städtische Wohnungsgesellschaft mbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
GEWOFAG Holding GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
München Klinik GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Messe München GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Sparkassenverband Bayern, public corporation (representative in the association
meeting)
Sparkassen-Bezirksverband Oberbayern, public corporation (representative in the
association meeting)
Bayerischer Städtetag, public corporation
(member of the plenary assembly)
Mathias-Pschorr-Stiftung, Hackerbräu (Chairman of the Foundation Advisory Board)
Planungsverband Äußerer Wirtschaftsraum München, public corporation
(representative in the association meeting and the association committee)
Master Schools at Ostbahnhof, Zweckverband der LHM und der Handwerkskammer
für München und Oberbayern (Chairman of the A ssociation)
Regional Planning Association, public corporation
(Deputy Assembly Chairman)
Administrative Union, Freiham (representative in the association meeting)
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∫∫ MGH-Münchner Gewerbehof- und Technologiezentrumsgesellschaft mbH
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Internationale Münchner Filmwochen GmbH (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Münchner Verkehrs- und Tarifverbund GmbH (member of the Group Council)
∫∫ Ströer Deutsche Städte Medien GmbH (member of the Advisory Board)
∫∫ Deutsches Museum (member of the Board of Trustees)
∫∫ Stiftung Buch-, Medien- und Literaturhaus Munich (Chairman of the Foundation
Advisory Board)
∫∫ Stiftung Lebendige Stadt (member of the Foundation Council)
∫∫ FC Bayern München (member of the Board of Directors)
∫∫ ESV Sportfreunde München-Neuaubing (member of the Economic and Administrative
Advisory Board)
∫∫ Stars & Rising Stars (member of the Board of Trustees)
∫∫ Catholic Council (Member)
∫∫ IG Initiativ-Gruppe (member of the Board of Trustees)

Labor union
Thomas Bihler
Clerical employee

∫∫ Stiftung Ambulantes Kinderhospiz München (AKM)
(member of the Board of Trustees)

Heinrich Birner
(Deputy Chairman)
Director of the ver.di labour
union Munich region

∫∫ Stadtwerke München GmbH (member of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ SWM Services GmbH (member of the Supervisory Board)
∫∫ Stadtsparkasse München (member of the Board of Directors)

Employees
(no additional mandates)
Hans-Joachim Bues
Irena Castello
Senior Vice President Corporate Clerk, substitute workers’ councilor
Communications, representative
of the senior managers

Orhan Kurtulan
Certified aircraft handler, full-time workers’
councilor

Anna Müller
Clerical employee, full-time
workers’ councilor

Renate Siedentopf
Insurance agent, full-time workers’ councilor

Bernhard Plath
Business economist, full-time workers’
councilor
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Supervisory Board report
The Supervisory Board was informed regularly and in detail by
the Executive Board in written reports and at meetings about the
C ompany’s situation, its development, and important business
events. In its meetings and the meetings of its committees, the
Supervisory Board discussed all major company matters and made
such decisions as it was called upon to make in accordance with
its statutory responsibilities. The Supervisory Board met for three
meetings during the fiscal year. The working committee held four
meetings. The HR committee convened twice. In the fiscal year, Minister of State Dr. Markus Söder resigned his mandate as Chairman of
the Supervisory Board on March 16, 2018. Minister of State Albert
Füracker was elected as his successor on May 3, 2018 as member
of the Supervisory Board, and on May 15, 2018 as Chairman of the
Supervisory Board.

In accordance with Section 52(1) of Germany’s Limited Liability
Companies Act (GmbHG) and Section 171(2) of Germany’s Stock
C orporations Act (AktG), the Board approves the financial statements
of FMG and the consolidated financial statements. It proposes that
the shareholders endorse the financial statements of FMG and
approve the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements as of December 31, 2018, and the
Management Report of Flughafen München GmbH and of the Group
presented by the Executive Board have been audited and issued
with an unqualified opinion by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, the appointed auditor.

For the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board wishes to express its gratitude and respect for
the work carried out and the successes achieved by the company’s
Executive Board and employees in fiscal year 2018.

Munich, June 6, 2019

Having conducted its own review, the Supervisory Board acknowledges the auditor’s findings and raises no objections.
Minister of State Albert Füracker
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Flughafen München GmbH
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Independent auditor’s report
To Flughafen München GmbH, München
Opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Flughafen
München GmbH, München and its subsidiaries (the Group), which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31. December 2018,
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the financial year from 1. January to 31. December 2018, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the Group
management report of Flughafen München GmbH for the financial
year from 1. January to 31. December 2018.
In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,
∫∫ the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in
all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and
financial position of the Group as at 31. December 2018 and of
its financial performance for the financial year from 1. January to
31. December 2018, in accordance with German Legally Required
Accounting Principles, and
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∫∫ the accompanying group management report as a whole p
 rovides
an appropriate view of the Group’s position. In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal
requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and
risks of future development.
Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our
audit has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance
of the consolidated financial statements and the group management
report.

Basis for the Opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and
of the Group management report in accordance with Section 317
HGB and the German Generally Accepted Standards of Financial
Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer
[Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW).
Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are
further described in the «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group Management
Report» section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the
group entities in accordance with the requirements of German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German
professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and on the group management report.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the annual report, with the exception of the
audited consolidated financial statements and Group management
report and our auditor’s report.
Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the
Group management report do not cover the other information, and
consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in so doing, to consider whether the other
information
∫∫ is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the Group management report or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or
∫∫ otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory
Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the Group Management Report
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that comply, in all material respects, with
the requirements of German commercial law and that the consoli
dated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group
in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles.
In addition, management is responsible for such internal control
as they, in accordance with German Legally Required Accounting
Principles, have determined necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management
is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are
responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis
of accounting, provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict
therewith.
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Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the
Group management report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate
view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent
with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German
legal requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities
and risks of future development. In addition, management is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they
have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a group
management report that is in accordance with the applicable German
legal r equirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate
evidence for the assertions in the Group management report.
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and of the Group management report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
C onsolidated Financial Statements and of the
Group Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group
management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the
Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the
audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as
well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions on the
consolidated financial statements and on the Group management
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Section
317 HGB and in compliance with the German Generally Accepted
Standards of Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and
this Group management report.
We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
∫∫ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group management report,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal controls.
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∫∫ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
of the consolidated financial statements and of arrangements and
measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the Group management
report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of these systems.
∫∫ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by
management and the reasonableness of estimates made by

management and related disclosures.
∫∫ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
and in the Group management report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.
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∫∫ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements present the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group
in compliance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Munich, 26. April 2019
∫∫ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on
the group management report. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our opinions.

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
[Original German version signed by:]
Rupprecht
(German Public Auditor)

Junghänel
(German Public Auditor)

∫∫ Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the
consolidated financial statements, its conformity with [German] law,
and the view of the Group’s position it provides.
∫∫ Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented
by management in the Group management report. On the basis of
sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular,
the significant assumptions used by management as a basis for
the prospective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of
the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not
express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on
the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable
risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective
information.
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